
District Executive

Thursday 2nd July 2020

9.30 am

Virtual Meeting 
using Zoom meeting software

The following members are requested to attend the meeting:

Jason Baker
Mike Best
John Clark
Adam Dance
Sarah Dyke

Peter Gubbins
Henry Hobhouse
Val Keitch
Tony Lock
Peter Seib

Any members of the public wishing to address the meeting at Public Question Time 
need to email democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk by 9.00am on Wednesday 01 July 
2020. 

The meeting will be viewable online at: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSDst3IHGj9WoGnwJGF_soA 

For further information on the items to be discussed, please contact 
democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk   

This Agenda was issued on Wednesday 24 June 2020.

Alex Parmley, Chief Executive Officer

This information is also available on our website
www.southsomerset.gov.uk  and via the mod.gov app

Public Document Pack

mailto:democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSDst3IHGj9WoGnwJGF_soA
mailto:democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk


Information for the Public 

The District Executive co-ordinates the policy objectives of the Council and gives the Area 
Committees strategic direction.  It carries out all of the local authority’s functions which are not 
the responsibility of any other part of the Council.  It delegates some of its responsibilities to 
Area Committees, officers and individual portfolio holders within limits set by the Council’s 
Constitution.  When major decisions are to be discussed or made, these are published in the 
Executive Forward Plan in so far as they can be anticipated.

Members of the Public are able to:-

 attend meetings of the Council and its committees such as Area Committees, District 
Executive, except where, for example, personal or confidential matters are being discussed;

 speak at Area Committees, District Executive and Council meetings;

 see reports and background papers, and any record of decisions made by the Council and 
Executive;

 find out, from the Executive Forward Plan, what major decisions are to be decided by the 
District Executive.

The Council’s Constitution is also on the web site and available for inspection in Council offices. 
The Council’s corporate priorities which guide the work and decisions of the Executive are set 
out below.

District Executive

Meetings of the District Executive are usually held monthly, at 9.30am, on the first Thursday of 
the month (unless advised otherwise). However during the coronavirus pandemic these 
meetings will be held remotely via Zoom video-conferencing. For more details on the regulations 
regarding remote/virtual meetings please see the Local Authorities and Police and Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2020 as part of the Coronavirus Act 2020.

The Executive Forward Plan and copies of executive reports and decisions are published on the 
Council’s web site: www.southsomerset.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/meetings-and-
decisions

Agendas and minutes can also be viewed via the mod.gov app (free) available for iPads and 
Android devices. Search for ‘mod.gov’ in the app store for your device, install, and select ‘South 
Somerset’ from the list of publishers, then select the committees of interest. A wi-fi signal will be 
required for a very short time to download an agenda but once downloaded, documents will be 
viewable offline.

http://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/meetings-and-decisions
http://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/meetings-and-decisions


Public participation at meetings (held via Zoom)

Public question time

We recognise that these are challenging times but we still value the public’s contribution to our 
virtual meetings. If you would like to participate and contribute in the meeting, please email 
democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk for the details to join the meeting. 

If you would like to view the meeting without participating, please see: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSDst3IHGj9WoGnwJGF_soA 

The period allowed for participation in Public Question Time shall not exceed 15 minutes except 
with the consent of the Chairman and members of the Committee. Each individual speaker shall 
be restricted to a total of three minutes.

If you would like to address the meeting at Public Question Time, please email 
democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk by 9.00am on Wednesday 01 July 2020. When you have 
registered, the Chairman will invite you to speak at the appropriate time during the virtual 
meeting.  

If you would like to address the meeting at Public Question Time but cannot access the 
appropriate equipment to participate on-line, then please submit your three-minute speech or 
question in writing to the Democratic Services Specialist, South Somerset District Council, 
Brympton Way, Yeovil BA20 2HT by no later than midday the day before the meeting. In such 
circumstances, the Chairman or Democratic Services Specialist will read out the speech or 
question and a written reply will be provided if appropriate.

Virtual meeting etiquette: 

 Consider joining the meeting early to ensure your technology is working correctly.
 Please note that we will mute all public attendees to minimise background noise.  If you 

have registered to speak during the virtual meeting, the Chairman will un-mute your 
microphone at the appropriate time.  

 Each individual speaker shall be restricted to a total of three minutes.
 When speaking, keep your points clear and concise.
 Please speak clearly – the Councillors are interested in your comments.

Ordnance Survey mapping/map data included within this publication is provided by South Somerset District Council under licence from 
the Ordnance Survey in order to fulfil its public function to undertake its statutory functions on behalf of the district.  Persons viewing this 
mapping should contact Ordnance Survey copyright for advice where they wish to licence Ordnance Survey mapping/map data for their 
own use. South Somerset District Council - LA100019471 - 2020.

mailto:democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSDst3IHGj9WoGnwJGF_soA
mailto:democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk


District Executive

Thursday 2 July 2020

Agenda
1.  Minutes of Previous Meeting 

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the District Executive meeting held on 4th June 
2020.

2.  Apologies for Absence 

3.  Declarations of Interest 

In accordance with the Council's current Code of Conduct (as amended 26 February 2015), 
which includes all the provisions relating to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI), personal and 
prejudicial interests, Members are asked to declare any DPI and also any personal interests 
(and whether or not such personal interests are also "prejudicial") in relation to any matter on the 
Agenda for this meeting. 

Members are reminded that they need to declare the fact that they are also a member of a 
County, Town or Parish Council as a Personal Interest. Where you are also a member of 
Somerset County Council and/or a Town or Parish Council within South Somerset you must 
declare a prejudicial interest in any business on the agenda where there is a financial benefit or 
gain or advantage to Somerset County Council and/or a Town or Parish Council which would be 
at the cost or to the financial disadvantage of South Somerset District Council.  

4.  Public Question Time 

5.  Chairman's Announcements 

Items for Discussion

6.  SSDC Covid-19 Recovery Strategy (Pages 5 - 33)

7.  SSDC Priority Project - Accelerating Housing Delivery Report (Pages 34 - 132)

8.  Electric Vehicle (EV) Charger Network project (Pages 133 - 161)

9.  Addendum to the Statement of Community Involvement in respect of Consulting on 
Neighbourhood Plans (Pages 162 - 166)

10.  District Executive Forward Plan (Pages 167 - 173)

11.  Date of Next Meeting (Page 174)



SSDC Covid-19 Recovery Strategy

Executive Portfolio Holder: Cllr Val Keitch, Strategy and Housing
Director: Clare Pestell, Commercial Services and Income Generation
Lead Officer: James Divall, Income Opportunities Development Manager 
Contact Details: James.divall@southsomerset.gov.uk 

Purpose of the Report

1. This report sets out the strategy, rational and approach that South Somerset District Council (SSDC) 
will take in the recovery phase of the COVID-19 pandemic. Following expert advice and best 
practice, it outlines the proposed structure for the Council operating model during this phase and the 
key focus areas to base the recovery upon. 

2. This report and strategic document seeks the approval of this council to approve the Recovery 
Strategy and to proceed with implementation. 

3. Attached to this report is the proposed Recovery Strategy and the overview document of the key 
work streams involved in the recovery plan. 

Forward Plan 

4. This report appeared on the District Executive Forward Plan with an anticipated Committee date of 
July 2020.

Public Interest

5. This report is of interest to the public as it seeks to approve the Council Recovery Strategy, which 
impacts on how our council services will recover and continue to work going forwards; and the wider 
recovery of our economy and communities. 

6. This District Executive report is the council’s strategic document outlining the rational and approach 
in recovering from the COVID-19 pandemic across South Somerset. It also explains the objectives 
we seek to achieve, work streams, focus areas and resources required. 

Recommendations

7. That the District Executive approves:-
 
a. the SSDC Emergency Recovery Strategy (Summary) at Appendix 1 and 
b. the SSDC Recovery Strategy at Appendix 2 with supporting documentation in the manner 

outlined in this report, and 
c. delegates authority to the Director for Commercial Services and Income Generation, to proceed 

with the implementation, as proposed within the attached strategy document.

Background

8. The Covid-19 pandemic has been a disruptor to normal life with some services stopping, demand 
for health and care services increasing, and additional response services stood up. Our general 
community life and wellbeing severely tested and normal freedoms have been adversely impacted; 
and the outlook for the UK economy become increasingly uncertain.

Page 5

Agenda Item 6

mailto:James.divall@southsomerset.gov.uk


9. Unlike a more conventional recovery from a major incident, e.g. flooding, the time period and 
potential fluctuations that will occur over the coming months will be a new recovery challenge that 
we will need to deal with. For example;

 Fluctuating movement and activity restrictions depending on future peaks and outbreaks that 
may be uneven across the region and unpredictable.

 Services may be ‘switched on and off’ within the recovery period
 The recovery period may be at least 12-18 months, or until widespread immunity achieved via 

a vaccine
 Different population segments will have different need for restrictions i.e. Shielded population 

may have greater restrictions for longer.

10. Against this backdrop, the recovery strategy to COVID 19 is complicated and multi-dimensional and 
requires an agile and adaptive mode of working to match it. Our Recovery can be defined as the 
process of rebuilding, restoring and rehabilitating following this emergency and our plan to get back 
to ‘normal’ community functioning. However, it is also an opportunity to rebuild a better, new 
horizon for communities making the most of the opportunities presented by the disruption and 
subsequent ways of working to create a ‘new normal’ that sets a path towards longer term strategic 
goals. 

11. This ‘new normal’ will require dedicated, collective and focussed leadership, alongside our 
communities, our businesses and our public services for some time and it is likely that we are, to 
an extent, already moving to a new way of working for our places.

Report Detail (South Somerset Recovery Strategy)

12. The recovery planning process will be influenced by the central government strategy that is 
emerging, but the South Somerset District Council recovery action plan is to be designed and 
specifically tailored to help the people of South Somerset bounce back quickly, once lockdown 
restrictions start to be lifted. 

13. There will also be alignment to regional political structures including Avon & Somerset Local 
Resilience Forum (ASLRF) and the Heart of the South West LEP. This will work alongside both the 
District and County Councils (including Somerset County Council Multi Agency Recovery Co-
ordination Group) to bring the recovery and new horizons to our economy and communities. This 
will provide political leadership both at a regional and local level connecting the various places and 
communities right across South Somerset. 

14. The Recovery Plan will cover the 5 key themes that is aligned with the District Council Corporate 
Plan, this are;

 Economy
 Healthy, self-reliant communities 
 Environment
 Places where we live 
 Protecting core services 

15. As part of the work for recovery planning, South Somerset District Council will consider data on the 
potential economic, environmental and social impacts of the pandemic; and what this impact will 
mean when taking action on issues such as investment, business support, community enabling and 
support, environmental planning, housing and regeneration to name just a few. 

16. At the end of this process, a report containing recommendations on the actions that will guide the 
recovery and lessons learned from this pandemic for the District will be published. 

Page 6



Financial Implications

17. As part of the Council wide recovery plan a review of the financial health of the council is being 
undertaken which will result in a revised Medium Term Financial Plan and Financial Strategy.  The 
overall financial assessment of the Council will include a review of reserves and the financial risk 
register.

18. This is anticipated to come forward for approval by District Executive in August 2020.

Risk Matrix 

The risk matrix shows risk relating to the Corporate Plan headings. 

Risk Profile before officer recommendations Risk Profile after officer recommendations

CP F, 
CpP

CY

R

Likelihood

F CY

R CP, 
CpP

Likelihood

Key
Categories Colours (for further detail please refer to Risk management 

strategy)
R = Reputation
CpP = Corporate Plan Priorities
CP = Community Priorities
CY = Capacity
F = Financial

Red = High impact and high probability
Orange = Major impact and major probability
Yellow = Moderate impact and moderate probability
Green = Minor impact and minor probability
Blue = Insignificant impact and insignificant 

probability

a) The reputational risk could and should be seen as a positive as the Council will be demonstrating its 
desire to respond effectively to the COVID-19 pandemic to support and aid local council taxpayers, 
as well as the wider community and economy. 

b) The Recovery Strategy will contain an impact assessment with details of the risks that have been 
identified and what mitigation action has been, or will be, taken to minimise and address such 
impacts on our community. 

c) An appropriate exit strategy will be developed from the recovery phase, at the appropriate time, 
within the detailed recovery action plan showing how the response activities could cease and the 
impact that would have upon the future support function to aid our community and economy. 

Overall it is considered that the risk associated with implementing the Recovery Strategy is low. That 
the initial proposed recovery activities and resulting impact on the Council will be beneficial; and at this 
stage essential for supporting our community and economy.

Council Plan Implications 

Im
pact

Im
pact

Page 7



Outcomes linked to SSDC Corporate Priorities:

The Recovery Strategy has been designed based on the corporate plan themes and objectives. It will 
follow the operating framework of establishing actions plans for the 5 corporate themes by working within 
the focussed Communities of Practice (CoPs) cells populated with relevant service employees that have 
appropriate skills and knowledge from across the Council and represented politically by the Portfolio 
holder for the individual CoPs.  Existing Corporate Plan priority action plans will be reviewed, renewed, 
and re-prioritised. Essentially, this means that some priorities will inevitably be delayed as a result of 
Covid 19 impacts, other priorities will become more important than ever and now the first to be delivered. 
However, there may well also be some new opportunities as a result of Covid -19, that become a priority 
action to help drive Recovery forward in South Somerset. 

The strategy aims to meet the outcomes of all the Council’s corporate priorities. 

Carbon Emissions and Climate Change Implications 

Right now, the coronavirus pandemic is the global priority. We all need to work together to save lives 
and keep our communities together. But the climate and nature emergencies will still be there when the 
spread of Covid-19 is brought under control. With the right recovery, this could be an opportunity to build 
upon and improve matters highlighted in the Climate Emergency recognised by South Somerset District 
Council in May 2019 addressing the climate crisis, at the same time as we recover from the pandemic. 

The South Somerset District Council Recovery Strategy will explore how the epidemic has 
unintentionally proven that we can dramatically decrease pollution levels in a short period of time and 
see significant improvements in spaces for nature. The report and strategy will use intelligence and data 
collected from COVID-19 (including SSDC’s own annual carbon calculator) and build in new actions to 
address the wider environment implications across South Somerset. It will seek to retain and build on 
the positive environmental implications and also retain the momentum and desire for positive change in 
our communities. 

These actions will be held within the Environment Community of Practice (CoP) and officers will ensure 
work is aligned with the Environment Strategy and progress is made against the Environment delivery 
plan and recovery plan. 

Equality and Diversity Implications

An Equality Impact Relevance Check Form has been completed in respect of this project which has 
shown that there will not be any negative impacts for people from the Protected Characteristics. A full 
Equality Impact Assessment is therefore not required. A copy of the Equality Impact Relevance Check 
Form is attached as Appendix 3 to this report.

Privacy Impact Assessment

At this time there are no material implications on personal privacy.

Background Papers

 SSDC Corporate Plan
 Appendices to this report

Appendix 1: SSDC Covid-19 recovery plan summary document
Appendix 2: SSDC Covid-19 recovery and new horizons strategy document 
Appendix 3: Equalities impact relevance check form 

Page 8



SOUTH SOMERSET DISTRICT COUNCIL 

EMERGENCY RECOVERY 
PLAN (SUMMARY)
Coronavirus pandemic (COVID 19)

SUMMARY DOCUMENT 
VERSION 10.0: 10 JUNE 2020

Appendix 1

P
age 9



KEY AREAS OF RECOVERY PROGRAMME FOCUS: 

WORK STREAMS (SUB CELLS) SUPPORT SUB 
CELLS

SUB CELLS BELOW 
WILL OPERATE 
INDIVIDUALLY 

WITH THEIR OWN 
ACTION PLAN BUT 

WILL SUPPORT 
CORE WORK 

STREAMS
Community Recovery Business & Recovery Enviro & Infrustructure Health & Well-being SRG Sub cells:

Work with partners to reduce 
the impact of social isolation 
and create a feeling of 
community

Rural Productivity Environment Strategy Affordable Housing GO ONLINE: FINANCE & LEGAL

Work with partners to support 
people in improving their own 
physical and mental health and 
wellbeing

Encourage start-ups, 
support existing businesses 
and attract inward 
investment 

Open spaces strategy Private / Open market 
housing

Staff welfare & 
development

STRATEGY & COM
(PERFORMANCE / 
PROCUREMENT)

Help tackle the causes of 
economic exclusion, poverty 
and low social mobility

Land, Sites and Premises EV programme  (District 
and County wide 
initiatives)

Investment in 
infrastructure

Measure of speed of 
deicsions 

PEOPLE 
MANAGEMENT 

FORUM

Support older people to live and 
age well by increasing 
independence, reducing 
loneliness, and improving 
financial security

Town Centre Regeneration 
Programmes

Green Energy Homelessness and  rough 
sleeping

Commercial & income 
generation 

DIGITIAL SUB CELL

Work with partners to keep, and 
help our residents feel safe in 
their homes and communities

Inclusive and sustainable 
growth / community 
wealth building 

Communities for all Service recovery COMMS 
(MEDIA & PR)

P
age 10



RECOVERY GROUP STRUCTURE CHART: (suggested SUB CELLS and lines of escalation) 

Recovery co-ordination group will provide nominated representatives on Somerset Multi-Agency Recovery Co-ordination Group and on ASLRF COVID 
meetings.

SLT 
(GOLD)

Recovery co-ordination 
group (INTERNAL)

Healthy, self-reliant 
communities

Places where 
we live

Environment Economy Protecting core 
services

Support Services & 
Sub cells

Recovery advisory 
group (Leadership)

P
age 11



Appendix 2

SOUTH SOMERSET DISTRICT COUNCIL 

RECOVERY STRATEGY
OUR PLAN TO RECOVER, LEARN AND BUILD A BETTER 
SOUTH SOMERSET FROM THE CORONAVIRUS PANDEMIC

FINAL REPORT 
VERSION 8.0: 10 JUNE 2020

Page 12



Contents 
1 Strategic context 

1.1 Purpose 
1.2 South Somerset response to Covid-19
1.3 Introduction: Recovery
1.3.1 New Horizons: the three horizons
1.4 Scope
1.5 Overview of South Somerset District Council Responsibilities 

2 Recovery Purpose and Principles 
 
2.1 Key areas of Recovery and New Horizons
2.2 Principles  

3 Strategy 

3.1 Strategic Aim
3.2 Objectives
3.3 Our blue print for recovery
3.4 Monitoring progression

4 South Somerset District Council Resources required during the Recovery Phase
 
5 When Should the Recovery Phase start?

6 Activation of the Recovery Co-ordinating Group
 
7 Handover from Emergency Response to Recovery Phase

8 Location and Operation of the Recovery Co-ordinating Group 

9 Recovery Structures and Roles

9.1 Recovery Advisory Group
9.2 Recovery Co-ordinating Group
9.3 Community of Practice Sub Groups
9.4 Strategic Support Groups

10 Stand down of the Recovery Co-ordinating Group 

11 Evaluation and Debrief of Recovery Phase

12 Appendices 

1. Strategic context Page 13



1.1 Purpose
To articulate the South Somerset District Council blue print approach towards recovery and establishing 
new horizons (see 1.2.1 for definition) in the context of Covid-19 and the future we want to build post 
pandemic. The document will provide the priority themes that will frame the Councils recovery. 

This recovery will utilise partnership working and community engagement to steer the Council through the 
challenges and opportunities ahead. 

1.2. South Somerset District Council’s response to Covid-19

Although the death rate in South Somerset has been relatively low, the impact on the local economy and 
people’s way of life has been significant. From an organisational perspective, South Somerset District 
Council has improved IT capabilities to ensure more staff can work from home. This is likely to continue 
over the medium term. The way many council services are delivered has also changed, with the majority of 
customer contact now provided over the phone and via the council website. 

During this pandemic South Somerset have redeployed staff and resources to support our communities in 
the hour of need by:

 Establishing a community distribution and support hub for the most vulnerable in our District. 
 Delivered over 800 emergency parcels (June 2020) to shielded and vulnerable residents 
 Accommodation continues to be available to all rough sleepers in South Somerset, with food and 

medicine delivered directly to accommodation alongside access to mental and physical assessments 
and support.

 By June, the Council had paid out £33m in grants to over 2800 businesses and is continuing to reach 
out to eligible businesses. A discretionary business grant scheme of just under £2m has also been set 
up and fully distributed. 

 The District Country parks have been kept open for residents to take exercise during lockdown, whilst 
adhering to social distancing requirements. 

1.3. Introduction: Recovery

The Covid-19 pandemic has been a disruptor to normal life with services stopping, demand for health and 
care services severely tested and the outlook for the UK economy uncertain. Unlike a more conventional 
recovery from a major incident, e.g. flooding, the time period and potential fluctuations that will occur over 
the coming months will be a new recovery challenge that we will need to deal with for example;

 Fluctuating restrictions depending on future peaks and outbreaks that may be uneven across the region 
and unpredictable.

 Services may be ‘switched on and off’ within the recovery period
 The recovery period may be at least 12-18 months or until widespread immunity via a vaccine
 Different population segments will have different need for restrictions i.e. Shielded population may have 

greater restrictions for longer.

Against this backdrop, the recovery strategy to COVID 19 is complicated and multidimensional and requires 
an agile and adaptive mode of working to match it. Our Recovery can be defined as the process of 
rebuilding, restoring and rehabilitating following this emergency and our plan to get back to ‘normal’ 
community functioning. However, it is also an opportunity to rebuild a better, new horizon for communities 
making the most of the opportunities’ presented by the disruption and subsequent ways of working to 
create a ‘new normal’ that sets a path towards longer term strategic goals. 

This ‘new normal’ will require dedicated, collective and focussed leadership alongside our communities, our 
businesses and our public services for some time and it is likely that we are, to an extent, already moving to 
a new way of working for our places.

Page 14



The entire process will be influenced by a central government recovery strategy that is emerging (i.e. the 
five tests to ease lockdown measures) but at this time not fully articulated. In the absence of the full picture, 
we are using a public health approach as a foundation for our thinking (Appendix A). This approach sets 
out some scenarios and trade-offs both from an economic and health perspective that are in play for the 
duration of the recovery period, for example;

 Keeping lockdown until Vaccine – or for a proportion of the population i.e. shielded
 Regular/Weekly Testing arrangements
 Introducing Immunity permits
 Ramping up Contact Tracing operations
 Adaptive Triggering – switching on and off lock down measures 
 Gradual easements of lockdown measures

Although recovery is a multi-agency process the Local Authority (South Somerset) has responsibility for the 
area where the incident takes place, if the incident affects more than one tier (2 LA areas) Somerset 
County Council will co-ordinate. Many aspects of recovery have to be considered from the physical 
rebuilding of the community to the welfare needs of the residents and the financial implications for the 
affected businesses and council itself. Additionally, opportunities for regeneration and community led action 
will also present themselves, which will require political support in addition to core objectives of the 
recovery process. 

There will also be alignment to regional political structures including Avon & Somerset Local Resilience 
Forum (ASLRF) and the Heart of the South West LEP. This will work alongside both the District and County 
Councils (including Somerset County Council Multi Agency Recovery Co-ordination Group) to bring the 
recovery and new horizons to our economy and communities. This will provide political leadership both at a 
regional and local level connecting the various places and communities right across South Somerset. 
We will set about initiating impact assessments to inform and establish progress for our work and these 
assessments will cover the following themes;

 Economy
 Healthy, self-reliant communities 
 Environment
 Places where we live 
 Protecting core services 

1.3.1 New Horizons: The Three Horizons

Understanding of timescales and a consistent approach to the route from crisis response to recovery and 
transformation, establishing new horizons and achieving the long-term objectives is a foundation from 
which we can build our strategic plans. Using the three horizons approach1 that set out different timescales 
and outlooks that are not linear but run concurrently with different prevalence over time (video explanation 
in link2). It also sets out questions below (& in APPENDIX B) which challenge what we want to recover 
back to and which parts of the disruption of COVID 19 do we learn from to build the future we aspire to. 

 Horizon 1 (H1): Immediate recovery steps (April – June 2020)
Horizon1 is the existing business as usual or the dominant way of doing things today.
Q: What do we need to go back to? (RETURN)

 Horizon 2 (H2): Post Peak Recovery Foundations (July 2020 – December 2020)
Horizon 2 is the part of greatest innovation and disruption where new innovative thinking and new ways 
of doing, or being, emerge. A good example is the digital transformation of the past decade i.e. the use 
of zoom/ skype meetings for South Somerset District Council employees and Council Committees.
Q: What new practices will we keep and retain from this new way of working currently? (Review)

 Horizon 3 (H3): Realising the Recovery Objectives (2021 onwards)

1 Sharpe, B., A. Hodgson, G. Leicester, A. Lyon, and I. Fazey. 2016. Three horizons: a pathways practice for 
transformation. Ecology and Society 21(2):47.
2 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_5KfRQJqpPU Page 15

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_5KfRQJqpPU


is the future we want, pockets of the future are already in existence and we want to see these grow and 
become the new future. What have we learned from business as usual and the new ways of working that 
we are currently using during COVID-19? Is there a better, or another, way that is smarter or more 
beneficial to the organisation and our communities?

Q: What new things would we like to see going forward? (Radical Change)

Figure 1: Three Horizons Approach Chart

This approach will be used in conjunction with our best estimate of key pandemic milestones shown in 
Figure 2. These milestones are uncertain but broadly cover the first two peaks, a controlling phase that will 
include easing of restrictions, an exit phase that will include enhanced treatments and wider community 
immunity and finally a full recovery phase that will include a full roll out of a Covid19 vaccine. 

Figure 2: 

Pandemic Milestone Assumptions Summary

1.3 Scope 
Recovery is a complex and potentially long running process that may involve many more agencies and 
participants than the emergency response phase. It may be costlier in terms of resources, and it will 
undoubtedly be subject to close scrutiny from the community, the media and elected representatives alike. 
It is therefore essential for the process to be based on well thought out and tested structures and 
procedures if it is to work in an efficient manner. 

1.4 Overview of South Somerset District Council responsibilities 
South Somerset District Council will appoint an appropriate senior manager to act as the lead recovery 
advisory group in the Strategic Recovery Co-ordination Group. Additionally, South Somerset District Page 16



Council may provide a range of technical experts, political support and other recovery resources, including 
financial, to the recovery working agenda. Reflecting multi-agency relationships. 

2. Recovery Purpose and Principles 
2.1 Key Areas of Recovery and establishing new horizons
The process of recovery and new horizons can be divided into five key areas (based on our corporate 
priority areas), all of which must be addressed in order to achieve a successful outcome: - 

We will work with our communities to identify, design and develop local solutions and establish a ‘grass 
roots’ approach to community recovery (e.g. work with our Town & Parish Councils, community groups, 
Spark, CCS, our increased volunteer responders and other community organisations etc). We will learn 
from the lessons of COVID 19 and how our communities have adapted, grown and come together to 
provide sustainable, supportive projects that we can build on. 

We will review and develop our internal core services, learning from new ways of working introduced 
during COVID 19. The new environment in South Somerset (Post COVID 19) and the potential for more 
efficient and supportive ways that we can provide services to our communities and local businesses. 

2.2. Principles
This will follow our principles of good governance3 highlighted below. This describes the outcomes that 
South Somerset District Council and the Code is attempting to deliver, and reflect our approach set out in 
the recovery plan. 

1. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and respecting the rule of 
law

2. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement
3. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable, economic, social and environmental benefits
4. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes
5. Developing the Council’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it
6. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial 

management (i.e. Performance to be integrated into the SSDC performance management framework)
7. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit, to deliver accountability

The principles will follow the corporate plan and priority project delivery plan. This will be reviewed and re-
prioritised in the light of COVID 19. In this way, the recovery will be part of what we do and “business as 
usual” rather than being a set of ambitions and tasks that are on top of our corporate ambitions and plans.

Our current District Council Corporate Plan and Vision as well as important strategies and plans such as 
our financial strategy, commercial and income generation strategy, regeneration plans, housing strategy 
and environmental strategy are now more important than ever before and will need to be reviewed to 
ensure that they are aligned and integrated with our recovery plans. 

To integrate these plans and to make sure that South Somerset District Council is achieving the best 
possible recovery outcome for our residents, communities and businesses we will build on our core 
principles and establish further principles for this recovery phase. 

3 South Somerset District Council: Local Code of Corporate GovernancePage 17

http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s29072/New%20SSDC%20Code%20of%20Corporate%20Governance%20October%202019%20for%20Audit%20Ctte.pdf


Aspirations- the way we want to work 

As we complete our impact assessments, define our objectives and those indicators that will set out what 
we want to achieve, there is a need to set out how we will work collectively, both internally and externally to 
achieve them. Our design principles are shown below; 

a) We will learn from our staff experiences and use this information to inform our Recovery 
Strategy

b) We will listen and wherever possible co-design the recovery work with elected members, local 
communities and businesses.

c) We will continue to share data to develop our best understanding of the situation in a timely and 
appropriate way and ensure that our strategy, actions and interventions are based on and 
informed by the available data.

d) We will have a clear exit strategy that is sustainable and leaves a legacy of enhanced 
partnership working across the county and within local communities.

e) We will monitor the situation to understand how well South Somerset is recovering.
f) We will make sure that the work is embedded appropriately across partners, the Avon & 

Somerset Local Residence Forum (LRF) and the three other District Local Authorities and 
County Council across our area acting as means to strengthen our relationships across 
Somerset in the future.

g) We don’t have all the answers but will support each other, learn from each other, share 
knowledge and challenge each other during the recovery period.

h) We will provide a sense of hope that describes the society we want in the future and essentially, 
what we want to recover to and ‘build back better’. 

i) We will use the recovery period to redefine our strategic thinking and assess the changes 
needed in our long-term strategic plans.

We will put in place an arrangement that will build on learning through experience (building on point a) 
above) across South Somerset with observations and mechanisms to capture learning as we progress 
through this process. This arrangement will capture learning at an LRF level and also at community level 
and shared appropriately.

3. Strategy 
As part of the recovery process it is vital that a clear, agreed recovery strategy is developed, with issues 
being prioritised as necessary. The recovery strategy will cover some, or all, of the following key objectives: 

1. An impact assessment covering residents, businesses, infrastructure, environment, economy and 
tourism which must be carried out as soon as possible and be regularly updated including, for example, 
the results of environmental monitoring, improved or degraded transport links. This is not to be 
confused with the Equalities Impact Assessment carried out for this plan, which ensures all individual 
and community needs are considered. 

2. Determining what is an acceptable risk assessment to the public, which will inform and influence 
decisions on access restrictions, return to work etc. 

3. Development of a concise, balanced, affordable recovery action plan that can be quickly 
implemented, involves all agencies and fits the needs of the emergency. 

4. The community engagement, as far as is reasonably possible, will be at the heart of our recovery 
process. 

5. All agencies work closely with the community and those directly affected, including on monitoring and 
protection of public health.

6.  A pro-active and integrated framework of support to private and third sector businesses is 
established. 

7. All affected areas (SSDC Buildings) are reviewed and assessed in terms of need future service demand 
and need. If restored, adapted (or even closed) it is to an agreed standard so that they are ‘suitable for 
use’ for their defined future purposes. 

8. Information and media management of the recovery process is co-ordinated. Page 18



9. Effective protocols for political involvement and liaison (Parish / District / County / LRF, LEP and 
Parliamentary / National Government) are established 

10. An environmental recovery action plan is produced (Linked to Environment Strategy and CoP). 
11. Early identification of opportunities for longer term regeneration and economic development. 

The recovery strategy must be reviewed, and priorities re-assessed regularly to ensure that it continues to 
meet the developing, changing, additional or new requirements and priorities which may be brought about, 
for example, by an increasing appreciation of impact over time.

3.1. Strategic Aims
To coordinate a strong partnership recovery that is sensitive to the needs of those affected by the COVID-
19 Pandemic and enables the rebuilding and restoring of the health, social, economic and political well-
being of the communities of South Somerset in the short, medium and long term.

3.2 Objectives
The key overarching objectives to this recovery and new horizon period include:

1. Help South Somerset Communities and businesses to recover and adapt to lockdown easements as 
effectively as possible 

2. Establish a proactive and integrated support framework of support to businesses. 
3. Understanding (and minimising) the varying impacts among different demographic groups within society 

as we recover 
4. Assess and communicate the benefits of local environments and its importance to our well being 
5. Ensure community voice is shaping and informing the recovery process 
6. Help SSDC recover - Reinstate and re-build SSDC services most impacted by COVID-19, ensure a 

strong financial position, mitigating the financial impacts of the crisis. Reflecting on future prioritisation 
and potential new horizons for the council, its services and its priority projects  

7. Develop and deliver a concise, balanced and achievable recovery action plan that ensures the right 
balance between short, medium and long term objectives. 

8. Ensure effective partnership coordination of information and activities with response and recovery work 
streams

9. Ensure effective protocols for member involvement and liaison. 
10. Commemorate those who have lost their lives to COVID-19
11. Celebrate the contributions made to support our communities through COVID-19 and give the public 

opportunities to express their appreciation whilst allowing a time of healing which many families may 
need. 

12. Provide timely and informative media updates on the recovery and new horizon process. 
13. Identify and implement learning from COVID-19, including capturing reflective best practice for dealing 

with future pandemics and ensuring effective recovery activities.

A draft set of Outcomes and Objectives mapped against these objectives is shown in Appendix D.

3.3 Our blue-print for recovery

The following themes and action provide a blue print for recovery of the Council and the District. These 
themes will be imbedded in our recovery delivery plan for this strategy and developed through the SSDC 
Community of Practice (CoP) work stream groups and who will identify and develop these actions further 
making them a reality. Within these work streams, the council we will:

a. Secure the council’s finances: lobby government to fully compensate the council for the 
financial impact of Covid-19; review budgets to identify scope for in-year saving; reduce non-
essential spending; begin the process to set the council’s budget for 2021/22; refresh the 
council’s medium-term financial plan strategy. 

b. Modernise the council, reimagining local services: continue to allow staff to work from home 
where possible; reimagine how services are delivered and recast service Commercialisation 
plans; review our office usage and need; develop an IT and digital strategy determine how 
technology can improve services and drive efficiencies. 

Page 19



c. Supporting the most vulnerable: develop a sustainable approach to tackling homelessness; 
work with voluntary community services and partners to develop long-term pathways out of 
poverty for the most deprived; continue to support victims of domestic abuse; work with food 
banks and local resident groups to continue to add our most vulnerable with essential food 
boxes. 

d. Business and local economy: implement signage and physical measures in the town centres 
to support social distancing; use licencing powers to support businesses to reopen safely; 
identify options to further promote sustainable travel, with a focus on walking and cycling; 
continue to deliver grants and wider support to businesses; develop and deliver our ambitious 
town regeneration programmes; 

e. Housing, regeneration and development: Develop a pipeline of brownfield sites for 
redevelopment, with a focus on providing new homes; work to ensure that future housing and 
regeneration schemes are subject to the highest possible environmental standards. 

f. Arts, culture and heritage: Work with the arts, heritage and culture sector to enable the 
District’s institutions and events to reopen in a safe way; engage closely with the sector to 
understand the issues it faces and to seek solutions together; work with funding bodies to 
develop visionary project for capital investment into key sites across our arts, entertainment and 
heritage sites; 

g. Climate change and the green economy: publish the council’s Environment Strategy, Open 
Spaces Strategy and their action plans; build on the council’s strong track record of success to 
identify further opportunities to reduce carbon emissions across council operations; consider 
options to further promote sustainable travel; 

h. Harnessing social capital: adopt a ‘place based’ community development approach which 
empowers residents and allows for community-led decision making in our communities; use 
procurement powers and community grants to address gaps in need across the voluntary and 
community sector; develop communication strategies which create two way conversations with 
communities to inform decision-making; build and support communities to continue to use the 
large volunteer capacity as a result of covid-19 response 

3.4 Measuring progress
 
The use of appropriate data will be critical in identifying the key issues resulting from covid-19, developing 
the right policy response and measuring the success of recovery. In order to monitor progression, the 
council is developing a dashboard of measures to identify the impact of covid-19 on the 5 corporate themes 
– environment; healthy self-reliant communities; economy; places where we live; and protecting core 
services. These will be tracked monthly to enable timely action. 

4. South Somerset District Council resources required 
during the Recovery Phase 
South Somerset District Council operates emergency management structures following the national model 
for command and control of emergencies, as set out within the government’s Emergency Preparedness 
Guidance (in compliance with the Civil Contingencies Act 2004). 

For incidents where South Somerset District Council will lead on the recovery phase the relevant Duty 
Director, in consultation with the Duty Emergency Officer will be involved at the outset of the emergency. A 
smooth transition from Response to Recovery phase is facilitated by early establishment of recovery 
management infrastructure. 

The Recovery Advisory Group chair will be supported by South Somerset District Council personnel drawn 
from a resource of trained Tactical Managers, Emergency Response Team personnel and other topic 
specialists as appropriate. Sufficient personnel will be required to maintain effective management of the 

Page 20



recovery phase into the medium to long term. This may potentially require out of hours working and the 
implementation of a sustainable and robust shift system. 

The recovery and new horizons phase of an emergency maybe complex and prolonged it is therefore vital 
that a sustainable management and other staff resources are put in place. Regular progress reports to the 
agreed network of internal groups (SLT and LMT), Somerset County Council Multi Agency Recovery Co-
ordination Group and regional groups Avon & Somerset Local Resilience Forum (LRF) Association of 
British Insurers and Elected Members will ensure oversight of effectiveness of the recovery.

5. When should the Recovery Phase start? 
The recovery and new horizons phase should begin at the earliest opportunity following the onset of an 
emergency, running in tandem with the response to the emergency. It continues until the disruption has 
been rectified, demands on services have returned to normal levels, and the needs of those affected 
(directly and indirectly) have been met. While the response phase to an emergency can be relatively short, 
the recovery phase may endure for months, years or even decades. Whenever appropriate and practicable 
a Recovery Advisory Group will be established early in the emergency and will run in tandem to the 
Strategic Co-ordination Group (SCG).

6. Activation of the Recovery Co-ordinating Group 
Activation of the Recovery Co-ordinating Group is initiated by South Somerset District Council, usually 
following a request by and agreement with the Senior Leadership Team or (GOLD) Strategic Co-ordinating 
Group and will work in co-ordination with the Recovery Advisory Group. 

The Recovery Co-ordination Group should be formed as soon as practicable and will take the lead on 
recovery. It is important to form early so that a good working liaison between the two groups can be 
established. 

An important part of the work of the Recovery Co-ordinating Group during the response phase of an 
emergency is to develop a recovery strategy and inform the Strategic Co-ordinating Group (GOLD) of this 
strategy to ensure decisions made by the Strategic Co-ordinating Group do not compromise medium to 
long term recovery. The Recovery Co-ordinating Group reports into the Strategic Co-ordinating Group until 
the Strategic Co-ordinating Group stands down.

Page 21



7. Handover from Emergency Response to Recovery 
Phase 
Recovery refers to those programmes which go beyond the provision of immediate relief and support to 
assist those who have suffered the full impact of COVID-19 to rebuild lives and services and strengthen 
communities and their capacity to cope with future incidents. 

Crisis to Transformation process

The COVID-19 pandemic is unusual to most emergency incidents and may need an adapted approach to 
the usual emergency response. As seen in the diagram above, the approach may need to include a pre-
recovery phase to prioritise, reflect and learn from the experiences encountered and imbed new innovative 
and purposeful measures to improve or transform the overall service delivery and experience for our 
communities. In the case of South Somerset District Council, it is the case that the crisis response 
management phase is extended and runs alongside both pre-recovery and recovery phases to make sure 
that on-going support and delivery is in place for our communities and that we are ready for any second 
phase of the pandemic.
 

8.Operations of the Recovery Co-ordinating Group 
It may be appropriate to involve partner organisations within specific recovery cells, however, clear 
leadership in terms of overall co-ordination for SSDC must be evidenced by South Somerset District 
Council as recovery lead. 

Accurate records of decisions and expenditure should be recorded using decision logs by all South 
Somerset District Council staff involved in the recovery phase as well as actions and decisions arising from 
the Recovery Co-ordinating Group, including time and date taken and showing the appropriate justification 
for the decisions: this is to ensure comprehensive audit trails, timings, participants, notifications, options, 
decisions and expenditure.

 An accurate record is paramount to assist in the preparation of public information, reports, responding to 
enquiries (including Freedom of Information requests), preparing for formal or judicial inquiries, claims 
under the UK Government (COVID-19) reimbursement scheme etc.

Page 22



9.Recovery Structures and Roles 
During the response phase, the chair of the Strategic Co-ordinating Group may ask for the recovery 
process to be activated as part of the overall multi-agency response. 

The structure for managing the recovery will be flexible to suit the particular situation (COVID 19) but 
will be based upon the agreed overall structure as detailed in the illustration in figure 1 below. 

This structure is for guidance only. Cells may wish to focus on both internal (SSDC) service delivery 
and external recovery as individual cells, or there may be a need for a separate cell to focus on the 
recovery and review of South Somerset District Council services and operations.  

Appropriate terms of references will need to be agreed setting out the scope and direction of both the 
Recovery Advisory Group (SSDC Leadership), Recovery Co-ordinating Group and specialist cells.

Avon & Somerset Local Resilience Forum (A&SLRF) arrangements Recovery Co-ordinating Group 
(RCG)

South Somerset District Council have heavily redeployed staffing resources to support this phase to achieve 
resilience and recovery objectives over time as appropriate. The aim is that each cell within the LRF 
structure (for us, the Somerset County Council Multi Agency Recovery Co-ordination Group and South 
Somerset District Council Recovery Co-ordination Group (TCG)) having standing item with regard to 
recovery and each TCG in localities managing their own impact assessments and specific recovery 
elements that relate and are managed at the most appropriate level.

Alignment strategically through the A&SLRF will also include the Heart of the South West LEP who as a 
critical place within the group focusing on economic recovery. 

9.1 Recovery Advisory Group (RAG) 

Role 
The Recovery Advisory Group (RAG) will act as Elected Council member engagement group that will help 
analysis actions taken by the Recovery Co-ordinating Group and act as a guide and critical friend to the 
RCG as and when is needed (For South Somerset District Council, this is known as the Leadership Group).
The RAG will need to examine and where they as a group can offer resource and support. 

The Recovery Advisory Group will need to hold a formal place within the Strategic Emergency Co-
ordinating Group to enable a total integration and transparency between the two phases of response and 
recovery and through into future new horizon transformation. 

Page 23



9.2 Recovery Co-ordinating Group (RCG) 

Role 
The Recovery Co-ordination Group (RCG) acts as the main strategic body within the District Council steps 
into pre-recovery and recovery phases of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group will be consisting of the lead 
Director (chair) for Recovery, a deputy, project support and the leads for each Community of Practice (CoP) 
work stream. Together they will co-ordinate the actions needed for the recovery strategy. Additionally, the 
group will: 

 To feed in recovery developments, actions or  issues to the District Council Strategic Emergency Co-
ordinating Group (Gold Group) and to the Somerset County Multi Agency Recovery Co-ordination 
Group

 To decide the overall recovery strategy, including communications, health, welfare, economic and 
business recovery for both the Counties that we serve and our District Council Service.

 To defining the new “normal” for operational services at South Somerset District Council

 Ensure that relevant stakeholders, especially affected communities, are involved in the development 
and implementation of the strategy;

 To establish appropriate Sub-Groups for the work streams as required by the emergency; 

 To produce an impact assessment; 

 To co-ordinate the recommendations and actions of the Sub-Groups and monitor progress including 
performance management; 

 To monitor financial matters and pursue funding and other assistance; 

 To agree exit strategy criteria and timescale; 

 Deal with other issues that fall outside the scope of the working groups; 

 To provide reassurance to the public and to minimise fear and alarm via a recovery communication 
strategy (This to include media and public communications).

 To maintain a written record of decisions made and the reasons for those decisions. 

A terms of reference for the Recovery Coordinating Group can be found in APPENDIX C

9.3 Community of Practice (CoP) Sub Groups 

The SSDC existing Communities of Practice will form the sub-committees for recovery. Sub committees 
with a lead manager for each Community of Practice will be formed at the earliest possible opportunity. 
Continuity and learning from the Response stage to the new Recovery and new horizons phase is 
important to establish new approaches from the lessons learnt and the business intelligence collected. 

The sub groups will complete a Terms of Reference document and Action Plan for each Community of 
Practice that will form part of the overall project management documentation and recovery and new 
horizons action plan. 

9.4 Strategic support groups 

Key support services will provide key strategic oversight, advice and resources to support the Community 
of Practice sub groups and the Recovery Co-ordination Group to achieve their objectives. These services 

Page 24



such as digital transformation, finance, the people team and legal services will be integral to the success of 
the recovery and new horizons phase both in terms of strategy and operations. 

10. Stand Down of the Recovery Co-ordinating 
Group/Centre 
The Recovery Co-ordinating Group will stand down once there is no longer the need for the regular co-
ordination and the remaining issues can be dealt with by individual services or supporting 
agencies/organisations as a part of their normal day to day duties (It may be the case that both the 
Reponse and Recovery Co-ordinating Group work alongside one another during this emergency for longer 
than most emergencies). 

 The Chair of the Recovery Co-ordinating Group, in discussion with the Recovery Co-ordinating Group 
members will decide when it is appropriate to stand-down the Group. The needs of the community will 
be key to this decision and will inform the decision. 

 The stand down of the group will be measured on the return to normal of all impacted services and 
those affected within the community. 

 The length of time that the Recovery Co-ordinating Group is required to continue meeting will vary 
according to the nature

11. Evaluation and De-Brief of Recovery Phase 
It is essential that a formal debrief take place once the recovery process has been completed. This is 
important to allow information on the multiple aspects of the emergency recovery process to be shared 
across the multiple internal services and external agencies and organisations involved in both the recovery 
and the response process and to allow agencies to build upon any issues that arose and to carry out the 
necessary reviewing of plans, processes and protocols within the areas affected. 

A final debrief report should be produced which captures all these issues and addresses them accordingly. 

The affected areas should take the opportunity to share the debrief report widely amongst all responders 
and agencies involved so that any updates, as a result, can be discussed and any changes to plans can be 
made to better deal with future events. This will be feed into the SSDC Lessons Learned Protocol and will 
thus inform continuous improvement in recovery policy and practice.

12. Appendices: 
A: Public Health Approach – Exiting Lockdown, the Trade Offs

B: Questions to use alongside the Three Horizons Approach

C: Terms of Reference Recovery Coordinating Group (RCG)

D: Recovery and Renewal Outcomes, Objectives & Indicators4

4 Eco. = Economic Impact Assessment; Env = Environment Impact Assessment; Com = Community Impact 
Assessment; Live = Places where we live Impact Assessment; Pro = Protecting core services impact assessment Page 25



APPENDIX A: Public Health Approach – Exiting Lockdown, the Trade Offs

Assumes lockdown until 
solution scenario is 
implemented 

It is unlikely any solution 
will be available in under 
1 month 

Dependent on the 
speed required to 
implement solutions, 
both deaths and 
economic impact 
increases

KEY (BELOW):

Scenario number 12+ months until 
viable

6-12 months until 
viable

1-2 months until 
viable

Page 26



APPENDIX B: Questions to use alongside the Three Horizons Approach

The Twelve Questions have been adapted from the questions highlighted in the: Three Horizons Framework, 
A Quick Introduction: YouTube video (7 minutes) by Kate Raworth, author of Doughnut Economics

A. As a service, what does ‘Business as Usual’ look like? (The key characteristics of your operations, 
approach and systems that you run?)

B. Look Back. How did we get here? What values, cultures, approach and events led to this?

C. Is there any elements that are now not fit for purpose? Why do we believe it’s not fit for purpose now? 
Give examples. (What actions are needed to improve it now because collapse is rarely beneficial)

D. Is there anything valuable about the old system/ service approach that we would want to retain rather 
than lose such as its infrastructure?

E. What council we do differently in the future, what do we want to bring about? – its key characteristics? 
What would it look like and feel like to be there?

F. What seeds of that future are visible in the present? (The possible that we visualise) Give specific 
examples.

G. Looking back, whose work are these present possibilities built upon? What history, values, and culture 
are embedded within them? (are there any case studies / best Practice that we can use as examples)

H. How could they be scaled and spread? (Give examples).

I. What are competing visions of the future that are being pursued by others? Could we collaborate with 
them because we share enough core elements, or are theirs inherently competing visions? If so, how do 
we prevent their vision from derailing ours? (i.e. is there any cross Service or Local Authority working that 
we could implement to make it a better offer)

J. What is currently in our services being disrupted / modified due to COVID-19? Think of many different 
kinds of factors: technological, political, cultural, ecological, economic, social disruptions.

K. What are the roots of those disruptions? and for each one identified what would it look like for it to be 
captured (H2-) or harnessed (H2+)? What can be done strategically to ensure that it is harnessed? Give 
examples of disruptions that you believe have been captured and others that have been harnessed. In 
each case why did it happen? What made that possible? and lastly my favourite…

L. If you are in favour of positive disruptive improvements for your service, whether a social movement, a 
tech innovator, or a new form of finance, what kinds of guidance can you set for yourself to help influence 
whether your disruption is captured to extend the life of H1, or harnessed to bring about H3? What allies 
will you seek? What action will you take? How will you assess potential offers for collaboration or finance? 
and How will you work with others to ensure that the H2+ disruptions scales and spreads?

Page 27

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_5KfRQJqpPU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_5KfRQJqpPU


Page 28



APPENDIX C: Terms of Reference: SSDC COVID-19 Recovery Coordinating Group (RCG)

Aim

1.1 The District Council Recovery Coordinating Group’s (RCG) aim is to establish and maintain 
effective and auditable multi service command, control and coordination of the recovery element 
of a Major Incident. 

2. Membership

2.1 With the exception of the Secretary/Loggist, the RCG is to consist of Chief Executive or strategic 
level representatives (in this case the lead Director for Recovery) with the executive authority to 
represent and sanction decisions on behalf of their respective organisations.  Membership is to 
be flexible, based on the specific nature of the incident within COVID-19, however, as a 
minimum, the RCG is to consist of:
1. Chairperson (Lead Director for Recovery)
2. Minute Taker
3. Loggist (Project management support – Case Officer)
4. Lead Representative (or Deputy) from each Community of Practice work streams

1. Healthy, self-reliant communities 
2. Economy 
3. Places where we live 
4. Environment 
5. Protecting core services 

5. Legal advisor (or specialist)
6. Financial advisor (or specialist)
7. Digital transportation advisor (or specialist)
8. Communications advisor (or specialist)
9. Any others identified to aid in the recovery process

3. Deputies & Responsibilities

3.1 In order to ensure business continuity, all RCG members are to nominate a deputy.  The deputy 
must be of an appropriate level of seniority in keeping with the Membership criteria outlined at 
paragraph 2.1 above.

3.2 Lead CoP representatives (or their deputy) will be expected to attend all RCG meetings and 
provide an update report on the recovery and new horizon action plan. 

4. Role & Function

4.1 The RCG is a strategic management forum consisting of nominated representatives of South 
Somerset leadership and management team.  Its role is to assume responsibility and 
accountability for the recovery operation and to establish an overarching Mission and Strategic 
Objectives for the recovery phase.  Its function is then to activate and task a range of specialist 
Sub Groups with managing multi agency delivery to attain the Mission and Strategic Objectives 
and to monitor progress against these over time.

4.2 The RCG is to link in with regional and national guidance, operational planning and reporting 
lines through the Avon & Somerset Local Reliance Forum.

4.3 The RCG provides a forum to raise, discuss and resolve issues that could impinge upon 
smooth and timely delivery against the agreed Mission and Strategic Objectives.  In tackling 
such obstacles to delivery, the RCG will, where necessary, seek the support of the wider 
resilience partners of the A&SLRF, in order to bring delivery objectives back on track.

4.4 The success of the RCG depends on there being a clear understanding that the Sub Groups are 
empowered to manage ongoing delivery without constant recourse to the RCG for approval.  
However, the RCG provides a forum for the escalation of issues from the Sub Groups for 

Page 29



discussion, resolution, approval or escalation to the SSDC GOLD TEAM and if needed on to the 
Avon & Somerset Local Resilience coordination mechanism.

5. Chair & Reporting

5.1 The Chairperson will be the lead Director for Recovery. 

5.2 Any change of Chair is to be underpinned by a formal verbal handover from the outgoing to the 
incoming Chair. Once complete, this is to be recorded in the RCG Log, which is then to be signed 
by the outgoing and incoming Chair.

5.3 The RCG is to ensure that a thorough and detailed log of decisions and actions is maintained from 
the outset of the response to a Major Incident. This is to be recorded by a project management case 
officer. The Log should be retained for future reference/scrutiny/ response to any Freedom of 
Information (FOI) requests, for a minimum period of seven years.  

5.4 As a contingency, partner agencies should also ensure that the Log is scanned and saved 
electronically. 

5.5 The RCG is to establish a multi-agency response that will take cognisance of National Recovery 
Guidance. 

5.6 Formal tasking of Sub Groups may, at the discretion of the Chair of the RCG, be done verbally or 
by the production of a structured, written briefing. If the former is selected, a clear record must be 
made in the Log.

6. Project management support 

6.1 For remote meetings, the project management support (Case Officer) is responsible for ensuring 
that teleconference facilities are established and tested.  Moreover, RCG members are to receive 
clear instructions detailing conference call number, timing and login instructions at least 1 hour 
before the RCG commences.  Decisions and actions from the RCG Log are to be circulated post-
meeting, as per the arrangements for meetings in person.

7. Frequency of Meetings

7.1 The RCG will meet in accordance with the frequency proposed by the Chair and agreed by RCG 
members.  There is no rule governing how frequently the RCG must meet.  However, as a guide, 
the frequency must:
 Be proportionate to the tempo of operations being experienced (this may increase and 

decrease over time);
 Support the principle that the RCG is strategic in focus.  It must therefore   allow sufficient 

time and space between meetings for the Sub Groups to    deliver against agreed Strategic 
Objectives.

(Note: During COVID-19: all RCG meetings will be held virtually)

8. Decisions

8.1 All decisions taken by the RCG are to be achieved by consensus

8.2 Once agreed, decisions will be binding on the Sub Groups unless a specific exception is raised to 
the RCG by a Sub Group lead.

9. Ratification & Review

9.2 Once agreed, the Terms of Reference shall be reviewed on the following occasions:
 A change in the nature of the incident
 At significant intervals throughout the recovery phase i.e. one month after, 3 months after, 6 

months after
 Following any activation of this Group as part of the debrief process.

Page 30



APPENDIX D: Recovery and Renewal Outcomes, Objectives & Indicators5

Overall Strategy Aim

To coordinate a strong partnership recovery that is sensitive to the needs of those affected by the COVID-
19 Pandemic and enables the rebuilding and restoring of the health, social, economic and political well-
being of the communities of South Somerset in the short, medium and long term.

Outcomes

Use the recovery and new horizon period to:

 work towards longer-term regeneration and a more circular and distributed economy
 accelerate our work to mitigate and adapt to climate change
 integrate health and care services even further
 reinforce and restore public confidence in the resilience of public agencies and resilience to future 

challenges and emergencies. 

Recovery and new horizon Objective Eco. Env HSR 
Com

Place PCS Primary 
Horizon

1. Help South Somerset Communities and 
businesses to recover and adapt to lockdown 
easements as effectively as possible 

X X X H1-H2

2. Establish a proactive and integrated support 
framework of support to businesses. 

X X H1

3. Understanding (and minimising) the varying 
impacts among different demographic groups 
within society as we recover 

X X X X H1-H3

4. Assess and communicate the benefits of local 
environments and its importance to our well 
being 

X X X H2-H3

5. Ensure community voice is shaping and 
informing the recovery process 

X X H1-H3

6. Help SSDC recover - Reinstate and re-build 
SSDC services most impacted by COVID-19, 
ensure a strong financial position, mitigating the 
financial impacts of the crisis and reflect on 
future prioritisation and potential new horizons 
for the council, its services and its priority 
projects  

X H1-H3

7. Develop and deliver a concise, balanced and 
achievable recovery action plan that ensures the 
right balance between short, medium and long 
term objectives. 

X X X X X H1-H2

8. Ensure effective partnership coordination of 
information and activities with response and 
recovery work streams

X X X X X H1-H2

9. Ensure effective protocols for member 
involvement and liaison. 

X X H1-H3

10. Commemorate those who have lost their lives to 
COVID-19

X X H1-H2

11. Celebrate the contributions made to support our 
communities through COVID-19 and give the 
public opportunities to express their appreciation 
whilst allowing a time of healing which many 
families may need. 

X X X H1-H2

5 Eco. = Economic Impact Assessment; Env = Environment Impact Assessment; Com = Community Impact 
Assessment; Live = Places where we live Impact Assessment; Pro = Protecting core services impact assessment Page 31



12. Provide timely and informative media updates 
on the recovery and new horizon process. 

X H1

13. Identify and implement learning from COVID-19, 
including capturing reflective good practice for 
dealing with future pandemics and ensuring 
effective recovery activities.

X X X X X H1-H3

Page 32



19th March 2019

Equality Impact Relevance Check 
Form 
The Public Sector Equality Duty requires us to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations with protected groups. This tool will identify the equalities 
relevance of a proposal, and establish whether a full Equality Impact Assessment will be required. 

What is the proposal?
Name of the proposal SSDC Recovery Strategy 
Type of proposal (new or changed Strategy, 
policy, project, service or budget):

New Strategy document and action plan

Brief description of the proposal: The strategy and approach that SSDC will take for 
recovery from COVID-19 

Name of lead officer: James Divall 

You should consider whether the proposal has the potential to negatively impact on citizens or staff 
in the following ways:

 Access to or participation in a service,
 Levels of representation in our workforce, or
 Reducing quality of life (i.e. health, education, standard of living) 

A negative impact is any change that could be considered detrimental. If a negative impact is 
imposed on any citizens or staff with protected characteristics, the Council has a legal duty to 
undertake a full Equality Impact Assessment.

Could your proposal negatively impact citizens with protected characteristics? (This 
includes service users and the wider community)

NO

Could your proposal negatively impact staff with protected characteristics? (i.e. 
reduction in posts, changes to working hours or locations, changes in pay)

NO

Is a full Equality Impact Assessment required?                  NO

If Yes, Please provide a brief description of where there may be negative impacts, and for whom. Then 
complete a full Equality Impact assessment Form
N/a

If No, Please set out your justification for why not.
As this a high level Strategy concerned with recovery from Covid19  it is unlikely to result in any 
negative impacts on any of the Protected Characteristics. The detailed actions that are necessary to 
deliver the Strategy will need to be subject to greater scutiny requiring individual Equalty Impact 
Relevance checks; and where these identify any potential negative impacts on the Protected 
Characteristics a full EIA will be required in order that approriate mitigations can be identified.
Service Director / Manager sign-off and date Clare Pestell 10/06/2020
Equalities Officer sign-off and date Dave Crisfield   12th June 2020

Page 33



SSDC Priority Project - Accelerated Housing Delivery Report 

Executive Portfolio Holder: Val Keitch, Strategy and Housing
Strategic Director: Martin Woods  -  Director  -  Place
Service Manager: Simon Fox  -  Lead Specialist -  Places Where we Live 
Lead Officer: Simon Fox 
Contact Details: Simon.fox@southsomerset.gov.uk or 01935 462509

Purpose of the Report

1. To recommend a series of measures that will help South Somerset District Council 
provides for the housing needs of South Somerset.

Forward Plan 

2. This report appeared on the District Executive Forward Plan with an anticipated Committee 
date of July 2020.

Public Interest

3. The Council is not achieving its housing targets, and this affects the opportunity of 
individuals and families to have their own home. It also affects the economic performance 
of the district. Locally determined policies to ensure development is guided to the most 
sustainable locations are more easily challenged by developers without a 5 year land 
supply. This report sets out a way ahead to achieve a faster delivery for all types of homes 
in the right locations and to ensure a pipeline of delivery for the future. This is a priority 
project as identified in the Council Plan. 

Recommendation

4. That the District Executive Committee: 

i. Consider and note the 3 Dragons report ‘Accelerating Housing (Appendix A)

ii. Approve the use of £250,000 from the Business Rates Retention Fund –‘Unlocking 
Growth’ to finance the Housing Delivery Programme Manager and budget for a period 
of 2 years

iii. Note that officers will prepare a Priority Project Action Plan based on recommendations 
in the report (table 8.3, pages 49-52 of the report and table 8.3, pages 54-58 of the 
report)

iv. Note that progress on delivery will be monitored by the Strategic Development Board 
and District Executive as part of the quarterly monitoring arrangements for Priority 
projects

v. Approve an allocation of a further £100,000 from general revenue reserve balances to 
supplement specific work to support housing delivery in the market towns

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



Background

5. It is one of the aims of South Somerset District Council to create and sustain thriving 
communities. This means residents should be able to access the broad range and type of 
housing they need. This is reflected in Priority Project 5 of the Council Plan, the Somerset 
Housing Strategy and the adopted South Somerset Local Plan. Project 5 is outlined below:

6. In line with the timetable set out above the Council commissioned a consultancy, the Three 
Dragons, to work with them to develop and deliver a roadmap to achieve a higher rate 
of housing delivery.

7. The report findings are based on a thorough analysis of the causes of under supply. It 
followed extensive consultations with the local development industry, affordable 
housing providers and Homes England. The report also draws on best practice from 
around the country. The report complements work on ‘Unlocking Growth’ 
commissioned access Somerset and led by South Somerset District council which is 
described later in the report.

Main Findings

Page 35



8. The study confirms a persistent pattern of delivery falling behind the targets set out in the 
Local Plan.  Furthermore, the evidence shows that whilst not meeting the needs of the 
district, the delivery of homes in the larger, sustainable settlements identified in the Local 
Plan Settlement Strategy has been less than expected/forecast.  Apart from not providing 
enough homes this decreases the affordability of housing, and from a planning perspective, 
can leave the Council vulnerable to planning applications in less favourable locations that 
were not previously identified as suitable sites for development.

9. Importantly the report identified that only around 78% of predicted housing planning 
approvals in South Somerset translate to actual house completions and that housing 
completions are averaging about 52% of housing approvals each year. This therefore 
identifies a significant problem, the actions in the report set out to help understand and 
address. Based on 2019 figures the Council has a deliverable land supply of 4.5 years and 
while there is the possibility that it will achieve a land supply in the near future, the report 
stresses that it must not be complacent in ensuring a credible pipeline of new homes that 
can be defended at appeal.

10. Further, the report shows that housing delivery varies across South Somerset, with the 
main delivery challenges being in Yeovil, Chard, Crewkerne, rather than the market towns 
and rural areas. The study confirms that there are sufficient planning permissions in many 
towns, but in many cases the building out of sites with permission is not at the rate needed 
to meet housing targets.

 
11. The report makes a number of comments about viability. These are bound to affect 

development more post Coronavirus as construction and infrastructure costs rise and 
house values are predicted to fall. It points out that along with education, highways, 
affordable housing and leisure there are likely to be further costs in terms of biodiversity 
net gain and zero carbon needs. Consequently, it is suggesting greater flexibility in the 
S106 process, with more informed decisions being made into the trade-off of between 
housing and other S106 needs. It notes infrastructure costs are not readily identifiable to 
developers up front, which with recent increases in education contributions are causing 
uncertainty and placing heavy burdens on large sites.

12. Affordable housing delivery is noted as achieving nearly 100 units a year over the last three 
years and the current year providing a step change at 250 units. However, affordable 
housing provision is very dependent on large sites and often delivering well below the 
policy of 35%, where concessions have had to be made on independently assessed 
viability grounds. 

13. The report notes the Council is making use of a broad range of affordable housing types 
and often specifies social rent (about 25% of all units) which is less viable to developers. 
In South Somerset no Homes England grant is available to support social rent.

14. Land Values, it notes, can constrain development as lower values will reduce margins and 
are a risk to delivery. In particular Yeovil values are generally weaker than the surrounding 
area, however outside Yeovil values are comparable with surrounding Districts. 

15. The report reviews the ‘end to end’ planning processes that may impede delivery, noting 
that within the development industry there is some frustration with the perceived general 
attitude to new housing development. It also identifies other process issues, notably S106, 
highways, and affordable housing. 

Page 36



16. As SME builders have declined; there is a greater dependence on volume builders, but 
South Somerset is not close to the regional headquarters of any of these companies and 
is on the periphery of their preferred locations. This does have a big impact upon decisions 
made at board level and where a decision is made to pursue a site, meaningful local 
engagement can be much more difficult.  The study suggests the dominance of a few land 
holders acts as a potential constraint on delivery. In Yeovil, two-thirds of land supply is 
controlled by two organisations. 

17. The report recognises some area-specific issues. In particular, in Yeovil and Chard, town 
centre regeneration sites should provide new housing opportunities. However, these 
brownfield sites are complex and have high overheads and remediation costs, rendering 
their development potential limited and unviable for the commercial sector.

18. In Chard, the lack of a clear delivery plan on the Eastern relief road hampers local and 
house builder decision making.  In Crewkerne, the Eastern relief road and associated costs 
have meant that the preferred site has not been started after 20 years, meaning the town 
has missed out on much needed housing and has had to consider alternative sites. 

Main Proposals

19. The report makes a range of recommendations and suggests an action plan for the Council 
to consider. Fundamentally, it does not believe doing more of the same or enhancing 
current interventions alone will suffice. The proposition is that delivering significantly 
higher numbers of homes in sustainable locations will demand bold and innovative 
approaches.

20. This report therefore makes recommendations in terms of political and officer leadership, 
current polices and practice, commercial intervention and the complete development 
process all of which, together, will accelerate housing supply. This will fall under the current 
review of Policies led by the Lead Specialist – Built Environment.

21. Crucial to moving forward is the appointment of a ‘Housing Delivery Programme Manager’ 
to provide focus and extra resource.  The primary role will be to work with the various 
parties and organisations involved in the delivery of housing, including statutory 
consultees, developers, Housing Associations and Homes England, to accelerate and 
monitor progress.  The Housing Delivery Programme Manager will assemble officer teams 
as required to focus on removing blockages that inhibit the pace of build out of major sites. 

22. The delivery teams will focus on getting a better understanding of what would help to unlock 
the site,  working with landowners / developers (including SMEs) to help engage with and 
steer the market (i.e. connecting land owners with developers and attracting new players 
to the market).   

23. The report recognised the particular issues in bringing forward town centre sites and 
recommends focused action in Yeovil and Chard. The longstanding questions that are 
holding up planning and delivery in Chard lead to a recommendation to undertake a 
transport assessment to test development options and explore options around the new 
relief road.  In Crewkerne the suggestion is to explore transport funding and delivery for a 
new road network to support existing and new development

24. As the Council has neither large land holdings nor a development team the approach 
suggested to the Council taking a more direct role in housing developments is as a partner 
rather than setting up a company. Therefore it suggests that it forms Joint Ventures (JV’s) 
with developers and / or housing associations. This accords with the direction that 

Page 37



government are indicating ie that Councils return more to housebuilding.  JV’s can be 
commercial or regeneration biased, or both.  The Council’s covenant and interest can 
significantly de-risk development in the eyes of developers, and potentially lead to a more 
rapid build out. The report suggest that opportunities are taken to acquire land for housing 
ahead of the local plan. 

25. It is suggested that SSDC are more active in publicising local development opportunities 
and should publish a Housing Prospectus and consider marketing of sites at trade fairs. 

26. The Council should continue to explore opportunities for joint working with organisations 
such as Homes England to identify funds that can be used to improve the viability and de-
risk the deliverability of the urban extensions not only in Yeovil but across South Somerset

27. The importance of the Local Plan is recognised and it is recommended that the Council, 
as fast as due process allows, fast track progress to an adopted Local Plan. This is because 
it can include polices that support the acceleration in housing, in particular updating viability 
evidence and reviewing affordable housing targets, as well as introducing measures to tie 
permissions to delivery targets.

Other suggested measures include :-

 Streamline, responsive and improved s106 process with Standardised s106 wording in 
consultation with development industry

 Introducing viability review mechanisms for new permissions

 Introducing mechanisms to deal with ‘banked’ planning permissions via  – planning 
conditions/s106 agreement

 Shortening time for outline consents if targets not met for delivery 

 Introduce Planning Performance Agreements to direct and tailor resources for 
determining all aspects of the planning process from pre-application stage to the 
discharging of conditions.

 Ensure that progress on S106 agreements is monitored and reported regularly to 
members

 Ensure that Section 106 requirements are reasonable and proportionate

 Review CIL rates to ensure that the previously adopted figure is appropriate for a post 
Covid world

 Move quickly towards implementing the affordable housing requirements contained 
within the emerging Local Plan. (28% rather than 35%).

Next Steps – Delivery

28. In order to make a significant difference to housing delivery the Council needs to recognise 
that it has a deficit of staff with appropriate skills as well as capacity in key areas to make 
a step change in pace and outcomes.

29. The report describes a range of potential actions for the council to take on page 49, and 
evaluates the actions in the table on page 54 against impact and cost. This gives a 

Page 38



framework for action for the council, and will influence the work that is currently taking place 
to ‘renew’ planning processes. It will also influence polices in the emerging local plan 
review.  Other actions will need specific resource, and this report identifies a resource 
below.   

.
30. This will be in the form of:-

 A housing Delivery Programme Manager 
 A reserve fund to call upon to supply external expertise when needed
 Programme management across the entire spectrum of housing delivery 
 The Housing Community of Practice 

Housing Delivery Programme Manager  

31.  A proposal is for a stand-alone senior specialist role that will work across areas, working 
closely with planners, housing specialists, and government to unlock existing sites, 
negotiate with partners and developers The role will be:-

 Unlocking  major sites with planning permission 
 Enabling complex sites to come forwards 
 Negotiation with developers and affordable Housing providers
 Supporting the growth of new entrants and small and medium sized developers within 

the local market

Planning Focus on Major Sites 

32. The suggestion from the report is for senior specialist staff to be more focused on major 
housing sites.  Over the last year the benefit of having a senior experienced planner to 
concentrate on resolving multiple problems associated with planning approvals on major 
sites has enabled progress on the two Yeovil urban extensions. This report does not 
identify a specific resource for this. However, it suggests that Planning Performance 
Agreements are investigated as a means of identifying resource for this. 

Housing Community of Practice 

33. This is an internal network existing staff who are engaged in all aspects of housing. They 
will define and support the range of activities that deliver the agreed housing outcomes. 
Their work will be programme planned and led by the Lead Specialist Senior for the Built 
Environment. 

 Reserve Fund 

34. This will enable SSDC to engage on short time-limited pieces of work to underpin 
appraisals of sites, viability, and assembly of bids. A key piece of work will be addressing 
the current and ongoing issues of the ‘link road’ in Chard.

Unlocking Growth Project 

35. As part of the business rate retention pilot scheme Somerset was awarded £500,000 for 
projects that would stimulate economic growth. South Somerset led the business case for 
the Unlocking Growth Project. This is aimed at addressing some of the process issues that 
surround bringing forward large infrastructure and housing sites. South Somerset is able 
to claim £250,000 to support this project and it is recommended that the funding is used to 
enable the Accelerating Housing Programme to proceed. 

Page 39



Financial Implications

36. A breakdown of the project costs are as follows:

Proposal Element Indicative cost  £
Housing Delivery Programme Manager 140,000 inc on –costs ( 2 years )
One off costs to include traffic and road 
assessment for Chard.

100,000 

Funding already committed to study 50,000

Reserve fund to Commission expertise 
when needed

60,000

Total 350,000

37.  £250,000 of the above costs would be met from the Unlocking Growth Fund. It is 
recommended that a further £100,000 is committed from general revenue reserves 
balances to support housing delivery work in the market towns.

Risk Matrix
 
The risk matrix shows risk relating to the Corporate Plan headings. 

Risk Profile before officer recommendations Risk Profile after officer recommendations

R F
CY,CP 
CpP,

Likelihood

R F
CY,CP 
CpP,

Likelihood

  Key

Categories Colours (for further detail please refer to 
Risk management strategy) 

R - Reputation High impact and high probability
CpP - Corporate Plan Priorities Major impact and major probability
CP - Community Priorities Moderate impact and moderate probability
CY - Capacity Minor impact and minor probability
F - Financial Insignificant impact and insignificant probability

Page 40



Council Plan Implications 

The Project Delivers on the Council Priority theme ‘Places Where We Live’ in particular 
delivering homes to meet the needs of South Somerset and Priority Project 5 -  Accelerating 
Housing. 

Carbon Emissions and Climate Change Implications 

New Homes are required to meet Government targets for Carbon reduction.

Equality and Diversity Implications

The project enables homes to meet the needs identified in the Strategic Housing Needs 
Assessment, which includes provision for affordable homes, social rent and homes to meet 
special needs and the needs of an aging population.

Privacy Impact Assessment

No Impact 

Background Papers

Council Plan 2016-2020.

Appendix A - the Three Dragons Report 

Page 41



 

1 

South Somerset 
District Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Accelerating Delivery 
of Housing in South 
Somerset 
 
 
 

Report – Draft Ver 3 
June 2020 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Three Dragons with  
Bespoke Property 
Consultants  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

       

 

Page 42



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants   
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Contents 

Executive summary ............................................................................................................... 1 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................... 4 

Study objectives and context ............................................................................................. 4 

Research undertaken ........................................................................................................ 5 

2. National policy and influencers ....................................................................................... 6 

Policy context .................................................................................................................... 6 

Homes England ................................................................................................................. 7 

Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership ....................................................... 8 

Summary ........................................................................................................................... 8 

3. Sub National and Local Policy ........................................................................................ 9 

Introduction ....................................................................................................................... 9 

Sub-national picture ........................................................................................................... 9 

The Local Picture ............................................................................................................ 10 

(Milestones will be refined following the receipt of the options report) .............................. 12 

Summary ......................................................................................................................... 12 

4. Delivery ........................................................................................................................ 14 

Five-Year land supply ...................................................................................................... 14 

Delivery against Local Plan policies ................................................................................. 16 

Local Delivery .................................................................................................................. 18 

Affordable housing delivery ............................................................................................. 20 

Housing Supply ............................................................................................................... 23 

Covid-19 .......................................................................................................................... 23 

Summary ......................................................................................................................... 23 

5. Issues affecting delivery rates ...................................................................................... 25 

Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 25 

Market and viability limitations ......................................................................................... 25 

Control of land ................................................................................................................. 29 

Development management process ................................................................................ 30 

Open for business ........................................................................................................... 33 

Area specific issues ......................................................................................................... 34 

Summary ......................................................................................................................... 35 

6. Potential solutions – experience from elsewhere.......................................................... 37 

Scope of the review ......................................................................................................... 37 

Housing Delivery Action Plans ......................................................................................... 37 

Review of pro-active local authorities .............................................................................. 38 

Publicising development opportunities ............................................................................. 39 

Page 43



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants   
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Improving dialogue with the development industry .......................................................... 39 

Helping to de-risk sites or improve cashflow .................................................................... 40 

Mechanisms for maintaining delivery timetables .............................................................. 41 

Direct delivery .................................................................................................................. 42 

Characteristics of successful council interventions .......................................................... 43 

Summary ......................................................................................................................... 43 

7. Local authority joint ventures and development companies ......................................... 44 

Background to joint ventures and development companies ............................................. 44 

Joint ventures .................................................................................................................. 44 

Local development companies ........................................................................................ 45 

Process to set up ............................................................................................................. 45 

Comparison of delivery options ....................................................................................... 47 

Summary ......................................................................................................................... 47 

8. Conclusions and delivery programme .......................................................................... 48 

Programme of actions ..................................................................................................... 48 

Programme of interventions ............................................................................................. 61 

Annex 1  Policy and strategy literature review ............................................................ 67 

Annex 2 Proactive Local Authority Actions ................................................................. 75 

A. Creating better dialogue with the development industry ............................................ 75 

B. Helping to de-risk sites or improve cashflow ............................................................. 76 

C. Mechanisms for maintaining delivery timetables ....................................................... 77 

D. Direct delivery........................................................................................................... 78 

E. Directly or indirectly involved in delivering homes ..................................................... 79 

Eastleigh Borough Council – JV and development company ........................................... 79 

Annex 3  Council Housing Companies Research ........................................................ 83 

Annex 4 Consultation Issues ........................................................................................ 85 

 

   

  

Page 44



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  1 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Executive Summary  

1. South Somerset District Council, as with other councils, has a duty to achieve the 

housing targets set for it by central government and identified in its Local Plan. However, 

the Council is concerned about the barriers to delivery of housing of all tenures to meet 

these targets and provide for the future housing needs of South Somerset.  In response 

to these concerns, and to inform the Council’s Plan for 2020 to 2025, the Council 

commissioned a study1 whose output is a robust set of recommendations to help 

accelerate housing delivery across the district.  

2. The study has confirmed that the delivery of housing in South Somerset has fallen 

behind Local Plan targets and that current levels of housebuilding are a reflection of a 

general trend rather than a recent down-turn. 

3. While market values in South Somerset are not as high as some nearby centres in the 

South West (e.g. Bristol and Exeter) values are not sufficiently low to indicate underlying 

development weakness. However, and this applies particularly to Yeovil itself, values are 

sufficiently weak that schemes cannot afford unexpected costs or dips in price.  Where 

schemes are expected to meet major infrastructure costs, this can mean they become 

unviable. 

4. Delivery largely relies on a relatively small number of large sites and when these slow 

down or stall, there can be a problem with little option for the Council to directly 

intervene, other than to assist in obtaining public funding to strengthen cash flow.  While 

the Council has been successful in securing public funds (from Homes England), this is a 

time-consuming process which requires dedicated officer time and a particular skill set. 

5. The development industry has raised a number of concerns about the planning decision-

making process followed by the Council and there are various options to address these.  

Whilst changes in process will not, by themselves, unlock the delivery potential of South 

Somerset, reviewing the way the Council makes decisions and the range of planning 

resources it has available, would help. 

6. There are a variety of ways other local authorities are tackling under-delivery of housing 

in their area.  Some of these mechanisms are worth replicating in South Somerset and 

we are recommending a package of actions – some short term and some longer term. 

This includes direct intervention by the Council in one-off projects, working with other 

development organisations through joint ventures. It also includes mechanisms that tie 

developers to agreed delivery programmes on their sites. 

7. We are not recommending the Council setting up a development company as a 

speculative venture, identifying a development programme to promote.  We say this for 

two main reasons.  First that the Council does not have any substantial land ownerships 

to bring into such a company and second, that setting up and operating development 

companies requires considerable investment of staff resources over a considerable 

period of time to achieve a reasonably sized development programme. Instead, we are 

recommending a more opportunist approach. 

8. In terms of supporting current development schemes where there are viability concerns, 

we recognise that there is limited (grant or loan) funding available for this, either directly 

from the Council or through other public agencies – mainly Homes England.  To make 

 
1 Commissioning such a report was set out as a priority project for 2019/20 in the Council’s Plan i.e. To develop proposals to 
accelerate  the delivery  of key housing sites and associated infrastructure 

Page 45



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  2 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

informed decisions on priorities for investment, we are recommending that the Council 

invests directly in its capacity to assess development viability.  This is a specialist skill 

and the Council may want to develop this expertise in partnership with other Somerset 

authorities. The ‘Enabling Growth’ project makes recommendations for joint working 

across Somerset.   

9. Finally, we note that the Council is currently reviewing its Local Plan and we are 

recommending that it takes this opportunity to review and reflect on how it specifies 

affordable housing requirements on qualifying schemes and trades off potentially 

achieving more Affordable Rented units versus social rented units at a lower cost to 

occupiers.  It will be important that the Council has robust viability evidence available to 

support the plan – as recent changes to Planning Practice Guidance has strengthened 

the role of Local Plans in setting out policy requirements that are less easy to challenge 

on grounds of viability grounds when a planning application is made. 

10. The recommended actions for the Council are: 

Create a better awareness and understanding of the need for housing 
across the Council.  

• Create a focus of planning, development and legal officer resources available to 

progress major housing sites in the form of housing a delivery team with a dedicated 

lead officer who can manage and lead the programme of interventions described 

here.  

• Create a strong political leadership focussed on promoting the need for a pipeline of 

new housing schemes to meet local needs.  

• Review the framework for member/ officer decision - to ensure a more fit-for-purpose 

system including the operation of the two-tier committee system. 

 

Working with the Development Industry  
 

• Work more closely with site developers to understand their development issues and 

help create better schemes. Address the specific instances where viability issues on 

some important sites have been raised but not resolved in order to bring forward 

consented applications.  

• Facilitate capital funding interventions by the Council and Homes England. 

• Use a range of measures including through s106 agreements to enforce bringing 

forward sites more rapidly  

Direct Intervention 

• Identify a flexible programme of joint venture opportunities and enter into one or more 

joint ventures with an organisation or organisations active in the local development 

market. This could be a Registered Provider or a private developer. 

• Consider using Council funds to secure land alongside the Local Plan process for 

future joint venture development. 

Priority locations in the District 

• The larger settlements identified in the current and draft new Local Plans should be 

the priority locations for concerted action – particularly Yeovil and Chard. 

  

Page 46



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  3 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Local Plan Review 

• Ensure there are sufficient resources to achieve a more expansive adopted Local 

Plan; 

• Use the process of reviewing all housing policies and allocations to factor in 

accelerating delivery. 

11.  Achieving the above will greatly increase the likelihood that the Council will have a 

sustained five year land supply over future years. How quickly this will be the case 

will depend on a number of externalities, including the potential impact on the 

housing market of the Covid-19 pandemic.  If the potential economic downturn 

follows, as some forecasters are predicting, the importance of the Council taking a 

very active role in housing delivery, becomes even more necessary. 

Page 47



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  4 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

1. Introduction  

Study objectives and context 

1.1 South Somerset District Council, as with other councils, has a duty to achieve the 
housing targets set for it by central government and identified in its Local Plan. 
However, the Council is concerned about the barriers to delivery of housing of all 
tenures to meet these targets and provide for the future housing needs of South 
Somerset.   In response to these concerns, and to inform the Council’s Plan for 2020 
to 2025, the Council commissioned a study2 whose output is a robust set of 
recommendations to help accelerate housing delivery across the district.  While the 
study brief did not require the production of a delivery strategy, the actions 
recommended in this report, together provide such a strategic approach with both 
short term and longer-term actions to help accelerate housing delivery.   

1.2 The Local Plan (to 2028), which was adopted in 2015, sets an overall supply figure of 
15,950 or about 725 dwellings per annum of which 69% are to be provided in Yeovil 
and the other market towns in South Somerset, including Chard and Wincanton. The 
Local Plan is currently being reviewed and in June 2019 the Council published its 
Preferred Options Consultation document3.  This identifies a similar housing 
requirement for 2016 to 2036 of 14,3224 or around 716 per annum5; again with the 
majority of the housing focused on Yeovil and the other market towns (about 62% of 
the future supply).  

1.3 The adopted Local Plan and the emerging plan identify a number of strategic sites 
which make a significant contribution to future housing supply. In Yeovil, two 
sustainable urban extensions of c1,600 dwellings are identified in addition to a 
number of key sites, varying in size but generally around 100 to 200 dwellings. 
Strategic sites in the market towns are of a similar or larger scale – for example 
about 1,340 dwellings in Chard Eastern development Area. Many of the larger sites 
in the new plan are carried forward from the adopted Local Plan. 

1.4 The Council has high aspirations for new housing schemes in the district with, for 
example, 40% open space in Yeovil SUEs and 29% affordable housing to be 
provided.  

1.5 The Council has concerns that housing sites in general are not built out as quickly as 
they should be and that there is an associated and widening affordability gap with the 
affordable housing sector also under-performing.  

1.6 The evidence bears out these concerns with past housing supply lagging well behind 
Local Plan targets – averaging only about 500 dwellings per annum compared with 
the 725 dwellings per annum set out in the Plan.  There is evidence that completion 
rates may actually be slowing down with a higher average rate of completions in 
2014-2017 than in 2017-2019. This is partly due to the then Homes and Communities 
Agency forward funding Affordable Housing. 

1.7 While it is recognised that many of the problems faced in South Somerset are a 
microcosm of the national housing situation, the study has focused on the 

 
2 Commissioning such a report was set out as a priority project for 2019/20 in the Council’s Plan i.e. To develop proposals to 
accelerate  the delivery  of key housing sites and associated infrastructure 
3 https://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/your-council/your-council-plan-and-strategies/planning-policy/local-plan-review-2016-2036/ 
4 Policy SS2 identifies a higher total at 15,538 to allow for ‘….a level of flexibility as the Local Plan Review progresses’  

 
5 Based on the Government Standard Methodology - https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-

assessments 

Page 48

https://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/your-council/your-council-plan-and-strategies/planning-policy/local-plan-review-2016-2036/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  5 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

characteristics of the South Somerset housing market and development industry to 
identify recommendations for action which are locally relevant.  

Research undertaken 

1.8 The research undertaken for the study was a mix of statistical analysis, interviews 
and web-based research. It included: 

• Analysis of past patterns of planning permissions granted and dwelling completions – 

for different areas of South Somerset and an associated review of affordable housing 

delivery; 

• Review of the Council’s public-facing planning web pages; 

• Analysis of market values within and adjoining South Somerset; 

• Interviews with Council officers most closely involved with delivering the Council’s 

plans; 

• Interviews with representatives of the local development industry, focusing on 

developers and land owners that control the major strategic sites in the district. 14 

such interviews were undertaken, using a discussion agenda agreed with the 

Council.  Interview lasted 1-2 hours and were undertaken in the spirit of Chatham 

House rules; 

• Complementary information gathering with locally active Registered Providers – 

through attendance at a regular partnership meeting and subsequent telecon 

interview; 

• Interview with Homes England and web review of the activities of the Local 

Enterprise Partnership; 

• Web based review of the activities undertaken by other local authorities to accelerate 

housing delivery.  The web search built on the knowledge of the team about good 

practice as well as identifying new options.  Those initiatives which appeared to have 

most relevance to South Somerset were followed up by a telephone interview with 

the relevant authority; 

• Review of options for local councils to establish their own development companies, 

the process involved for councils in doing so and outputs from the process.  

  

Page 49



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  6 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

2. National policy and influencers 

Policy context 

2.1 New housebuilding has fallen short of housing targets in many locations across the 
country, and there is a widespread recognition that the UK is not delivering the 
quantity of housing required.  Though the direct role of councils in house building is 
greatly diminished from its role during the 1960’s and 1970’s, there is a growing 
appetite for more public sector intervention in the delivery of housing.   

2.2 This growing appetite can be traced through a number of changes in legislation and 
guidance, and through a number of influential research papers; a full list of which are 
shown in Annex 1, though the key changes are summarised in this section. 

2.3 An early signifier of this key change was the Localism Act (2011).  In broad terms, 
the act granted authorities the ‘general power of competence’ allowing them the legal 
capacity to do anything that an individual may do so long as it does not break the 
law.  This has a number of far-reaching impacts for local authorities, many of which 
with the intention of ensuring local authorities have the power to ensure decisions, 
such as around housing need, are taken locally, and allows greater scope for 
intervening in the market. 

2.4 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), in 2012, introduced a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development and a clear focus on ensuring 
more homes are delivered via a plan-led system.  The framework placed greater 
responsibility for delivering a sufficient supply of homes at the local authority level 
and, alongside planning policy guidance, introduced methods for local authorities to 
calculate need.  The 2012 framework also gave a recognition that plans should be 
deliverable requiring policy makers to consider issues around viability when forming 
strategies.   

2.5 The NPPF was revised in 2018 and again 2019.  As part of the changes the NPPF 
introduced a new, standardised methodology for assessing housing need and a 
Housing Delivery Test.  The latter triggers the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development where delivery is substantially below the housing requirement over the 
previous three years.  The tests have been criticised by some as it penalises local 
authorities for the inaction of private developers, where the authorities have very little 
power to intervene6.  Housing Delivery Tests are discussed in greater detail in 
Chapter 6 of this report. 

2.6 Though not policy documents, it is worth also mentioning some other important 
reports that have also had an impact in strengthening the case for public sector 
intervention.  The Elphicke-House report (2015) recommended that councils should 
be using assets available to them, including borrowing capacity, to ensure that they 
are housing their populations by investing in appropriate housing provision.  It 
advocated that councils should act as ‘housing delivery enablers’ and actively use 
their own assets and knowledge to unlock housing opportunities and deliver more 
homes.   

2.7 A second is the ‘Building Our Homes, Communities and Future’ report 
commissioned by the Local Government Association (2016).  One key 
recommendation, which was enacted in the October 2018 budget, was to free local 
councils from the restrictions to borrow to money to funds for housebuilding through 
removing the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) borrowing cap.  This means that 

 
6 Morphet & Clifford (2019). Local Authority Direct Delivery Of Housing: Continuation Research. RTPI Research Paper July 
2019. 

Page 50



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  7 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

authorities are not restricted by government controls and are instead able to borrow 
against expected income, in line with the Prudential Code.  Importantly, this has 
allowed authorities without an HRA to pursue housebuilding.   

2.8 The final document in our review is the ‘Independent Review of Build Out’ report by 
Sir Oliver Letwin (2018) which investigated the gap between housing completions 
and the amount of land allocated or permissioned in areas of high housing demand.  
It concluded that a key driver in the slow rate of build-out was the homogeneity of the 
type and tenure of the homes on offer on large sites which restricts the rate in which 
they are absorbed by the market.  Alongside recommending that authorities get 
greater powers in controlling development on larger sites, it also suggests a 
requirement for a more diverse offer.     

Homes England 

2.9 Homes England’s Strategic Plan 2018-2023 set out six objectives for the 
organisation: 

• Unlocking land 

• Unlocking investment 

• Increasing productivity 

• Driving market resilience  

• Supporting local areas  

• Delivering home ownership products 

2.10 Homes England’s total budget for 2018 to 2023 was net £27bn, of which £3.6bn was 
for the Affordable Homes programme and £13.9bn for the Help to Buy scheme.  A 
further £5.5bn was for the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF).  Achieving funding at 
the local level through the main programmes is through a bidding process – and 
SSDC has already benefited from this through both grants made from the Affordable 
Homes programme and successful HIF bids. 

2.11 In the March 2020 budget, further funding was announced and set out in the MHCLG 
publication, Planning for the Future.  Planning for the Future signalled a number of 
future reforms to the planning system (including plans to raise the Housing Delivery 
test threshold to 75% in November 2020) but it also set out the outline of future 
funding to be administered by Homes England.  Important for this study, in addition to 
the £12bn over the next five years for affordable housing, are the following: 

• £1.1 billion in local infrastructure to unlock almost 70,000 new homes – “to fund key 

infrastructure schemes from Surrey to Sunderland, including new roads, transport 

links, flood defences, leisure and healthcare facilities, digital and power networks and 

schools.” 

• A new £10 billion Single Housing Infrastructure Fund – “….a new long-term, flexible 

fund which will give confidence to communities, developers and local authorities.”  

2.12 Details of the funding will be announced alongside the Spending Review, now 
delayed from the original July date. It was stated in Planning for the Future that 
Homes England will engage with local authorities and the wider market to build a 
pipeline of opportunities up and down the country.  This provides an opportunity for 
the Council to consider its priorities for bids into the scheme and work with Homes 
England to identify bids that will best fit the new scheme and build up skills in the 
Council to prepare successful bids.  We pick up this point again in our recommended 
actions in the final chapter of the report. 

Page 51



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  8 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership  

2.13 The Heart of the South West Local Economic Partnership set a strategic vision 
for the 16 years between 2014 and 2030 in its Strategic Economic Plan (SEP).  It 
recognises opportunities that have potential to transform the economy including 
Hinkley Point C, the Plymouth and Peninsula City Deal and key clusters in aerospace 
and advanced manufacturing; and data & environmental analysis (particularly the 
MET office at Exeter Science Park).  

2.14 The SEP includes a commitment to help unlock housing growth in the LEP area.  
This involves provision of a ‘kick start’ infrastructure programme to unlock and 
accelerate delivery of housing through a revolving loan fund, supplemented with 
infrastructure grants where necessary.    

2.15 The LEPs 2019/20 Delivery Plan identified its key themes of the Growth Deal 
investment programme as: Transport £118.51m, Innovation space £40.23, Digital – 
broadband and mobile infrastructure - £18.07 and Skills capital projects at £27.1m 
with transport projects making up the bulk of the funding focus on unlocking housing 
and workspace.  LEP funding clearly offers another route into public sector 
investment for the Council but this is a much smaller pot than that of Homes England 
and South Somerset is always competing with the LEP’s priorities and more major 
calls on its resources e.g. J25 of the M5 at Taunton. 
 

2.16 The current ‘Active’7 housing related projects have been identified as: 

• Yeovil Western Corridor (Completed March 2019) 

• Torbay Western Corridor (Completed March 2019) 

• Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension (Completed March 2019) 

• Torquay Gateway (Planned Completion March 2020) 

2.17 The current ‘Coming Soon’ housing related projects have been identified as: 

• Taunton Toneway 

• A382 widening Newton Abbot 

• Houghton Barton Package 

• A39 Heywood Junction, Bideford 

Summary 

2.18 Housebuilding across many authorities has been below what is required.  Central 
Government, supported by a number of influential research papers, has sought to 
grant extra responsibilities and powers for local authorities to intervene in the delivery 
of housing.  Similarly, the role of organisations such as Homes England and the 
Heart of The South West LEP has been strengthened in order to help unlock 
infrastructure and sites to kick-start delivery. 

  

 
7 https://heartofswlep.co.uk/projects/ 

Page 52

https://heartofswlep.co.uk/projects/


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  9 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

3. Sub National and Local Policy  

Introduction 

3.1 The key policies, guidance and strategies, that relate to the type and volume of 
housing delivery within South Somerset and across the county are considered within 
this section.  A fuller list of these documents is summarised in Annex 1. 

Sub-national picture 

3.2 The Somerset Housing Strategy (2018) sets out the context for development in 
Somerset stating that Somerset does not have enough homes of all tenures and that 
there is a growing affordability gap with a growing private rented sector that is getting 
more difficult to afford.  Hinkley Point C, where there are 5,600 workers on site at 
peak construction, is also believed to be causing an increase in demand for all forms 
of accommodation, one and two bed properties in particular, which is understood to 
have fuelled rents.  The strategy also suggests that there are delays in construction 
at key sites due to market financial changes, and a skills shortage within the 
construction sector. 

3.3 The strategy sets out five priorities linked to housing and the economy, which are 
relevant to housing delivery. 

Priority 1: Maximise the number of affordable homes (all tenures).  By 

recognising affordable housing as a priority, provide leadership at the highest level to 

make this happen, ensuring authorities make use of all available funding streams 

from Central Government such as the Housing Infrastructure Fund and to deliver the 

necessary infrastructure to accelerate housing. 

Priority 2: Provide more affordable homes to support rural economies and 

communities.  Advocates councils promote land release for rural exception sites, 

increase the number of Community Land Trusts and improve the percentage of 

affordable housing delivery tied to Local Plan allocations.   

Priority 3: Increase the supply of homes.  Suggests that councils ensure a five-

year housing land supply to meet housing targets, maximise Hinkley Point C legacy 

benefits and work with One Public Estate and identify opportunities to reuse released 

land and buildings to meet housing needs. 

Priority 4: Upskill the local labour force.  Aligning activities with the Somerset 

Growth Plan and promote the establishment of a University, apprenticeships and a 

skills-based academy for the construction sector, increasing rates of custom and self-

build, and introducing off site / modular construction. 

Priority 5: Creating sustainable homes and places in Somerset.  Achieved by 

ensuring sustainability is at the heart of decision making and providing more homes 

that are healthy and affordable to run, and integrating low carbon design and 

resilience to the predicted impacts of climate change. 

  

Page 53



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  10 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

The Local Picture 

Local Plan – adopted 

3.4 The South Somerset Local Plan, adopted March 2015, contains a number of policies 
to guide the delivery of housing within the district.  Key policies include: 

• Policy SS1: Settlement Strategy.  Indicates that Yeovil is the prime focus of 

development for South Somerset.  Followed by the Primary Market Towns of Chard, 

Crewkerne, Ilminster and Wincanton and the Local Market Towns of Ansford/Castle 

Cary, Langport/Huish Episcopi and Somerton.  Finally, settlements such as Bruton, 

Ilchester, Martock/Bower Hinton, Milborne Port, South Petherton, and Stoke Sub 

Hamdon are categorised as rural centres, where development is expected to be 

much more limited. 

• Policy SS4: District-wide housing provision.  Seeks 15,950 dwellings in the plan 

period April 2006 – March 2028 inclusive (725 per annum) 

• Policy SS5: Delivering New Housing Growth. Of the 15,950 dwellings, 7,441 will 

be located within the Urban Framework of Yeovil and via two Sustainable Urban 

Extensions.  1,852 homes required within Chard, 961 in Crewkerne, 496 in Ilminster 

and 703 in Wincanton. Ansford/Castle Cary, Langport/Huish Episcopi and Somerton 

are expected to each provide 374 homes. 

• Policy HG1: Strategic Housing Site. This policy safeguards CLR Site, Crewkerne 

(KS/CREW/1) as a key residential site    

• Policy HG2: The Use of Previously Developed Land (PDL) for New Housing 

Development.  Which seeks a minimum of 40% of new development should be on 

previously developed land 

• Policy YV2: Yeovil Sustainable Urban Extensions. Sets out details of two urban 

extensions (one south and one north-east).  Both for approx. 800 dwellings, and both 

to include 2.58 ha of land for economic development with provision of a primary 

school, health and neighbourhood centre. 

• Policy PMT1: Chard Strategic Growth Area & PMT2: Chard Phasing. Details land 

allocated to provide at least 2,716 dwellings, 13 ha of employment land, 2 primary 

schools, 4 neighbourhood centres, Highway infrastructure and improvements and 

sports / open space provision.  PMT2: Chard Phasing indicates that 1,220 of the 

dwellings are expected in the plan period.   

• Policy HG3: Provision of Affordable Housing and Policy and HG4: Provision of 

Affordable Housing8 – Where it is viable to do so, the policy seeks 35% on sites of 

6 dwellings or above (or 0.2ha and above) in all locations.  For schemes of 1 to 5 

dwellings 5% is sought in Yeovil, Primary Market areas and Local Market areas and 

10% is sought elsewhere. 

Local Plan – emerging 

3.5 The Council has started the process of reviewing its Local Plan and in June 2019, 
published its Preferred Options Consultation for a new Plan (Regulation 18), for 2016 
to 2036.   The draft policies in the preferred options relevant to this study are: 

• A minimum of 14,322 dwellings (or c716 per annum9) – which is very similar in scale 

to the requirement in the current Plan 

 
8 Subject to amendments under NPPG on Planning Obligations 
9 Based on the Government Standard Methodology - https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-

assessments 

Page 54

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  11 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

• Target for affordable housing of 206 per annum, seeking 29% affordable housing on 

sites of 10+ dwellings – slightly below the current requirement (of 35%) but still with a 

strong emphasis on affordable/social rented homes (80% with 20% as intermediate 

affordable)10 

• A continuing concentration of new housing in the district’s main towns but to a slightly 

lesser extent than the current Plan (62% compared with 72%) and with Yeovil 

allocated around a third of the new homes as opposed to nearly a half in the current 

Plan 

• And a complementary increase in delivery in rural settlements/villages (27% in the 

emerging plan compared with 21% in the current Plan)  

• National Space Standards adopted but only for affordable housing 

3.6 There are a number of changes in national policy that the Council may need to reflect 
in the new Plan as it moves forward.  These will improve the quality of new housing 
but do have a cost implication and potential to dent the viability of new development.  
The key potential national changes in standards are: 

• Provision of net biodiversity gain –a legal requirement through the Environment Bill 

• Zero carbon – signalled in the government’s consultation document the Future 

Homes Standard11 (although most likely with interim targets over the life of the new 

Plan) 

• Electric vehicle charging points – a government consultation last yea12r, to include 

these in building regs for new build developments 

Other relevant local policies & strategies 

3.7 The Somerset Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) (2016) indicates that the 
objectively assessed housing need (OAN) per annum over the 2014-39 period is 
between 547 to 607 units and adjusted to take account of the affordability ratio13.  
The net need in South Somerset for affordable units across the same period is 206 
per annum and suggests that around 10-15% of housing should be of an 
intermediate tenure with the remainder being social or affordable rented housing. 
Without housing benefit, the SHMA indicates that a ‘reasonable tenure mix’ is 70% to  
80% social rented housing.14  The SHMA goes on to point out that,  

“Depending on views about the cost of Housing Benefit and related work incentives, 
the proportion of affordable rent could be increased at the expense of social rents.” 

  
We return to the issue of the balance between social rent and Affordable Rent in the 
future affordable housing supply, later on in the report. 
  

3.8 The SHMA also suggests that over the 2014-39 period that there may be a need for 
395 specialist units of accommodation for older people per annum.  This equates to 
about 17%-19% of all housing.  Additionally, the analysis highlights a potential need 
for an additional 186 registered care bedspaces across the same period.  This 

 
10 Please not that all Affordable housing for rent products (Social and Affordable Rent) are treated in the same category in 
Annex 2 of the NPPF and this is replicated in draft policy HG2 of the South Somerset Local Plan Review 2016-2036 
11 Consultation document published October 2019 - https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-future-homes-standard-
changes-to-part-l-and-part-f-of-the-building-regulations-for-new-dwellings 
12 Consultation document published July 2019 - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/818810/electric-vehicle-
charging-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings.pdf 
13 This is explained in the Preferred Option Consultation at para 5.34 
14 See 7.74 of the SHMA 

Page 55

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-future-homes-standard-changes-to-part-l-and-part-f-of-the-building-regulations-for-new-dwellings
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-future-homes-standard-changes-to-part-l-and-part-f-of-the-building-regulations-for-new-dwellings
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/818810/electric-vehicle-charging-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/818810/electric-vehicle-charging-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings.pdf


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  12 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

evidence is now being updated to inform the Local Plan Review via a joint Housing 
Needs Assessment with Somerset West and Taunton. 

3.9 The South Somerset Housing and Economic Land Supply (2018) identified 133 
housing sites in South Somerset that were suitable, available and achievable.  This 
process is in the process of being updated with a call for sites taking place 
February/March 2020. Currently 133 housing sites have potential to provide 9,271 
dwellings.  By settlement area these are 

• Yeovil: 18 sites, 3,396 dwellings (37% of total dwellings in South Somerset) 

• Primary Market Towns: 31 sites, 2,433 dwellings (26%) 

• Local Market Towns: 15 sites, 973 dwellings (11%) 

• Rural Centres: 17 sites, 855 dwellings (9%) 

• Rural Settlements: 52 sites, 1,614 dwellings (17%) 

3.10 Though the current Local Plan states a delivery rate of 725 dwellings per annum, in 

July 2018 the Government published guidance on a new Standardised Methodology 

for Assessing Housing Need, so the new calculation for SSDC is actually 684 per 

annum.  This will now be used to update the figure of 716 used in the recent 

consultation on the Local Plan Review following the Review and Adoption of the new 

Local Plan.  The recently updated HELAA Methodology 2020 provides a range of 

densities to be applied across different site typologies. SSDC HELAA confirms that 

the yield is based on 30 dwellings per hectare as this broadly reflects the average net 

density across the district of 28 dwelling per hectare (as indicated in the Local Plan 

para 10.23). 

3.11 Finally, the South Somerset ‘Our Vision for South Somerset’ Council Plan15 

(2020-2024) sets out 8 priority projects for 2019/20, one of which being “to develop 

proposals to accelerate the delivery of key housing sites and associated 

infrastructure”.  The outcome of this is: to provide sufficient housing of all tenures 

available to those who need it; allow stalled sites to be brought forward and improve 

connectivity with associated infrastructure.  The plan provides the following 

milestones for 2020/21: 

• Q1: Consider the findings of the report “Accelerating housing delivery in South 

Somerset” and develop an action plan based on the set of recommendations 

• Q2: Begin to implement the prioritised actions from the report 

(Milestones will be refined following the receipt of the options report) 

Summary 

3.12 The Somerset Housing Strategy (2018) and the Council Plan (2019/20) both 

recognise the need for a key change in order to deliver the housing required in South 

Somerset.  The adopted and emerging Local Plan are the key policy documents to 

guide both the amount and location of new delivery in the district.  The plans set out 

a similar number of housing required over the period they cover, at just over 700 

homes per annum.   

3.13 The adopted and emerging plan both concentrate delivery in urban locations, with the 

majority of development focussed in Yeovil although to a lesser extent in the 

emerging plan (47% in the adopted plan; 33% in the emerging plan).  The emerging 

 
15 https://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/media/3213/council-plan-20-21.pdf 

Page 56



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  13 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Local Plan contains, or is likely to contain a number of new policies that, with all other 

things being equal, are will likely to weaken the viability of development.   

  

Page 57



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  14 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

4. Delivery  

Five-Year land supply  

4.1 South Somerset District Council published its Five-Year Housing Land Supply in 
October 2019.16 In the Housing Delivery Test results published February 2019, SSDC 
achieved 104% and therefore has applied a 5% buffer in accordance with the 
requirements of the NPPF and NPPG. The Housing Delivery Test 2019 
measurement results were updated in February 202017 and SSDC achieved 97%. 
The following map provides the latest analysis of the Five-Year Housing Land Supply 
by Local Authority: 

Figure 4.1 Housing Delivery Test Results 2019 

 

 

4.2 The following table sets out the current position as published: 

Table 4.1 Five-year housing requirement 

 

 
16 https://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/media/2666/2019-5-year-report-and-schedule.pdf 
17 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-2019-measurement 

Page 58

https://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/media/2666/2019-5-year-report-and-schedule.pdf


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  15 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

4.3 Based upon the 2019 assessment of future housing land supply the Council has 
published a deliverable land supply of 4,711 dwellings which equates to just over 4.5 
years housing supply. 

4.4 The absence of a five-year supply of housing land is not necessary conclusive in 
favour of the grant of planning permission for proposals considered not in accordance 
with the Local Plan housing spatial planning policies and SSDC confirm that 
“Paragraph 11 of the NPPF is not irrefutable, and the analysis of material 
considerations may ‘on balance’ move the decision-maker away from the 
presumption in favour of the grant of planning permission”. 

4.5 Analysis of the 5-year land supply confirms that 960 of these units are located in the 
‘rest of the district’ whilst 1,187 are in Yeovil.  

4.6 In addition to the years 1-5 supply, SSDC considers that 1,941 units in Yeovil are in 
the years 6-10 which would indicate that there is a ready supply of units that are 
considered to be ‘developable’ over the next 10 years.  

4.7 This figure is consistent with the recent number of approvals in Yeovil but in order to 
maintain a 5-year land supply there will be a need to convert outline approvals into 
delivery.  

4.8 The adopted Local Plan is more than 5 years old (Adopted March 2015). SSDC will 
use the government’s standard methodology to calculate the annual housing need. 
Based on recent calculations this will be 685 dwellings per annum as opposed to the 
current 725. 

4.9 The standard methodology includes provision for any past under delivery. On that 
basis there is a much greater chance of SSDC having a 5 yr HLS when it is next 
calculated. 

4.10 However, due to the amendment of the definition of ‘deliverable’18 additional data 

gathering (including the effects of the current Corona virus) will have to be carried 

out.  

4.11 The Council should not be complacent however as the supply is likely to be 

challenged at appeal on the grounds of anticipated delivery and the status of Policy.  

4.12 It should be stressed that the Council still needs to be approving policy compliant 

planning applications. 

  

 
18 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment 

Page 59

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  16 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Table 4.2 Residential completions and commitments19 

 Settlement 
Current Local Plan 

Requirement 
Difference against 

Target 2019 
Performance against 

Local Plan Target 

Yeovil 7441  -1531  -3013  

Chard 1852  -367  -678  

Crewkerne 961  -205  175  

Illminster 496  -12  -110  

Wincanton  703  262  201  

Ansford/Castle Cary 374  -121  291  

Langport/Huish 
Episcopi 374  96  109  

Somerton 374  18  116  

Bruton 203  -3  -10  

Ilchster 141  -79  21  

Martock 230  -14  -16  

Milborne Port 279  67  26  

South Petherton 229  114  92  

Stoke Sub Hamdon 51  8  32  

Rural Settlements 2242  418  834  

        

Total 15950  -1349  -1930  

 

Delivery against Local Plan policies  

4.13 We have carried out an analysis of approvals, completions and what was stated in 
the historic 5-year land supply reports to assess the strength of the relationship 
between permissions granted and completions. The following table (4.3a) shows 
approvals each year, the 5-year land supply position published each year and the 
output in terms of completions.  Table 4.3b provides details of approvals by 
settlement. 

Table 4.3a Annual approvals and delivery 

What did 5yls 
say would take 
place 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

2015/16       865 929 783 1059 838         

2016/17         630 908 916 1127 973       

2017/18           660 1099 894 952 1008     

2018/19             681 1155 1010 783 772   

2019/2020               1049 1228 1009 610 558 

Completions 528 511 770 606 616 563 650           

                    

Approvals     500 331 1730 792 2389      

 
19 Data taken from SSDC Annual Monitoring Table 22 ‘Residential completions and commitments against Local Plan 
Requirements’, 

Page 60



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  17 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

 

Table 4.3b Approvals by year by settlement 

Settlement 

Number of 

dwellings 

approved 

1st April 

2014 – 31st 

March 

2015 

 

Number of 

dwellings 

approved 1st 

April 2015 – 

31st March 

2016 

 

Number of 

dwellings 

approved 1st 

April 2016 – 

31st March 2017 

 

Number of 

dwellings 

approved 1st 

April 2017 – 

31st March 

2018 

 

Number of 

dwellings approved  

1st April 2018 – 31st 

March 2019 

 

Yeovil  76 65 470 78 882 

Chard 54 12 135 92 260 

Crewkerne 66 0 127 1 45 

Ilminster 10 4 20 0 93 

Wincanton 10 5 21 6 65 

Ansford/ 

Castle Cary 
3 6 278 104 127 

Langport/ 

Huish Episcopi 
10 9 19 5 104 

Somerton 14 17 76 31 185 

Bruton 3 1 71 2 3 

Ilchester 0 6 5 0 0 

Martock/ 

Bower Hinton 
36 1 8 59 30 

Milborne Port 34 8 11 5 47 

South 

Petherton 
9 6 15 20 42 

Stoke-sub-

Hamdon 
19 0 30 0 28 

Rural 

Settlements 

(includes 

Villages) 

156 191 444 389 478 

Total 500 331 1730 792 2389 

 

4.14 It can be seen that from 2012/13 to 2018/19 completions have averaged 606 units 
per annum. Our review of the historic 5-year land supply reports indicates that the 
Council’s predicted delivery would be at 899 units per annum and therefore the 
Council are overestimating the supply of homes.  

Page 61



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  18 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

4.15 In addition, over the last 5 years, approvals were at an average rate of 1,148 units 
per annum. 

4.16 This information indicates that: 

• Around 78% of predicted approvals over a 5-year period translate into actual 

completions; 

• Completions each year are averaging about 52% of approvals each year. 

4.17 This would imply one of two things: 

• To meet a requirement of 725 units per annum, approvals need to be at a level 

of about 1,394 units per annum (to allow for a drop-out rate of c.48%) 

• There are sufficient permissions being granted but they are not being turned into 

completions within a 5-year period – an increased ‘translation’ rate is required. 

4.18 In practise it is going to be a combination of the two that will lead to increased 
delivery. More approvals are needed, and those units permitted need to be brought 
to market quicker.  

4.19 This more pessimistic assessment of deliverability might lead to a short term drop in 
the 5-year land supply figures and SSDC should use the amendment to the housing 
number as an opportunity to test this approach. 

Local Delivery  

Overview 

4.20 Our analysis confirms that the market has not been delivering in Yeovil, Chard, 
Crewkerne, Ansford & Castle Cary, Somerton or Ilchester as much as the targets 
require (set out in Table 4.2). However significant numbers of approvals have been 
granted in Ansford and Castle Cary which would indicate that in this area they have 
not been built out. 

4.21 Sufficient planning permissions (set out in Table 4.4) have been granted to “meet the 
target” in Crewkerne, Ansford & Castle Cary, Somerton and Ilchester, but the 
dwellings have not been built. It is expected that during the 2019/20 financial year 
additional completions in the Ansford and Castle Cary area will be reported. 

4.22 In some settlements the market is buoyant and houses have been built at a “greater 
than target” rate.  This is true for Wincanton, Langport & Huish Episcopi, Milborne 
Port and South Petherton.  

4.23 The Council’s monitoring team do carry out proactive research with developers who 
are on site by asking them to complete a ‘large site survey’ report each year. We 
have not carried out a full analysis of this information but a brief review suggests that 
developers are sometimes more optimistic than the actual outcome.  To aid the 
effectiveness of future monitoring, we are proposing that a track-back is carried out 
each year that compares what developers said would happen versus what actually 
happened.  This would help to provide more accurate forecasts of delivery going 
forward, confirm whether it is the ‘forecast sites’ that are actually delivering rather 
than unforeseen windfall sites and to highlight where particular schemes or types of 
scheme under-perform against developer expectations. We have included this in the 
recommendations as an action. 

  

Page 62



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  19 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Yeovil 

4.24 In the 12 years from 2006 to 2018 completions took place at an average rate of 220 
per annum. This compares with a notional requirement of 338 (2006 to 2028). 

4.25 Over the last 5 years approvals in Yeovil have been at an average of 314 dwellings 
per annum but with significant peaks in 2016/17 and 2018/19. There are also major 
planning applications which, at the time of writing, have a ‘resolution to grant’ but no 

formal decision issued.  These are 15/01000/OUT (Land at Keyford Dorchester 
Road Yeovil) and 14/02554/OUT (Upper Mudford Primrose Lane Yeovil) which 
may add up to an additional 1,500 units but only in outline. The number of existing 
commitments now stands at c2,500 units (and could rise to over 4,000 units were the 
above applications approved) which would indicate (on the basis of previous 
completion rates) over 11 years of delivery “banked”. 

4.26 This represents a significant amount of the overall housing requirement and in terms 
of increasing the rate of delivery, actions that accelerate delivery of these 
permissions would have a major impact on the overall delivery rate across the 
district.  

Other main towns, market towns and rural areas 

4.27 The following table provides details of approvals in the other main towns and average 
completions over the period 2006 to 2018. In the right-hand column we indicate the 
number of years ‘worth’ of approvals, assuming that current build-out rates are 
sustained. 

Table 4.4 Annual approvals and delivery in the main towns, market towns and 

rural areas 

Town Average 
approvals over 

5 years to 
2018/19 

Peak year and 
no.s of 

approvals 

Completions 
Average 2006-

2018 

Number of 
years delivery 

at this rate 
could be 

maintained 

Chard 110 260 in 2018/19 55 13 

Crewkerne 47 127 in 2016/17 29 25 

Ilminster 25 93 in 2018/19 23 8 

Wincanton 21 65 in 2018/19 54 6 

Local Market 
Towns and Rural 
Centres 

629 1,044 in 
2018/19 

235 27 

 

4.28 The table indicates considerable variation across the towns and rural areas in terms 
of the number of years ‘worth’ of approvals.  In Ilminster and Wincanton, the limited 
supply levels indicate that, to promote diversity and continuation of housing delivery, 
additional allocations should be made over the longer term.  However in Chard, 
Crewkerne and the smaller settlements average consents have exceeded recent 
delivery by 100% or more, suggesting that these locations should be added to the list 
of locations where accelerated delivery of outstanding consents would assist with the 
district’s overall delivery rate. 

Small Sites (under 10 dwellings) 

4.29 Our analysis of small sites does not indicate that there is a supply issue.  The 5-year 
land supply relies on an average of 206 units being delivered on smaller sites (28% 
of total). This could represent a small risk to the 5-year supply and is hard to control 

Page 63



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  20 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

without significant resources. 36% of these sites are permissions for 1 unit which 
equates to 10% of the overall housing requirement. 

4.30 We would recommend that a more cautious approach is taken to the inclusion of 
small sites within the 5-year land supply in areas where values and costs are more 
constrained such as Yeovil, Crewkerne, Langport, Martock and Wincanton.  

4.31 We also recommend that further work is done in data cleansing sites (subject to 
resources) where permission was granted (in some cases as far back as 1990) 
where completions have either not occurred, or monitoring has not caught up with 
site progress. 

Affordable housing delivery  

4.32 The current Local Plan policy seeks 35% on sites of 6 dwellings or above (or 0.2ha 
and above) and 5% in schemes of 1 to 5 dwellings in Yeovil, Primary Market areas 
and Local Market areas and 10% elsewhere.  The amount of affordable housing 
delivered over recent years is significantly below this level as set out in the following 
table. However, it should be noted that, since adoption of the Local Plan, the 
NPPF/NPPG requirements for planning obligations has been updated so that they 
should only be sought for residential developments of 10 or more dwellings.20  This 
change will have had an impact on overall delivery levels. 

Table 4.5 Affordable Housing Completions 

 

4.33 Over the seven years 2012/13 to 2018/19, affordable housing completions 
represented 17.9% of total completions which reflects the fact that a significant 
amount of delivery has been from smaller sites that are not required to provide 
Affordable Housing.  Although there have been variations in the contribution of 
affordable housing to overall housing delivery year on year, the rate of completions 
has only exceeded 20% in two years and in one year (2016/17) was below 10%. 

 
20 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations 

Page 64

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  21 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Table 4.6 Affordable housing delivered as a % of overall delivery21 

  Total completions 

Affordable 
housing 
completions (net) 

Affordable 
housing as % total  

2012/13 525 90 17.1% 

2013/14 511 102 20.0% 

2014/15 770 181 23.5% 

2015/16 606 128 21.1% 

2016/17 616 48 7.8% 

2017/18 563 86 15.3% 

2018/19 650 126 19.4% 

      17.9% 

 

4.34 The Council makes use of a broad range of affordable tenures.  The next table sets 
out the affordable housing programme for 2014/15 to 2020/21.  This includes historic 
‘actual’ delivery and two years (2019/20 and 2020/21) which are programme 
estimates.  

Table 4.7 Affordable housing by tenure 

 

4.35 Very approximately, two thirds of the recent affordable housing supply is for rent 
(below the level of the local housing allowance) and a third is intermediate (sale) 
housing.  Social rent units have been contributing about a quarter of all affordable 
housing supply with 37% as Affordable Rent.  The important difference between 
social and Affordable Rent being the higher rent typical of the latter (but not above 
80% of open market rents). 

4.36 The mix of rented units achieved differs from the high level assessment set out in the 
2016 Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) which indicates that a 
reasonable tenure mix for affordable housing across the County is22: 

• 10-15% - intermediate housing 

• 10-15% - affordable rented housing 

• 70-80% - social rented housing 

 
21 Source SSDC 
22 Mendip, Sedgemoor, South Somerset and Taunton Deane, Strategic Housing Market Assessment, JG 

Consulting, October 2016, page  

Social rent

Affordable 

rent

Shared 

ownership/ 

Intermediate

Affordable 

Rent to Buy Total

2014/15 26 116 41 183

2015/16 48 38 42 128

2016/17 9 26 13 48

2017/18 10 32 27 69

2018/19 43 24 55 4 126

2019/20 81 46 47 87 261

2020/21 59 115 74 7 255

Total 276 397 299 98 1070

% by tenure 26% 37% 28% 9%

Page 65



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  22 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

4.37 The SHMA goes on to note that, “Depending on views about the cost of Housing 
Benefit and related work incentives, the proportion of affordable rent could be 
increased at the expense of social rents.”23 

4.38 The SHMA is hinting that the Council could take the view that the additional cost for 
the occupier of Affordable Rent could be accommodated by Universal Credit. Given 
that many occupiers of rented affordable housing rely on housing benefit/universal 
credit, the choice between social rent and Affordable Rent makes little impact on 
affordability. To provide some context, and as a very broad guide, somewhere 
around 56% of tenants in the social rented stock are housing benefit 
claimants24.  This is not the same as the proportion of tenants taking up new 
properties who will be claiming housing benefits.  The high level of need to gain 
priority to secure a new home suggests that a much higher proportion will be claiming 
benefit.  In addition, RPs already have considerable amounts of social rent existing 
stock for tenants that may need this type of housing.   

4.39 Against this view of the role of social rent is the concern that households in 
Affordable Rent (with its higher rental levels) can get ‘trapped’ through the Universal 
Credit system as benefit is withdrawn if household income increases (for example, 
when taking up employment).   

4.40 For funding purposes, social rent housing is not supported by Homes England grants 
in South Somerset because the area does not meet the requirements (based on 
relative incomes and property values as set out in the Capital funding guide25) and its 
inclusion in mixed tenure development tends to reduce scheme viability.  We 
undertook a very high-level analysis of the difference in the value of social rent and 
Affordable Rent housing to a development i.e. the difference in the amount that a RP 
can afford to pay a developer for a similar unit.  Using a 2 bed house as the example, 
the difference in rents (of about £25 per week) leads to a difference of c£20,000 per 
unit in what can be ‘paid’ by an RP for a social rent and an affordable rent unit. This 
will have quite a considerable impact on scheme viability. 

4.41 Drawing these differing factors together, it is important that the Council is fully aware 
of the trade-off between potentially higher levels of delivery of Affordable Rent homes 
versus fewer social rent units but with lower rents paid by occupiers (for those who 
do not rely on Universal Credit to meet all or part of their rent).  This is a policy choice 
for the Council but does impact on the potential to increase housing delivery rates.  
The choice will be important for policies in the updated Local Plan and should be 
tested as part of the viability evidence base for the plan. 

4.42 The choice between social and Affordable Rent should not be considered only on a 
district-wide basis.  The SHMA itself, which provides high-level evidence at one point 
in time, highlights that, “In determining policies for affordable housing provision on 
individual sites, the analysis should be brought together with other local evidence 
such as from the Housing Register.”  Alongside information about the availability of 
social rented housing in a locality, the housing associations themselves have 
valuable intelligence about localised need for different tenures and can play an 
important role in advising on scheme specific affordable housing requirements.  This 
point also applies to the size of affordable dwellings in a scheme. 

4.43 As part of flexibility about tenures, there may be instances where affordable housing 
could be delivered through developers providing serviced parcels of land through 

 
23 Ibid para 7.75 
24 Data source, - total number of HB claimants as at May 2018 from DWP data and Census 2011 number of households in 
social rent. We recognise that the two data sources are from different years and the Census data is now somewhat aged – 
hence the comment in the text that this percentage is a high-level estimate/ 
25 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/capital-funding-guide. 

Page 66



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  23 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

s106 instead of completed units, and this can be combined with grant and/or 
commuted sums to deliver the units.  In addition to the s106 affordable housing, it is 
likely that there will need to be an increase in direct delivery through affordable-led 
schemes and this will require funding support and/or intervention by the Council. 

Housing Supply  

4.44 It is understood that the Council regularly surveys developers as to likely 
development rates and uses this information to inform statements on land supply and 
Local Plan policy. However, an annual survey or similar does not necessarily provide 
a complete picture as is evidenced by the disconnect in the numbers of dwellings 
predicted to be completed and achieved as explained earlier in this report. 
Housebuilders and LPA’s will often ‘talk-up’ delivery as it is in their interest to present 
a favourable picture to investors and often the Council. The Council need to 
recognise that the market can only absorb so much development and the key to 
maintaining supply is not necessarily the number of permissions but also the type 
and the range. A specialist delivery team has been proven elsewhere26 to help 
councils understand their local market and be able to scrutinise the evidence being 
provided by developers, with a knowledge of the sites (e.g. infrastructure constraints) 
and whether the targets are achievable. The interaction and regular contact with 
developers will help build this knowledge and consequently assist in a more robust 
approach to predicting build out rates and removing or moving sites further forward in 
the trajectory as set out in paragraph 4.1 onwards. 

Covid-19 

4.45 In terms of Covid-19 and potential impacts a recent appeal 
(APP/X0360/W/19/323804827) has reviewed the potential impact in terms of land 
supply and delivery of development. The appellant concluded that the effects would 
be felt for a 3 to 6 month period, which the Inspector considered was not 
unreasonable. The Inspector, whilst acknowledging that the delay to delivery may be 
optimistic, also put forward that it was possible a bounce back will occur as it would 
be in the interest of any housebuilder to rectify as soon as possible. Therefore it 
would seem that the Inspector is accepting that there will be an impact and that this 
should be taken into account but that should be cautioned with potential for the 
impacts to be overcome, so perhaps a minimal allowance (in this appeal 3% of the 
supply was taken out to calculate the 5yr land supply to account for Covid19) for 
delay is appropriate at the current time. 

Summary 

4.46 Latest figures published regarding land supply reveals that the Council has a land 
supply equal to just over 4.5 years.  Larger settlements such as Yeovil and Chard, 
where a considerable amount of the delivery of new homes is being guided, show 
lower than expected completion rates.   

4.47 Our analysis of completions and approvals suggest that just over half of the amount 
of approvals being granted are being translated into completions.  This is particularly 
true of in Crewkerne, Ansford & Castle Cary, Somerton and Ilchester, where 
permissions are being granted but not yet built out.  To meet the delivery targets, the 
chapter recommends either increasing the amount of permissions or ensuring more 
permissions are translated to completions, or a combination of the two. 

 
26 See section 6 
27 APP/X0360/W/19/3238048 Land north of Nine Mile Ride, Finchampstead, Berkshire, 9 April 2020 

Page 67



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  24 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

4.48 The Council has ambitious targets for the delivery of affordable housing but actual 
levels of delivery remain at about half the Local Plan target.  The Council continues 
to plan for a proportion of affordable housing as social rented units that reduce the 
value of affordable housing in mixed tenure schemes.  While this form of housing 
provides the lowest housing costs for those on the lowest incomes, it is suggested 
that more flexibility in tenures is considered especially where there may be viability 
issues and that this is tested as part of the viability evidence base for the new Local 
Plan. 

4.49 The potential impact of Covid-19 on housing supply is recognised and a recent 
appeal has concluded that there will be short term impact but that housebuilders 
would seek to regain delivery rates as soon as possible and that there would be a 
minimal impact on long-term supply.   

 

  

Page 68



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  25 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

5. Issues affecting delivery rates 

Introduction 

5.1 In addition to discussions with Council officers the study process has included a set 
of fourteen face to face and telephone interviews with the development industry 
active in South Somerset.  These have been used to explore issues identified by the 
housing delivery data and the Council officers.  The interviews included: 

• Land developers 

• Regional and national housebuilders 

• Other development industry organisations 

• Registered providers (mix of workshop and individual discussion) 

• Homes England 

5.2 While the discussions were tailored to the activities for individual organisations, the 
discussions typically covered issues with delivery on South Somerset sites where the 
organisation was involved as well as views on the broader issues affecting 
development in the district and ways in which delivery may be accelerated.  This 
included the organisation’s interest in further developments in South Somerset.   

5.3 A tabular summary of the issues raised in the consultations can be seen at Appendix 
4, and these discussions are reflected in the discussion in this section of the report. 

Market and viability limitations 

Market Values 

5.4 Price paid data from Land Registry was analysed to explore the relationship of house 
prices in South Somerset to those of the other Somerset districts and adjacent Dorset 
districts28.  Values were assessed at ward level.  Where there are less than 5 records 
of new build sales, we have based the ward values by adjusting the median market 
value for second-hand sales by the percentage uplift to newbuild values at the district 
level.  These ‘interpreted’ values are indicated by overlain stripes. 

5.5 The house price data shows that while values in Yeovil are relatively low (only 
Minehead had similarly low values within the comparison areas), most of the district 
has comparable or higher values than the comparator areas.  There is a general 
trend for values to increase north to south and to be higher to the east than the west– 
with Yeovil itself bucking this trend. 

 
28 Sales values were matched with floor areas from EPCs. Not all locations had new build sales. 

Page 69



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  26 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Figure 5.1 Newbuild house prices 

 

  

Planning Obligations 

5.6 The level of planning obligations may have an impact on delivery if the cumulative 
effect renders development unviable.  The current Local Plan has relatively few 
policies that may have an impact on viability, although 35% affordable housing is 
required in all locations irrespective of value area29.  However, the CIL rate does 
vary, and there is a £0 rate for the urban extensions for Yeovil and Chard, with all 
other residential development at £40/sq m.  

5.7 Affordable housing is typically the largest component of planning obligations, 
although recent guidance on Education contributions has increased the policy 
requirements nationally and locally.  South Somerset has a headline target of 35% 
across the district although this is not always achieved as was described in detail in 
the previous chapter.   

5.8 National policy changes affecting viability within revisions to NPPF in 2018 and to 
PPG (2018 and 2019) include: 

 
29 We note that c.15% is delivered on many negotiated sites 

Page 70



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  27 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

• Reducing the opportunity for landowners and developers to exploit viability 

arguments to maximise land value and drive profits at the expense of planning 

obligations, with the removal of the ‘willing landowner and willing developer’ and 

the focus on viability at the plan making stage. 

• Standardised set of viability testing inputs 

• Existing use value plus a premium to establish benchmark land values 

• Increased emphasis given to education infrastructure funding 

5.9 These national policy changes will have an impact on how viability is considered in 
South Somerset, and the increased emphasis on education contributions may 
increase the costs to development.  Other proposed changes include: 

• Net biodiversity gain - not national policy yet but will increase the cost to 

development if implemented. 

• Zero carbon the government has been consulting on changes to Building 

Regulations which will reduce carbon emissions – again these changes will 

increase the cost to development if implemented. 

• The installation of Electric Vehicle charging points (as a component of Building 

Regulations) - also a draft Local Plan Review policy 

5.10 We have also carried out a review of the South Somerset Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan. The latest available online document is from 201630. In addition to this the 
Council have provided us with a working document dated 2019 which confirms the 
spending priorities in categories 1-3.  The following table shows the Priority 1 items 
listed within the 2019 table and the total infrastructure requirement per unit based on 
the number of units planned for. 

Table 5.1 Infrastructure requirements per dwelling – 2019 IDP - Working 

Document 

Location Total 
Dwellings 
planned 

Total requirement per 
dwelling 

Ansford/Castle Cary £855,000 727 £1,176 

Chard £18,918,919 1995 £9,483 

Crewkerne £7,500,000 1194 £6,281 

Illminster £1,390,000 839 £1,656 

Lanport/Huish Episcopi £100,000 351 £284 

Somerton £0 574 £0 

Yeovil £35,163,000 5091 £6,906 

Total Priority 1 £63,926,919 10771 £5,935 

 

5.11 The locations where the most development is planned under the current Local Plan 
are Yeovil, Chard and Crewkerne.  These have the highest infrastructure cost per 
dwelling (approximately £6,300-£9,500/dwelling).  As noted above, values in Yeovil 
are generally low, and table 5.1 shows that Crewkerne is also relatively low value.  
Chard values are in or above the middle of the spread of values.  If some or all of 
these infrastructure costs are to be funded through developer contributions, then 
viability will be affected.   

 
30 https://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/media/1219/j-plan_pol-web-site-2018-cil-cil_regulation_123_list_november_2016.docx  

Page 71

https://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/media/1219/j-plan_pol-web-site-2018-cil-cil_regulation_123_list_november_2016.docx


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  28 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

5.12 We have been provided with details of recent planning obligations sought on major 
applications over the past two years. It is clear that the contributions sought are much 
higher than originally anticipated with Chard, Crewkerne and Yeovil being the three 
highest. This has been due, partly, to the increased education requirements 
requested by Somerset County Council. 

5.13 SSDC’s CIL rate was based on an assumed s106 contribution figure of approximately 
£4,800 per dwellings.  Our analysis of the contributions sought indicates that recent 
applications have been asked to provide up to £15,000 per unit in contributions.  This 
level of increase will need to be reflected in the next plan viability assessment.   

5.14 We do highlight that some of the recent approvals have been outline applications 
sitting outside the policy framework where developers are adhering to the policy 
requirements in order to secure permissions (set against a land price that will be 
lower due to sites not being allocated). We also consider that as these applications 
move through the process of reserve matters further negotiations (when the costs of 
development are fully known) will take place.  

5.15 In the specific case of affordable housing, where there is a proven viability issue with 
a site and a policy compliant scheme cannot be achieved, it is open to the provider to 
approach Homes England for funding for additional affordable housing.  This source 
of funding can prove very useful in securing higher levels of affordable housing in 
new developments but Homes England will need to be assured that their funding is 
not effectively being used to cross subsidise other planning obligations e.g. education 
provision.  But funding can only be applied for after a s106 agreement is signed and it 
is important that the wording of the agreement will ensures that the developer uses 
‘reasonable endeavours’ to use the HE grant to secure the additional affordable 
housing.  This highlights the importance for the Council of maintaining effective 
working relationships with both HE and locally active housing associations. 

Industry views on Market and Viability Limitations 

5.16 Discussions with the development industry about the issues of values and viability 
suggests that: 

• Lower values will reduce margins (either landowner and/or housebuilder) and 

this can leave development vulnerable to the impacts of additional constraints 

e.g. site constraints or planning obligations. 

• Lower house prices are not necessarily a problem so long as the landowner 

expectations reflect this differential; and that there is an appropriate process for 

negotiating planning obligations with the local authority when sites have specific 

additional constraints.   

• The rates of delivery by housebuilders on sites in Yeovil vary although they 

include reported individual delivery of 80-90 dwellings pa (market and affordable 

housing combined) – showing that despite lower values, the market is able to 

absorb new dwellings and that it is broadly viable for housebuilders to operate. 

• Housing associations continue to be interested in s106 housing and in some 

cases, taking forward mixed tenure development schemes in South Somerset. 

• There are specific instances where there are viability issues that are seemingly 

not addressed and that these may delay or halt delivery once thresholds for 

infrastructure provision have been reached. 

5.17 The consultations have indicated that the availability of third-party funding (grant or 
loan) is able to reduce peak borrowing and risk to development, which can speed 

Page 72



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  29 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

up/maintain delivery rates.  Funding can also avoid stalled delivery as development 
hits thresholds for infrastructure provision. 

Viability evidence base and capability 

5.18 The most recent area-wide viability assessment was in 2015, as part of the CIL 
evidence base, with no recent area-wide viability study that could be used as a guide 
for the factors affecting viability in different parts of the district, the impact of different 
levels of s106 or site infrastructure, or the proposed changes to building regulations 
and for biodiversity net gain.  In addition, there is no in-house viability capacity. A 
plan-wide viability assessment of the Local Plan requirements is going to be 
commissioned. This will include a review of CIL. 

Control of land 

5.19 Information on the current Local Plan and the new Local Plan review sites indicates 
that control is within a limited set of organisations31: 

• Across South Somerset, approximately 50% of the 10.5k dwellings supply is with 

three organisations 

• In Yeovil almost two-thirds of the 4.5k dwellings supply is effectively controlled by 

two organisations 

Figure 5.2 South Somerset Land Control 

 

 
31 Based on discussions with officers and where possible, confirmed with interviewees 

Page 73



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  30 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Figure 5.3 Yeovil Land Control 

 

5.20 While the key organisations include businesses that are well-rooted in the District and 
who have a stake in local prosperity, the concentration of land control leaves housing 
delivery vulnerable to the business models of a limited number of organisations.  
There may be benefits from negotiating the split of key large sites in order to allow 
more players in the market (especially in Yeovil) although it is understood that in 
order to make progress there may also need to be viability and/or infrastructure 
funding discussions, as noted in discussion above. We recommend that a regular 
review of land ownership/control is carried out as part of the ‘deliverable’ assessment 
element of the 5 year land supply. 

5.21 Outside the main settlements in the district, there have been a number of outline 
consents given to sites that are promoted by landowners without any obvious 
development partner.  Whilst obtaining consent will increase the value of the land 
asset it may not necessarily add to housing delivery in the short term and this is 
picked up later. 

Development management process  

Process 

5.22 Consultations with the development industry indicate improvements they would wish 
to see in the development management process and which included: 

• Applicants have stated that the officer resources are insufficient to deal with 

applications quickly and in some cases, effectively.  Officers are generally regarded 

as realistic and flexible, but tight on resources – and seen as overly reliant on agency 

staff. As a result, it was suggested that applications can be delayed and that officers 

are not able to effectively ‘police’ statutory and other consultees. 

• If resources were available there are some sites where proactive contact with 

developers by planning officers may be able to maintain or speed up delivery rates. 

• Applicants expect that officers will have the time to chase consultees and other 

organisations involved in the process in order to prepare a timely submission to 

planning committees, and to challenge consultees views in order to strive towards a 

full understanding of the planning balance.   

• A number of interviews considered that where officers were under pressure, they 

were obliged to function as ‘post boxes’ for consultees, with some misunderstandings 

included in officer reports as a result and that this leads to further delays.   

Page 74



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  31 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

5.23 A review of the number of applications received by the Council shows that in 
comparison with a number of other planning authorities in south west England, a 
relatively high number of applications are received.  It is appreciated that the real 
workload comparison is more nuanced with application type and staffing being 
important considerations in providing a robust comparison but this information is not 
readily available. The simple picture of application numbers therefore should be 
treated as no more than illustrative of workload at SSDC but does imply a relatively 
high level of planning application activity for the Council. 

Figure 5.4 Planning applications – Year ending September 2019 

 

5.24 Consultees also noted that the two-tier committee structure meant that the number of 
committee meetings requiring officers to attend was relatively high, and that this put 
further strain on the resources available.   

5.25 Overall, the comments about resources have been widespread across most of the 
interviews undertaken, with applicants seeking a comprehensive timely service and 
they have linked this with housing delivery. While further resources have been 
suggested by interviewees as a solution, there may be other responses in terms of 
Council systems and processes that may achieve the same outcomes.  We are 
aware that the Council has been undergoing a transformation process and from the 
narrow perspective of housing delivery we suggest that it is important that this 
transformation addresses the issue of resources and service to applicants. 

Committees 

5.26 The two-tier committee structure as operated in South Somerset was considered by 
many of the consultees to delay housing delivery through the quality and speed of 
decision making.  Specific issues raised by consultees included32: 

• Local political issues having an undue influence within area committees. 

• A lack of appropriate planning awareness within some committee members 

meaning that decisions on applications are not made on a planning basis. 

• Examples of a lack of respect for planning officers’ advice by some committee 

members. 

 
32 See Annex 4 

Page 75



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  32 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

• Training requirements and inclusion of substitutions. 

5.27 A brief analysis of the planning decisions taken by committees shows that overall, the 
numbers of applications recommended for approval is the same as the number of 
applications approved by the committees.  However, within this headline there are 
some clear indications that committee members are determining applications against 
officer recommendation for larger sites, which would appear to confirm the industry 
consultation views that the committee system operation may not be optimal.  This 
situation is more pronounced when reserved matters applications are excluded and 
only outline applications are considered: 

• For all applications both officers and committees recommended/approved 78% 

of applications – but officers recommended 99% of dwellings for approval whilst 

committees approved 68% of dwellings 

• Excluding reserved matters, both officers and committees 

recommended/approved 76% of applications – but officers recommended 98% of 

dwellings for approval whilst committees approved 55% of dwellings 

5.28 We have not tracked the committee decisions back to whether the applications were 
within or outside the development plan, but the main issue here is that the 
committees have shown they were regularly taking decisions against officer 
recommendations (which would apply to either type of application). 

Table 5.2 Application officer recommendations and committee approvals 2019 

Totals 

Count (new 
dwellings 
applications) 

Count (new 
dwellings 
applications) 
% 

Proposed 
number of 
dwellings 

Proposed 
number of 
dwellings 
% 

Planning applications - 
committee decision 46   1313   

Permitted 36 78% 888 68% 

Refused 10 22% 425 32% 

Officers recommendations         

Permitted 36 78% 1298 99% 

Refused 10 22% 15 1% 

Totals excluding Reserved 
Matters         

Planning applications (exc 
RM) - committee decision 42   952   

Permitted 32 76% 527 55% 

Refused 10 24% 425 45% 

Officers recommendations 
(exc RM)         

Permitted 32 76% 937 98% 

Refused 10 24% 15 2% 

 

5.29 Consultation with the development industry and with Council officers has shown that 
the committee decision making has resulted in undefended and lost appeals, and that 
the Council has been contacted by PAS in 2017 about approaching the ‘quality 

Page 76



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  33 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

decisions’ threshold33.  The process of losing appeals also serves to delay the 
development concerned and has the risk of reputational damage to the Council. 

5.30 Many of the comments have focussed on the area committees.  It is apparent that in 
addition to acting as the first committee for most planning applications these 
committees play a wider role in the decision taking for Council services at a local 
level, and this work has not revealed issues with the way the wider role has been 
executed.  Some of the views expressed include the suggestion that the area 
committees should be tasked with dealing with minor planning applications and 
developments below the major development threshold (10 dwellings). We agree that 
this suggestion is worth considering as major applications can then be determined by 
the regulation committee, which is less influenced by localised political pressure.  
Alternatively, the current system could be reformed to ensure that it operates as 
intended although the feedback received through this work suggests that the area 
committee structure may be intrinsically vulnerable to local political issues. 

5.31 The issues faced by original applications making progress through the district’s 
planning process is replicated by any renegotiation or other amendments.  It is 
reported by those we spoke to that difficulties experienced have meant that in some 
cases applicants have elected to slow delivery rather than take the time to resolve 
issues. 

5.32 The Local Plan review is currently behind the original published timetable (LDS) and 
its production is holding up the implementation of sustainable policies to guide 
development over the forthcoming years. The function sits within the Strategy and 
Commissioning Directorate, where there is limited resource to carry out this work.  

Other process issues 

5.33 In addition to the resource and committee issues discussed above, the consultation 
has identified other issues that delay development through the planning process.   

• The interviews noted that the lack of in-house legal resource and the lack of a 

basic standardised s106 agreement means that once there is a resolution to 

grant consent, there is often further delay.   It is understood that SSDC is having 

problems recruiting in-house lawyers which means planning staff can find it 

difficult to access expertise. It is our experience that being physically able to 

access staff accelerates the legal process. 

• Some consultees are clearly looking for a speedier service in progressing 

planning applications and are willing to pay more to achieve it.  Examples raised 

in interviews include PPAs, better access to statutory consultees, allowing heads 

of terms to be progressed alongside applications etc.   

5.34 Overall, there are a set of process issues that could streamline some parts of the 
application process and in the light of the links made by interviewees between 
process and housing delivery, these would be worth considering by the Council.  The 
ability to cover costs through additional charges to applicants would also be worth 
exploring, particularly in the light of the resources issue discussed above. 

Open for business 

5.35 The process of consultation with the development industry active in South Somerset 
has shown that the different businesses remain interested in their current and future 
development opportunities in the district.  While there are different business models, 

 
33 Under the special measures regime introduced in 2013, authorities that have ten per cent or more of either major or non-
major planning decisions overturned at appeal over a two-year period  face special measures designation, which includes the 
prospect of applicants being able to submit plans directly to the Planning Inspectorate. 

Page 77



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  34 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

in general the organisations contacted sought to maintain or increase the rate of 
housing delivery.  However, there are some issues of varying importance to different 
organisations that are in addition to the points discussed earlier in this section that 
could add to the attractiveness of development in the district and demonstrate that it 
is ‘open for business’: 

• Site prospectus – an easy to access portfolio of sites that are available for 

development may be of use to some housebuilders and potentially may increase 

the pool of developers active in the district, thereby increasing delivery.  This 

could be drawn from the SHLAA and sent to developers outside the local area. 

• Clear communication about the extent of planning obligations on sites will 

provide clarity to developers/housebuilders as well as managing landowner 

expectations. This would need to include county as well as district obligations.    

• A listing of RPs active in the district would enable developers and housebuilders 

new to the area easy access to discussion about affordable tenures and transfer 

values, and speed discussions with landowners about site value.  Currently, this 

is not listed on the Council website and there is not any clear mechanism for any 

other provider to be involved (i.e. community land trusts or non-registered 

providers who can deliver small shared ownership schemes). 

5.36 In addition to these potential short-term measures, the medium-term process of 
generating a new Local Plan will allow better testing of infrastructure delivery to 
support allocations within the Local Plan based on actual housing figures.  This will 
then allow sites to be brought forward under the next plan on the basis of the need to 
deliver the infrastructure – i.e. the land value for strategic sites can be set at a 
reasonable level and then if land owners do not want to release their land for 
development it can be removed from the Local Plan allocations with a contingency 
site replacing it that gives more certainty over ‘deliverability’ and inclusion in the 5 
year land supply. 

Area specific issues 

5.37 Many of the issues discussed above are generally applicable across the district.  
However, there are some specific issues affecting delivery that affect development in 
the three key settlements in South Somerset. 

Yeovil 

• It is reported by consultees that the Yeovil town centre development and 

regeneration have been subject to delay, with part of the issue resulting from a 

lack of detailed delivery planning.  We are aware that this development includes 

over 300 dwellings as part of a potentially complicated set of mixed-use sites in a 

high profile location and it is reasonable that further work may be necessary to 

help secure delivery.  

• While some of the large urban extension sites are being built out at a reasonable 

pace, some have seen slow progress and are reported to have unresolved 

viability issues that have delayed delivery. 

• There have been reports about a strategic lack of power supply to support new 

development around the town, although verifying this is out with the scope of this 

study.  However, these types of infrastructure issues have the potential to delay 

housing delivery and would need to be part of the infrastructure delivery planning 

for the next Local Plan, and depending on the urgency, may need to be 

addressed beforehand.  However, it is not clear that delays to housing delivery 

have resulted yet, although if there is a genuine issue then it could stall future 

Page 78



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  35 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

delivery.  Given the volume of housing still to be delivered under the current 

Local Plan in Yeovil, this could cause a significant issue. 

Chard 

• The consultation process has confirmed that Chard is regarded as well-placed to 

deliver housing growth.  However, a lack of certainty about the long-discussed 

Eastern Road has meant that landowners and developers have no clarity about 

whether there is a transport requirement for the road, its alignment or its funding 

strategy.  This lack of clarity is likely to delay development and make it more 

difficult for committees to determine consents around the east of Chard.  In 

addition, where consents have been granted, there have been missed 

opportunities to deliver sections from consented development both to the south 

of the town and also in relation to the recent consents in the north of the town.. 

Crewkerne 

• There is also a lack of clarity about a road serving development to the east of 

Crewkerne.   While the scale of development is less than Chard, the same broad 

issues about alignment and funding strategy apply.   

Summary 

5.38 The consultations and supporting analysis indicate that there is no clear evidence 
that market values or viability are affecting delivery overall in South Somerset 
although some of the highest infrastructure requirements are in locations where 
values are lower (Yeovil, Chard and Crewkerne).  There may be benefits from 
external funding to support development in these locations. 

5.39 However, there are some specific instances where viability issues have been raised 
but not resolved.  This seems likely to reduce or halt delivery on some important sites 
in the district and resolving these will go some way towards addressing the five-year 
housing land supply issues. 

5.40 The concentration of housing supply within a limited number of organisations means 
that housing delivery is vulnerable to individual business models. Delivery may be 
accelerated if the largest sites can be split.   Splitting sites will have to be undertaken 
through negotiation and this will require appropriate skills and time resources.  CPO 
may be a response if negotiation fails and delivery remains stalled. 

5.41 There are some sites in the district where consents have been granted but there has 
been little or no delivery.  This could be addressed through the use of completion 
notices and/or delivery secured through the s106 agreement.  However, this 
approach would need to include some form of review to take account of changes in 
the macroeconomic environment. We note that completion notices are a blunt tool of 
last resort and it is better to discuss the matter with the site owner before any action 
of this nature is considered34.  Again, CPO may be a response if other measures fail 
and delivery remains stalled. 

5.42 The development management process will benefit from focused staff resources on 
housing applications order to reduce delays dealing with applications and 
corresponding delays delivering housing, as well as setting up standardised s106 
agreements, PPAs and LDOs etc.  In addition, delivery on key sites could be 
improved through establishing development delivery teams for major sites.  Part of 
the lack of resources identified relates to legal expertise.  It is understood that SSDC 

 
34 https://simonicity.com/category/completion-notices/ 

Page 79

https://simonicity.com/category/completion-notices/


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  36 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

is appointing a legal firm to provide draw down support and it is suggested that a 
legal expert is nominated who will be based one/two days per week within the 
Council offices. 

5.43 The development industry has indicated that it may be willing to pay more (i.e. 
through PPAs) for a better service with less uncertainty and more speed.   

5.44 Issues with the two-tier committee structure have been reported, giving rise to 
uncertainty and delay to applications (and delivery).  Splitting responsibilities, so that 
major developments go straight to the regulation committee, could overcome these 
issues and speed up the process.  In addition, there is concern about the training and 
briefings given to committee members.  

5.45 LDOs can be used to speed development on allocated sites35, subject to design 
guides etc36.  This will remove a set of reserved matter applications and allow 
speedier delivery, although setting up the LDOs with the supporting design guides 
etc. and monitoring the results will take staff resources. There are limited examples 
of where LDO’s have been successful on residential sites in the past37 but we 
consider that their use for specific sites (in the same manner as an SPD) may speed 
up the decision-making process38. However this is achieved there will need to be 
additional resource given to the Local Plan Team and the extent will depend om what 
skills are available in house and what may need to be brought in.  Assuming that 
there will need to be some external studies (site constraints, design guides etc.) as 
well as the drafting, consultation and taking it through committee it is likely that a 
budget of c.£100,000 all in may be appropriate as a rough guide. 

5.46 There are location specific issues that affect delivery, in particular the delivery and 
funding strategy for the Yeovil town centre regeneration, the Chard eastern road and 
the Crewkerne eastern road.  The development of plans for housing and 
infrastructure development on key sites will enable the Council to take advantage of 
funding opportunities when they arise, noting that here is often a short window to 
respond.  However, this will require up-front investment in resources to develop these 
plans although the discussion with the development industry active in the district 
shows that adding this type of funding will accelerate delivery. 

5.47 There is a set of short-term actions that can demonstrate that South Somerset is 
open for business and that can make it clear to landowners what the terms of 
bringing forward land for development are.  These include clarity about the 
infrastructure and other planning obligations for sites, a prospectus of sites that are 
available for development, a list of active registered providers and the use of delivery 
clauses in s106 and completion notices. 

  

 
35 https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/ldos-housing-developments-9ec.pdf 
36 https://www.cotswoldtransportplanning.co.uk/project/local-development-order-ldo-for-gloucesters-quayside-and-blackfriars-
areas/ 
37 https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/report-use-value-money-an-c1c%20%281%29.pdf 
38 
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/2018%20Case%20Study%20Research%20on%20Local%20Developmen
t%20Orders.pdf 
And https://www.swindon.gov.uk/info/20113/local_plan_and_planning_policy/648/local_development_orders/2 
 

Page 80

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/ldos-housing-developments-9ec.pdf
https://www.cotswoldtransportplanning.co.uk/project/local-development-order-ldo-for-gloucesters-quayside-and-blackfriars-areas/
https://www.cotswoldtransportplanning.co.uk/project/local-development-order-ldo-for-gloucesters-quayside-and-blackfriars-areas/
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/report-use-value-money-an-c1c%20%281%29.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/2018%20Case%20Study%20Research%20on%20Local%20Development%20Orders.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/2018%20Case%20Study%20Research%20on%20Local%20Development%20Orders.pdf
https://www.swindon.gov.uk/info/20113/local_plan_and_planning_policy/648/local_development_orders/2


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  37 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

6. Potential solutions – experience from elsewhere  

Scope of the review 

6.1 The brief for the study includes a requirement to: 

• (scope) a full range of potential interventions that would accelerate housing delivery 

in the short medium and long term making full use of the government’s current HIF 

and Forward Funding grant regime; 

• (provide) an understanding of the roles that the Council can adopt including the 

planning process, influencing, financial engagement, affordable housing grant, direct 

building and use of compulsory purchase powers.  

6.2 To address these requirements, and to complement the locally based research 
described in the previous chapter, we undertook an analysis of the issues faced and 
actions to address these, of other local authorities.  The review included: 

• An analysis of approach taken by other authorities to the preparation of housing 

delivery action plans; 

• A rapid literature review of earlier research studies – providing a background 

understanding of the good practice identified; 

• A web based analysis of good practice from elsewhere, supported by a limited 

number of interviews with authorities where we considered that the good practice 

could have particular relevance for South Somerset; 

• A review of background legislation and progress in the set up and operation of joint 

ventures and local authority development companies. 

6.3 The remainder of this chapter sets out the findings of the research and begins to 
draw conclusions about the scope of potential interventions and the roles adopted by 
councils in accelerating housing delivery.  The next chapter deals in detail with the 
role and potential of local authority development companies and use of joint 
ventures. 

Housing Delivery Action Plans 

6.4 Chapter 2 examined a number of key changes in legislation, guidance and strategies 
that have signified local authorities having both a greater responsibility for, and 
indeed participation in, housebuilding in their local area.  One of the changes saw the 
introduction of a Housing Delivery Test (HDT).  The test is an annual measurement 
of delivery which considers the total net new homes delivered over the past three 
years against the total number of homes required over the same period to give a 
percentage figure.  Where this percentage of delivery falls: 

• Below 45%: a presumption in favour of sustainable development applies, even where 

authorities have more than their five year housing land supply; 

• Below 85%: the five year land supply has a 20% buffer added to the standard 

housing requirement; 

• Below 95%: the authority must publish a Housing Delivery Action Plan (HDAP) to 

recommend how delivery will be remedied.  

6.5 The latest results, issued in February 2020 but relating to the three-year period 2016-
19 suggest that two thirds of authorities meet the test.  Of the remaining one third 

Page 81



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  38 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

(108 authorities in total), it has been reported that 8 authorities scored under 45%; 82 
authorities fell below the 85% figure and 108 fell below 95%39.   

6.6 Analysis of the Housing Delivery Plans produced, gives an indication of the reasons 
underlying low delivery and measures authorities are taking to address this.  Analysis 
in October 2019 by Planning Magazine40 of 67 HDAP’s (required from the results of 
the previous year’s test covering 2015-18) indicates a number of commonly cited 
causes to under delivery.  These include: 

• Limited availability of sites, or certain sizes of site:  Some suggest complexities 

involving boundaries, and a reliance on brownfield rather than greenfield. 

• Stalled or delayed sites: This includes issues around complex legal or land 

ownership but also concerns of site preparation i.e. decontamination 

• Macroeconomic factors: Difficulty gaining developer finance; some suggestions of 

land-banking by site promotes.  

• Planning issues: Such as the time taken to discharge of conditions or sign-off of 

s106 agreements 

6.7 Each HDAP sets out measures to be taken in order to tackle delivery.  The same 
analysis conducted by Planning Magazine found that the most commonly cited 
actions include: 

• Progressing Local Plans and/or commitments to specific site allocations:  The 

vast majority of actions included some form of commitment to progressing the Local 

Planning policy.  As indicated in the Planning Magazine analysis, it is  suggested that 

progressing Local Plans is what should be happening regardless of the HDT, though 

it is conceded that the preparation of site specific documents, such as development 

briefs, may assist in other regards. 

• Brownfield Land Registers:  Specifically, some are stating that they shall consider 

granting permission in principle to certain sites in their register. 

• Greater engagement with developers: This is a commonly cited action.  Some 

have proposed greater use, or introduction of, a developer workshop to assist in 

identifying certain obstacles.  Others measures include better pre app discussions, 

the use of Planning Performance Agreements (PPA), or standardising certain 

templates such as s106. 

• Corporate actions / direct delivery of homes: Finally, a number of authorities 

expressed an interest in direct delivery in the local housing market. We explore the 

issue of local authority development companies later in this chapter. 

6.8 The problems faced by authorities and the proposed actions to address these are, to 
some extent, much as we would expect as ‘getting the basics right’.  Nonetheless, 
the importance attached to effective progress of Local Plans and engagement with 
the development industry are important building blocks in accelerating delivery and 
are reflected in our recommendations for action.   

Review of pro-active local authorities 

6.9 Beyond the specific requirements of preparing a housing delivery action plan, there 
are examples of local authorities that have been particularly proactive in helping to 
accelerate housing delivery in their area.  We have undertaken a website review to 
identify examples of local authority actions that may be relevant to South Somerset.  
We have supplemented the review with examples from our own experience and 

 
39 https://www.savills.co.uk/insight-and-opinion/savills-news/296020/housing-delivery-test--worst-performing-authorities-named 
40 Planning Magazine (2019). ‘Councils' housing delivery test action plans: The opportunities and strategies in 67 key plans’ 

Page 82

https://www.savills.co.uk/insight-and-opinion/savills-news/296020/housing-delivery-test--worst-performing-authorities-named


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  39 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

undertaken a small number of interviews with authorities (three in total) where we felt 
that that authority may have experience particularly useful to the Council. 

6.10 Annex 2 provides a summary of the local authority activities to boost housebuilding 
we have reviewed.  Our analysis of these activities, show that they, broadly speaking, 
fall into the following categories: 

• Publicising the development opportunities in an area – to attract a wider range of 

developers 

• Improving the dialogue with the development industry 

• Helping to de-risk sites or improve cashflow 

• Mechanisms for maintaining delivery timetables 

• Direct delivery 

6.11 In the remainder of this chapter, we highlight the good practice examples under each 
heading that we consider offer options that South Somerset should consider 
adopting.   

Publicising development opportunities 

6.12 Denbighshire County Council - In 2016 Denbighshire County Council released 
their ‘Housing Prospectus’41; its purpose is to provide developers and investors a list 
of the development opportunities in the area.  The 2016 prospectus contains 60 sites 
consisting of both sites allocated within the Denbighshire Local Development Plan or 
sites of 10+ units that have outline planning permission.    

Along with key site details, for instance, the area and potential capacity, the 

document provides other important details such as what would be sought through 

affordable housing/s106 and details of any constraints that would need to be 

considered such as contamination or details of habitats and biodiversity.  For each 

site, the prospectus sets out the main documents required to accompany the 

application (i.e. details of habitat surveys required, Tree assessments and so on). 

Improving dialogue with the development industry 

6.13 Leeds City Council - Leeds’s Housing Growth Team set up an ‘Acceleration 
Programme’ which was established to find ways of unlocking stalled sites. Working 
alongside the Planning team, they carried out a systematic trawl through the SHLAA 
contacting landowners or applicants to identify how sites could be brought forward.  

By contacting landowners and applicants directly the Council are able to gain an 

understanding as to the reason as to why the site has stalled and offer bespoke 

support to remedy this.  Support provided to landowners and developers varies; but 

can include brokering finance discussions with Homes England or the LEP; to 

marrying up landowners with RPs or other SME developers; and for less experienced 

landowners it can be simply providing confidence and signposting.  

Brokering dialogue between developers and Homes England, through the 

Accelerated Construction programme (which provides recoverable funding for a 

programme of sites) and through the Housing Infrastructure Fund - Marginal Viability 

Fund has been cited as particularly effective for stimulating delivery.  According to a 

committee paper in March 2018 the ‘Acceleration Programme’ has supported 28 sites 

equating to almost 1,900 units. 

 
41 https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-evidence-
monitoring-information/housing-land-prospectus-2016.pdf 

Page 83

https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-evidence-monitoring-information/housing-land-prospectus-2016.pdf
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-evidence-monitoring-information/housing-land-prospectus-2016.pdf


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  40 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

6.14 East Devon District/Exeter City/Teignbridge District councils- The three 
authorities have a Growth Point Delivery Team which is hosted by East Devon 
District Council and supported by the other funding partners.  The function of the 
Delivery Team is to be a dedicated group of specialists who help to coordinate the 
delivery of the strategic developments and providing a point of information for all 
projects; this includes facilitating meetings and enabling partnership working. 

The team report directly to the Exeter and Heart of Devon Growth Board, which 
comprises of key representatives from all the partner organisations and accountable 
Government bodies. The Board meets quarterly. 

Helping to de-risk sites or improve cashflow 

6.15 Southampton City Council, as part of s106 negotiations agree a position on viability 
with the applicant. The Council sets out in the s106 agreement a viability review 
process. This is a two-stage process that commits the applicant to submitting further 
viability review information if commencement has not taken place before a certain 
date and also commits the applicant to a viability review if completion has not taken 
place by a certain date. 

An example of this approach is set out in the completed legal agreement for planning 

reference 16/01214/FUL which can be found at 

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/planning/planning-applications/ 

6.16 Eastleigh Borough Council – in a cabinet report of June 2019 the Council42 
explained that, “…..the Council is a housing delivery enabler and taking responsibility 
for making development happen in the area, with an emphasis on actively using its 
own assets and capabilities to unlock housing opportunities.”  The Council has an 
established housing programme with the planned delivery of over 2000 dwellings 
across 10 sites with one strategic site at that 1200+ dwellings but a portfolio of 
smaller sites – ranging from c16 to 250 dwellings.  At the time of the report, 144 new 
homes to be held on behalf of the Council had been completed, delivered through a 
variety of mechanisms – through the Council’s own housing company or in individual 
projects working with its partners – providing affordable housing or PRS (using 
tenancy terms specified by the Council and managed by an RP). The on-going 
programme of delivery of new homes reflects an over-arching objective of the 
Council to maintain a pipeline of development sites and so the same Cabinet report 
referenced new sites to be brought into the programme – subject to committee 
agreement. The programme includes different mechanisms by which the Council 
engages in the development process.  These include financial investment by the 
Council to secure the type of affordable housing it requires, JV with a developer 
partner with the Council purchasing the site in return for a number of PRS units it 
then controls, a JV with a developer with the Council making a grant to the 
development in return for a number of PRS/affordable units.   

Examples of projects include; 

• Council provided a fully secured loan for upfront infrastructure secured against 
the land for a private development. The Council’s housing Eastleigh Borough 
Council company had a purchase agreement for 146 properties ‘off plan’ to 
ensure the provision of Private Rented Sector homes on the site and improve 
the development cashflow; 

 
42 https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/documents/s50025066/Item%205%20-%20Report.pdf 

Page 84

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/planning/planning-applications/
https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/documents/s50025066/Item%205%20-%20Report.pdf


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  41 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

• Direct grant from the Council to achieve a new development of c100 dwellings 
(a mix of bungalows and houses) which was not viable in the open market due 
to site constraints and the commitment to providing new community facilities; 

• The Council, via its subsidiary, entered into a joint venture with a developer to 
bring forward c 250 new homes on a brownfield development site.  The Council 
negotiated the option to purchase up to 85 completed dwellings to hold as 
Private Sector Rented. Later, the Council allocated grant to increase the 
number of affordable dwellings to achieve 40% affordable dwellings on-site 
overall.  

The Council has also made a significant step towards achieving its own development 

(through a development company) by purchasing a c310 ac site and then 

undertaking its master planning and delivery of services, prior to selling “‘fully 

serviced’ parcels to commercial & residential developers.”.   The Council has secured 

a £20.8 million grant funding from Homes England that will accelerate the delivery of 

c 1,400 dwellings on the site and achieve a minimum of 30% of the new homes to be 

affordable housing.  The Council has passed responsibility for project management to 

a private organisation. 

The range and scale of Eastleigh Borough Council’s housing delivery programme 

leads us to recommend that SSDC takes a closer look at how the Housing 

Programme is being scaled up and taken forward in Eastleigh.  An exchange ‘visit’ 

would be a first step in achieving this.  

Mechanisms for maintaining delivery timetables 

6.17 Central Bedfordshire Council - In January 2019 Central Bedfordshire Council 
published their ‘Housing Delivery Clause Technical Note’.  The note sets out the 
Council’s approach to securing the delivery of new homes on consented sites within 
the first five years, through the use of section 106 agreements.43   It states that “the 
Council will seek a delivery timetable to be put forward by the site promoter which will 
then form part of the accompanying section 106 agreement”.  This means that the 
Council works with site promoters and developers to arrive at a delivery statement 
which is appended to the S106 agreement. The statement sets out the number of 
completions to be achieved each year.  The delivery timetable is intended to be used 
as a material consideration in decision making.  

The Technical Note states that it applies to all deliverable housing development that 

are capable of delivery in the first 1 to 5 years of the rolling plan period, and states 

that the timetable should “be submitted as early in the process as possible at pre-

application stage or planning application stage” and by using “reasonable 

assumptions” factoring in such things as the presence of competing sites, the likely 

commencement, and any enabling works required. 

This approach is more about certainty of delivery rather than accelerating delivery.  
Having an agreed timescale for delivery on sites can provide greater confidence in 
land supply assessments. 

6.18 Great Yarmouth Borough Council – ‘step in’ rights – the Council recognise that 
they have a significant number of sites with outline permission, but where there is 
little activity “to either sell the site to a developer or make a reserved matters 
application”44 and also for “sites with full consent which remain unstarted years after 

 
43 https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/5.36%20Speeding%20up%20delivery_v03.1.pdf 
44 GYBC (2019). ‘Housing Delivery Action Plan Great Yarmouth Borough Council August 2019’ 

Page 85

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/5.36%20Speeding%20up%20delivery_v03.1.pdf


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  42 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

consent”45.  The council is exploring ways to grant ‘step-in’ rights if a developer is not 
making timely steps to build out sites either to enable them to develop the site 
themselves; through a joint venture company or to parcel the site to other local 
developers. 

Direct delivery 

6.19 Plymouth City Council – Plymouth City Council’s Plan for Homes 2016-202146 sets 
out a proactive and collaborative approach to delivering 5,000 in the city in 5 years.   

The plan uses local authority and Homes England resources to support various 

housing projects and is doing so without setting up a development company but has 

the advantage of significant land-holdings it can use to take the plan forward. The 

Council’s aims are to ensure existing sites are developed by reducing risks for 

developers, help lever in funds from Homes England and other investors, improve the 

affordability of new homes, and increase housing choices for different groups in the 

community.   

The 2016 plan set out a number of key interventions: 

• The creation of a Land Acquisition Fund of £30 million with Homes England.  This is 

used to buy up stalled and lapsed sites to stimulate delivery.     

• £3 million Housing infrastructure Fund to support housing delivery prioritising 

opportunities in the 3 Growth Areas set out in the Plymouth Plan 

• Establish Homes for Plymouth, a new housing company to deliver more homes 

directly in Plymouth.  This includes pledging 10 new council sites and a £10 million 

loan facility to enable 500 new homes by 2021 

• A Plymouth Housing Prospectus listing all potential sites, including all those with 

planning permission, stalled and lapsed sites, along with their potential for housing 

and to attract private sector investment. 

• Support more flexible land and s106 payments aimed at improving developers 

cashflow and enabling the earliest possible start 

• Launch an Empty Homes initiative to bring back homes into use with a fund of £1 

million 

6.20 Harrogate Borough Council - Harrogate has a long-standing commitment to 
develop homes through the HRA and the Council has built up in-house capacity, 
including a design team and a viability assessment unit.  It currently has plans to 
develop up to 8 sites through this process, but this will only release the potential for 
up to 26 Affordable Housing units. 

6.21 North Kesteven District Council – the Council has an ambitious programme of 

council house building. In 2012 the Council set up a pilot to deliver affordable homes, 

and by 2016 it had completed its 200th property47. The scheme focusses on sites not 

attractive to other public and private housing developers, for example infill sites on 

council estates.  It uses a number of funds namely HRA reserves, commuted sums 

through Section 106 agreements and Homes England (HCA) grants.48 

 
45 IBID 
46 https://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/3426186/lahousing2019.pdf  

47 https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/housing-and-planning/innovation-council-housebuilding/innovation-council-housebuilding-12 
48 https://www.n-kesteven.gov.uk/residents/homes-and-property/information-about-housing-in-north-kesteven/building-new-
houses/ 

Page 86

https://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/3426186/lahousing2019.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/housing-and-planning/innovation-council-housebuilding/innovation-council-housebuilding-12
https://www.n-kesteven.gov.uk/residents/homes-and-property/information-about-housing-in-north-kesteven/building-new-houses/
https://www.n-kesteven.gov.uk/residents/homes-and-property/information-about-housing-in-north-kesteven/building-new-houses/


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  43 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

6.22 The Council is now involved with the direct purchase of land for development, 

including 37 acres of land at Sleaford in 201849, as the Council have built up an 

expertise to explore other approaches to deliver homes.  This, they believe, is 

quicker than going through the development process.   

Characteristics of successful council interventions 

6.23 Our experience, the local authority interviews and our literature review indicate that 

there are some important characteristics underpinning successful local authority 

interventions to accelerate housing delivery.  With Covid-19 having an impact on the 

economy going forward, these characteristics could be instrumental in any economic 

recovery plan. We highlight three common themes: 

• Clear leadership for the interventions (with cross party support); 

• Clear objectives for the intervention(s) and continuity in those objectives – especially 

to be clear about the balance between social and financial objectives; 

• Suitably resourced delivery teams to take projects forward – with commercial 

expertise to achieve marketable and viable developments. 

6.24 An option that is little used by local authorities is that of compulsory purchase.  The 

option is regarded as being extremely complex, time consuming and expensive and 

negotiated agreement is almost invariably the preferred route.  However, authorities 

retain the option to use as a last resort. 

Summary 

6.25 The 2019 Housing Delivery Test indicates that one-third of authorities had a delivery 

rate that failed to meet the requirements set out in the test.   Analysis of the plans put 

in place to tackle delivery reveal a number of measures being explored by authorities 

to meet delivery in the future.  The chapter considers some of these measures, along 

with a range of other proactive initiatives.  Broadly speaking, we find these fall into 

the following categories: 

• Publicising the development opportunities in an area  

• Improving the dialogue with the development industry 

• Helping to de-risk sites or improve cashflow 

• Mechanisms for maintaining delivery timetables 

• Direct delivery 

6.26 Strong political leadership and support and proper resourcing of dedicated delivery 
teams to support the Council’s objectives are important attributes of successful 
council interventions. 

  

 
49 https://lincolnshirereporter.co.uk/2018/02/north-kesteven-district-council-buys-37-acres-land-private-developers/ 

Page 87

https://lincolnshirereporter.co.uk/2018/02/north-kesteven-district-council-buys-37-acres-land-private-developers/


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  44 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

7. Local authority joint ventures and development 

companies 

Background to joint ventures and development companies 

7.1 Joint ventures and local development companies are becoming increasingly popular 
mechanisms for councils to help boost housebuilding in their area – without directly 
undertaking the development50.  In this chapter we briefly summarise these two broad 
options, noting that this study cannot provide a comprehensive assessment of the 
two and the Council will need to consider these options in much more detail if either 
is to be pursued. 

Joint ventures 

7.2 The basic principle of a joint venture was summarised by HM Treasury as follows: 

“The term joint venture can describe a range of different commercial arrangements 

between two or more separate entities. Each party contributes resources to the 

venture and a new business is created in which the parties collaborate together and 

share the risks and benefits associated with the venture. A party may provide land, 

capital, intellectual property, experienced staff, equipment or any other form of asset. 

Each generally has an expertise or need which is central to the development and 

success of the new business which they decide to create together. It is also vital that 

the parties have a ‘shared vision’ about the objectives for the JV.”51 

7.3 Typically, for housing schemes, local authorities set up joint ventures with a delivery 
partner (such as a developer or housing association) and the parties share the risks 
and rewards.  There are various types of JV structures but usually local authorities 
set up a subsidiary company with their partner – with a new company for each 
venture.  Research undertaken by Room151 suggested that set up costs for a JV 
company range from £20,000 to £30,00052 along with significant staff and member 
time input.  

7.4 Anecdotal information from the research undertaken for this study and direct team 
experience, suggests that a JV for a modest scheme (say around 50-100 dwellings) 
needs the support of about half a FTE senior officer over the life of a scheme – say 
two years.  This would indicate a total cost of something around £60,000 for a 
successful JV.  Good commercial skills are needed to run a JV and these may or may 
not already be held in the Council. 

  

 
50 Though there appears to be no official count, a  study by Janice Morphet for the RTPI50, carried out a desktop search in 
January and February 2019 finding that 78% of local authorities had some form of housing company, many of which were set 
up in the past couple of years.  The study acknowledges that this sample could also include dormant companies as well as 
active ones   
51 Joint Ventures: a guidance note for public sector bodies forming joint ventures with the private sector, HM Treasury, 2010 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/225321/06_joint_venture_gui
dance.pdf 
52 https://www.room151.co.uk/funding/leveraging-council-land-value-the-joint-venture-approach/ 

Page 88

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/225321/06_joint_venture_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/225321/06_joint_venture_guidance.pdf
https://www.room151.co.uk/funding/leveraging-council-land-value-the-joint-venture-approach/


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  45 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Local development companies 

7.5 The following definition of a wholly owned local development company comes from 
a 2018 report prepared for the Centre for London53 

The Local Government Act 2003 allowed local authorities to set up companies to 
make a profit, and the Localism Act 2011 further eased restrictions, allowing councils 
to do what any other company or individual can do, unless explicitly prohibited.29 
Local authority companies can be wholly or partly owned by the Council; this report 
focuses on the former. In terms of housing, this means that these companies can 
develop, buy and manage properties within and outside a local authority area. 

7.6 The Centre for London report goes on to explain that housing companies are 
capitalised in different ways. The principal sources are loans from the, “…… Public 
Works Loan Board (PWLB), which can be drawn down by councils through prudential 
borrowing and then lent on to a subsidiary company with an interest rate margin 
providing a revenue stream to the Council; and council equity investment, which is 
mostly land at market value. Other sources of funding, in addition to councils’ own 
land and finance, have included commercial borrowing and developer contributions.” 

7.7 There has been a growing momentum for local authorities to set up companies to 
take forward the direct provision of delivery of housing in their area. An Inside 
Housing report dated February 2018 found that since 2012, over a 6-year period, 
councils in England had invested £130m in setting up 58 new housebuilding 
companies.54 

7.8 Various research reports55 have explored the reasons why local authorities set up 
development companies.  Income generation, particularly given the past decades 
pressure on local authorities’ funds, is a common reason put forward by councils, 
alongside boosting delivery and tackling homelessness56. 

7.9 However, despite the number of companies established, delivery to date has been 
limited.  Inside Housing, in their research, concluded that the 58 companies had 
delivered a combined total of 528 units over that period which is an average of 1.5 
units of housing per Council per annum. Annex 3 provides more details of the 
research findings. 

Process to set up 

7.10 In deciding whether to set up a company or not, there are key issues to be addressed 
- of which three are pre-eminent: 

• Strategic Purpose (i.e. whether this is housing delivery, income generation, delivery 

of affordable housing, delivery of infrastructure or delivery of some other 

socio/economic factor such as Eco Housing). Our experience, and learning from the 

other research we have reviewed, suggests that local authorities that narrow down 

their purpose are more likely to succeed as those with multiple ambitions tend to slow 

down development due to protracted internal negotiations. 

• Ownership – Whether the Council is to deliver on its own, how it is controlled and 

who makes the decisions.  A study carried out in July 2019 by Janet Morphet and 

colleagues included a survey of local authorities which found that 83% of the local 

authorities that had set up a development company had set up a wholly owned 

 
53 Borough Builders: Delivering More Housing Across London, Victoria Pinoncely And Mario Washington-Ihieme 
54 https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/councils-set-up-58-housing-companies-since-2012-54634 
55 For example, How to Set Up a Housing Company: A Practical Guide, 2016, Baigent, M. 
56 Morphet, J. Clifford, B. (2019) Local Authority Direct Delivery of Housing: Continuation Research published by the RTPI July 
2019  

Page 89

https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/councils-set-up-58-housing-companies-since-2012-54634


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  46 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

housing company whilst 34% of authorities had a joint venture company; 7% of 

authorities had both.   

• The Scale of the Ambition – What assets the local authority can contribute (land, 

cash, property etc).  Again referring to the study undertaken by Janet Morpeth et al 

the authors found that, “for those authorities directly delivering housing, 95% are 

building on their own land, 44% are purchasing sites to develop, 42% are purchasing 

existing residential buildings, 17% are using land from the One Public Estate initiative 

and 13% are using other public land” 

7.11 Having decided to set up a company, there are a number of stages to go through to 
achieve new housing delivery.  The process can be helped by the number of ‘how to’ 
guides available, such as “How to Set Up a Housing Company: A Practical Guide, 
2016, Baigent, M.57”58. 

7.12 Securing political approval to progress is key to the success and members need to 
be involved in this process from the outset so that they can steer decision making but 
have an awareness of what can and cannot be delivered.  Early decisions on 
governance arrangements are required which address the undoubted tension there 
can be between the interests of the Council and those of the new company.  Leaving 
these to chance could hold back an emerging development company. 

7.13 A detailed business case will need to be developed and this will need to focus on 
whether the approach taken, and the resources needed can be matched in terms of 
land ownership. The business case will need to: 

• Identify sites / potential acquisitions 

• Research rental / sale values, build costs, acquisition costs, management and 

maintenance costs  

• Explore financial resourcing including debt, equity and grant/subsidy  

• Build a business model using cost/value assumptions, test out commercial viability 

(profitability)  

• Carry out sensitivity testing to consider risk of variability in key assumptions (e.g. 

inflation)  

• Evaluate and recommend a suitable corporate legal form  

• Evaluate and recommend a suitable governance structure 

7.14 Whatever the approach taken there will be a need for resources (both financial and 
time) to establish the new company. It is our experience, coupled with findings from 
the research we have carried out, that this process can take 18 months to 2 years to 
complete.  Once established, a development company will need dedicated staffing 
with a commercial skill set not usually found in local government.  To achieve a 
substantial annual delivery programme – it would not be unrealistic to require a team 
of some 10 to 12 people with a salary cost alone in the order of £0.5m.  To attract 
staff from a commercial background, competitive remuneration packages will be 
needed e.g. introducing bonus payments etc. 

 
57 http://www.markbaigentconsulting.co.uk/uploads/7/8/5/3/78535060/how_to_set_up_a_local_housing_company__3_.pdf 
58 A further useful source of information is found in the publication “Local authority direct provision of housing, 2017 and 
continuation research, 2019, Morphet, J. and Clifford, B.”58 which considers the various ways, and reasons why, local 
authorities are intervening to provide housing 

Page 90

http://www.markbaigentconsulting.co.uk/uploads/7/8/5/3/78535060/how_to_set_up_a_local_housing_company__3_.pdf


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  47 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Comparison of delivery options 

7.15 In comparing the pros and cons of the main delivery options open to the Council, we 
draw on a table from another publication59 that provides a neat summary of the key 
points with some additional comments from our team – in italics. 

 Pros Cons  

Direct 
delivery  

In-house  
Doesn’t rely on new structure  
More accountable and flexible  
 

Funding restrictions and susceptible 
to RTB  
Organisational barriers within 
councils  
Risk of political micromanagement  

Wholly  
owned 
company  

Access to finance outside HRA  
Can generate return for General 
Fund  
Separate brand  

Difficult to set up  
Less accountable  
(and we would add – early injection 
of council land is important if 
possible) 

Joint 
ventures  

Works for large sites which 
council hasn’t got capacity to 
deliver  But we also have 
examples of successful JVs on 
small sites 
Shares risks  

Complex  
Harder to get a good deal for 
council and communities  
Shares reward 
 

 

Summary 

7.16 Joint ventures and development companies are both becoming increasingly popular 
vehicles in delivering house building across the UK.  Though increasingly ubiquitous 
there is, at present, little evidence to determine how successful they have been in 
accelerating delivery.  There are a number of questions that should be considered by 
authorities before committing to these methods including matters of strategy, 
ownership and scale.  In addition, a consideration of resources, both in terms of 
financial and existing skillsets, at the Council’s disposal should also feature as a key 
factor in the Council’s decision.   

  

 
59 Borough Builders: Delivering More Housing Across London, Victoria Pinoncely and Mario Washington-Ihieme, Centre for 
London, July 2018 

Page 91



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  48 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

8. Conclusions and delivery programme 

Programme of actions  

8.1 Drawing on the findings of the research set out in earlier chapters of the report and to 
meet the study requirement to provide, “…..a robust set of recommendations to help 
accelerate housing delivery across the district” we have brought together the options 
for action for the Council to consider.   

8.2 The table below lists these under three headings – process, direct intervention and 
policy.  We then go on to evaluate the options across a number of different criteria 
and finally recommend a package of actions along with key milestones for the 
Council to consider. Please note that the numerical system applied in Table 8.1 does 
not denote prioritisation of the actions listed. 

  

Page 92



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  49 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

 

Table 8.1 Potential actions 

 Action Relevant 
organisations  

Process   

1 Set up a developers’ forum as standing 
‘committee’ which facilitates information flows to 
and from development industry. 

Alternative is to facilitate regular individual 
meetings with key organisations/individuals.   

Consult with key landowners/developers to 
identify most cost effective ‘consultation’ 
mechanism 

SSDC/developers/site 
promoters etc 

2 A ‘housing delivery programme team’ is formed 
to assist developers to bring their schemes to the 
market, and for those who are on site to increase 
delivery rates and to identify ways to diversify 
housing types. Team to bring together a group of 
officers with relevant skills (including viability 
assessments) and a wider range of skills that can 
be drawn on (including other public bodies e.g. 
the County Highways team).  To establish strong 
working relationships with site promoters and 
with RP partners.  To include a programme 
manager with overall responsibility for the work of 
the team. 

SSDC to approach HE for potential funding  

SSDC/Developers 
Forum/RP partners 

3 Focus planning skills and resources on housing 
delivery to get things done quicker, less reliance 
on agency staff. This will include skills such as 
negotiating with developers/landowners to agree 
site specific solutions, delivery planning for 
large/complex sites and infrastructure, 
completion notices, developing funding bids etc.  
In a competitive job market, the Council will need 
to consider how it can attract and retain the best 
staff. 

SSDC 

4 Increase legal planning capacity – locate legal 
advisors within SSDC offices (suggest 2 days a 
week) – attend committees when required. 

SSDC 

5 Additional training is provided to planning 
committee members on their responsibilities 
within planning committees, in order to reduce 
the chances of poor decision taking and resulting 
delays in delivery – especially on large sites. 

SSDC 

Page 93



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  50 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

 Action Relevant 
organisations  

Members are provided with regular (e.g. 3 
monthly) updates on progress with major 
applications 

6 Review working of two-tier committee structure – 
and allow more delegation especially around 
s106 review 

SSDC 

7 Council website to clearly signpost relevant 
planning application forms and other advice 
including a list of preferred Affordable Housing 
providers (but noting that developing RPs not 
limited to those on preferred list) 

SSDC 

8 When viability is a proven issue, SSDC to review 
options for increasing AH % including seeking 
grant from HE to achieve additionality. But also to 
consider opting for a reduced % of affordable 
housing early in a development, but with a 
viability review at later dates to review % AH 
asked for.  Reviews to be achieved through s106 
agreements. 

SSDC 

9 Develop and publish a model s106 agreement on 
the website 

SSDC 

10 Include viability reviews in s106 agreements if 
completion has not taken place by an agreed 
milestone 

SSDC 

11 Include provision in s106 agreements for RP's to 
be sold serviced land instead of completed units 
but with care taken that this does not undermine 
pepper-potting of AH  

SSDC/RP partners 

12 Involve RPs in discussions about details of site-
specific affordable housing requirements  

SSDC/RP partners 

13 Encourage applicants to work with RP's to 
determine affordable housing requirements for 
each site 

SSDC 

14 Only approve non-allocated sites if applicant 
signs up to annual delivery in s106 agreement  

SSDC/Developers 
forum 

15 Work with landowners to split up sites and 
promote diversity in product, including custom 
and self-build 

SSDC/Developers 
forum 

16 Update IDP to ensure provides appropriate 
information to inform future scheme and area-
wide viability testing  

SSDC 

17 Strengthen in-house capacity re scheme viability 
– so the authority is better able to interpret 
viability information from applicants and external 
advisers.  Cane be achieved through 
appointment of in-house ‘expert’ (potentially as a 
shared resource with neighbouring authorities) 
and with additional officer (and member) training 

SSDC/shared 
resource with 
neighbours 

Page 94



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  51 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

 Action Relevant 
organisations  

18 Improve capacity to secure public sector funding 
through bidding process – key funders include 
HE and HoSWLEP – work with neighbouring 
authorities to expand capacity  

SSDC/shared 
resource with 
neighbours 

19 Publish a Housing Prospectus including 
signposting to relevant sources of funding 

SSDC/Developers 
forum 

20 Progress delivery and funding plans for 
development on key sites in Yeovil, Chard and 
Crewkerne, working with SCC and other 
agencies. 

SSDC/Developers 
forum 

21 Consider masterplanning on new sites to create 
different products that can compete in the 
marketplace at the same time in the same town. 

SSDC/Developers 
forum 

22 Carry out research into whether developer 
completion returns are consistent with delivery in 
order to complete realistic assessment of 
‘deliverable’ sites for inclusion in 5YLS. 

SSDC 

23 Take a more cautious approach to inclusion of 
small sites in 5YLS in areas where values are 
constrained to draw attention to delivery issues 

SSDC 

24 Make use of PPAs for major developments, with 
appropriate charges for fast track service 

SSDC/Developers 
forum 

25 Investigate the use of completion notices SSDC 

  

Page 95



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  52 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Policy/Local 
Plan 

  

   

26 Introduce LDOs for larger strategic sites SSDC 

27 (Local 
Plan) 

Rigorous testing of deliverability of sites to meet 
policy requirements – including town specific 
affordable housing targets 

Establish policies to diversify the market – e.g. 
promoting custom and self-build, breaking up 
sites  

Review trade-off between different affordable 
housing options – more overall numbers versus 
lower cost for tenants  

Consider potential de-allocation if no clear 
timetable for delivery (noting this will require 
contingency of available sites) 

SSDC 

28 (Local 
Plan) 

Investigate additional allocations in Ilminster and 
Wincanton as part of Local Plan process 

SSDC 

29 (Local 
Plan) 

Carry out individual viability testing per main town 
taking into consideration IDP requirements 
specific to location in each town as part of the 
Local Plan process 

SSDC 

30 (Local 
Plan) 

 

Carry out review of resourcing of Local Plan team SSDC 

Direct 
intervention 

  

31 Align public support for infrastructure spending to 
critical infrastructure that maximises delivery from 
strategic sites – work with HE and HoSWLEP to 
develop a funding strategy with defined targets 

SSDC/Developers 
Forum/RP partners, 
HE/ LEP 

32 Align public support for affordable housing 
spending to areas of most need and where 
investment maximises outputs – work with HE to 
develop an affordable housing funding strategy 
with defined targets 

SSDC/Developers 
Forum/RP partners, 
HE 

33 Plan for and invest in a programme of joint 
ventures  

SSDC 

34 Review potential for and benefits of establishing 
a Housing Delivery Company 

SSDC 

35 Consider use of CPO – but recognise complexity 
and action of last resort 

SSDC/Developers 
Forum 

 

Page 96



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  53 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

8.3 We recognise that the Council will need to review the above actions and consider 
which ones it wishes to follow to develop a delivery strategy.  To assist in this 
process, we have assessed each option against five key criteria, reflecting the 
requirements of the study brief.  The criteria are: 

• Lead in time (to set up) 

• Length of time to implement 

• Resource required - (additional) staff resources  

• Resource required - capital and revenue  

• Outcome - impact on housing delivery.  

8.4 For each of the criteria we have devised a ‘traffic light’ system used to assess each 
option.  The ‘traffic lights’ are set out in the table below recognising that these are 
high level estimates, intended to aid the Council in developing its strategy but should 
not be taken as absolute measures.  The shorthand used in the table is as follows: 

• VS - Very Small 

• S - Small 

• M - Medium 

• H - High 

• VH - Very High 

• VVH - Very Very High 

Table 8.2   Evaluation criteria – explanation of ‘traffic lights’ 

 

8.5 Using the above criteria, our high level evaluation of each of the proposed actions is 

set out in the table on the following page.  The actions have been listed in order of 

impact on housing delivery (number of dwellings per annum) - with most impact first, 

descending to those with least impact.   

 

Very Small Small Medium High Very High Very Very High

Lead in Time

Less than one 

month 1-3 months 6-12 months 12-24 months

over 24 

months n/a

Length of time to implement

Less than one 

month 1-12 months 12-24 months 24-36 months

over 36 

months n/a

Resource required - staff

Less than 

£1000

£1000-

£20,000

£20,000-

£40,000

£40,000-

£100,000 over £100,000 over £500,000

Resource required - capital/revenue

Less than 

£1000

£1,000-

£50,000

£50,000-

£200,000

£200,000-

£1,000,000 over £1M n/a

Impact on housing delivery

Less than 10 

dw p/a 10 dw p/a 25 dw p/a 40 dw p/a 100 dw p/a n/a

Page 97



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  54 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Table 8.3 Evaluation of the proposed actions 

 

No. Type  Recommendation Lead in Time 
(Time to Set 

up) 

How long is 
it going to 

take to 
implement 

Resource 
Required 

(Staff) 

Project 
Resource 
Required 
(Capital 

and 
Revenue) 

Impact on 
Housing 
Delivery 

(Outcome) 

2 Process 
Establish ‘housing delivery 
programme team’  

S M M M H 

32 
Direct 
Intervention 

Algin public support for 
infrastructure spending to critical 
infrastructure that maximises 
delivery from strategic sites – work 
with HE and HoSWLEP to develop a 
funding strategy with defined 
targets 

M M S S H 

3 Process 

Focus planning skills and resources 
on housing delivery – get things 
done quicker, less reliance on 
agency staff M M S S M 

8 

Policy/Local 
Plan 

When viability is a proven issue, 
SSDC to review options for 
increasing AH % including seeking 
grant from HE to achieve 
additionality. But also to consider 
opting for a reduced % of affordable 
housing early in a development, but 

M M M VS M 

P
age 98



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  55 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

No. Type  Recommendation Lead in Time 
(Time to Set 

up) 

How long is 
it going to 

take to 
implement 

Resource 
Required 

(Staff) 

Project 
Resource 
Required 
(Capital 

and 
Revenue) 

Impact on 
Housing 
Delivery 

(Outcome) 

with a viability review at later dates 
to review % AH asked for.  Reviews 
to be achieved through s106 
agreements. 

14 Process 

Only approve non-allocated sites if 
applicant  signs up to annual 
delivery in s106 agreement S S S S M 

15 Process 

Work with landowners to split up 
sites and promote diversity in 
product, including custom and self-
build M M M M M 

16 Process 

Update IDP to ensure provides 
appropriate information to inform 
future scheme and area-wide 
viability testing  

S S S S M 

17 Process 

Strengthen in-house capacity re 
scheme viability as shared resource 
with neighbours 

S S S S M 

18 Process 

Improve capacity to secure public 
sector funding through bidding 
process – key funders include HE 
and HoSWLEP – work with 

S S M S M 

P
age 99



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  56 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

No. Type  Recommendation Lead in Time 
(Time to Set 

up) 

How long is 
it going to 

take to 
implement 

Resource 
Required 

(Staff) 

Project 
Resource 
Required 
(Capital 

and 
Revenue) 

Impact on 
Housing 
Delivery 

(Outcome) 

neighbouring authorities to expand 
capacity  

20 Process 

Progress delivery and funding plans 
for development on key sites in 
Yeovil, Chard and Crewkerne, 
working with SCC and other 
agencies. S M M M M 

21 Process 

Consider masterplanning to create 
different products that can compete 
in the marketplace at the same time 
in the same Town. 

M M M S M 

28 

Policy/Local 
Plan 

Investigate additional allocations in 
Ilminster and Wincanton 

M M S S M 

30 
Policy/Local 
Plan 

Carry out review of resourcing of 
Local Plan Team 

S S S S M 

33 
Direct 
Intervention 

Plan for and invest in a programme 
of joint ventures  

M S H H M 

34 
Direct 
Intervention 

Review potential for and benefits of 
establishing a Housing Delivery 
Company 

H H H VVH M 

P
age 100



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  57 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

No. Type  Recommendation Lead in Time 
(Time to Set 

up) 

How long is 
it going to 

take to 
implement 

Resource 
Required 

(Staff) 

Project 
Resource 
Required 
(Capital 

and 
Revenue) 

Impact on 
Housing 
Delivery 

(Outcome) 

35 
Direct 
Intervention 

Consider use of CPO – but recognise 
complexity and action of last resort 

M M S M M 

1 Process 

Set up a developers’ forum as 
standing ‘committee’ which 
facilitates information flows to and 
from development industry 

S S S S S 

4 Process 

Increase legal planning capacity – 
site lawyers within SSDC offices 2 
days a week VS S VS S S 

5 Process 
Additional training is provided to 
planning committee members S S S S S 

6 Process 

Review working of two tier 
committee structure  and allow 
more delegation around s106 
reviews M H S S S 

7 Process 

Council website to clearly signpost 
relevant planning application forms 
and other advice including a list of 
local Affordable Housing providers VS S VS VS S 

9 Process 
Develop and publish a model s106 
agreement on the web S S VS VS S 

P
age 101



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  58 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

No. Type  Recommendation Lead in Time 
(Time to Set 

up) 

How long is 
it going to 

take to 
implement 

Resource 
Required 

(Staff) 

Project 
Resource 
Required 
(Capital 

and 
Revenue) 

Impact on 
Housing 
Delivery 

(Outcome) 

10 Process 

Include viability reviews in s106 
agreements if completion has not 
taken place by an agreed milestone S S VS VS S 

11 Process 

Include provision in s106 
agreements for RP's to be sold 
serviced land instead of completed 
units but with care taken that this 
does not undermine pepper-potting 
of AH  S S S S S 

19 Process 

Publish a Housing Prospectus 
including signposting to relevant 
sources of funding S S VS VS S 

24 Process 

Make more use of PPAs for major 
developments, with appropriate 
charges for fast track service S S S S S 

26 
Policy/Local 
Plan 

Introduce LDOs for larger strategic 
sites to speed up decision making 
process 

S M S S S 

P
age 102



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  59 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

No. Type  Recommendation Lead in Time 
(Time to Set 

up) 

How long is 
it going to 

take to 
implement 

Resource 
Required 

(Staff) 

Project 
Resource 
Required 
(Capital 

and 
Revenue) 

Impact on 
Housing 
Delivery 

(Outcome) 

27 
Policy/Local 
Plan 

Rigorous testing of deliverability of 
sites to meet policy requirements 
Establish policies to diversify the 
market – e.g. promoting custom and 
self-build, breaking up sites  
Consider potential de-allocation if 
no clear timetable for delivery 

M M S S S 

29 
Policy/Local 
Plan 

Carry out individual viability testing 
per main town taking into 
consideration IDP requirements 
specific to location in each town 

S S S S S 

31 
Direct 
Intervention 

Algin public support for affordable 
housing spending to areas of most 
need and where investment 
maximises outputs – work with HE 
to develop an affordable housing 
funding strategy with defined 
targets 

M M S S S 

12 Process 

Involve RPs in discussions about 
details of site specific affordable 
housing requirements  

S S S S VS 

P
age 103



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  60 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

No. Type  Recommendation Lead in Time 
(Time to Set 

up) 

How long is 
it going to 

take to 
implement 

Resource 
Required 

(Staff) 

Project 
Resource 
Required 
(Capital 

and 
Revenue) 

Impact on 
Housing 
Delivery 

(Outcome) 

13 

Process Encourage applicants to work with 
RP's to determine Affordable 
Housing requirements for each site M S S S VS 

22 Process 

Carry out research into whether 
developer completion returns are 
consistent with delivery in order to 
complete realistic assessment of 
‘deliverable’ sites for inclusion in 
5YLS. 

VS VS VS VS VS 

23 Process 

Take a more cautious approach to 
inclusion of small sites in 5YLS in 
areas where values are constrained 

VS VS VS VS VS 

25 Process 
Investigate the use of completion 
notices S S S S VS 

 

 

 

P
age 104



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  61 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Programme of interventions 

8.6 Based on the analysis of the range of actions above, there is a set of recommended 

interventions by the Council which have been analysed on their ability to make most 

difference to the delivery of housing. 

8.7 The combination of measures will assist the Council in demonstrating a 5YHLS, 

particularly in combination with the changes in the housing need.  However there will 

inevitably be a range of external factors that will also affect delivery, which at the time 

of writing include the effect of the restrictions associated with C-19 as well as other 

changes in the housing market.   

8.8 As a result it is not possible to make any meaningful prediction about being able to 

demonstrate a 5YHLS although as discussion earlier in this document shows, the 

suite of recommendations should have the potential to accelerate delivery across a 

range of sites, many of which are allocated or have consent for a large number of 

dwellings. 

Process 

8.9 The recommended planning process interventions are to: 

• Increase the focus of planning officer resources available to progress 

applications – including legal skills; 

• Create delivery teams to accelerate delivery on the major sites; 

• Review and reform the two-tier committee system, including structural and 

operational aspects in order to optimise the decision-making progress and 

expedite applications that are compatible with the development plan. 

8.10 These interventions can be assisted by signals of clear support from the highest 

levels of the Council for the role of planning officers and for housing delivery as a 

priority for the authority.   

8.11 They can also be supported by the introduction of a developer’s forum (or equivalent 

mechanisms) to help establish a strong two way dialogue with the development 

industry. 

Viability and funding 

8.12 Action is needed to address the specific instances where viability issues on some 

important sites have been raised but not resolved.  Resolving these issues will go 

some way towards addressing the five-year housing land supply.  These 

interventions will take staff resources and potentially some relatively minor expenses. 

Setting up a multi skilled housing delivery programme team (with a dedicated lead 

officer who can manage and lead the programme) to tackle the issues involved would 

be a useful step that helps set longer term priorities. 

8.13 In addition, capital funding interventions have the potential to accelerate delivery of 

housing and can be part of the measures undertaken to address viability issues. 

Securing funding for development will:  

• Enable infrastructure to be brought forward more quickly and this will remove 

constraints and reduce development risks, thereby accelerating delivery; 

Page 105



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  62 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

• Allow direct delivery of affordable housing which will increase delivery rates 

overall as well as meeting the stepped-up targets in the new draft Local Plan. 

8.14 Our view is that the Council is not in a position to identify its spending priorities with 

the information it has to hand at the moment.  We strongly recommend that the 

Council undertakes its own rapid review of the viability ‘gaps’ for the key sites and 

identifies the amount of additional housing that would be generated for each £1 of 

infrastructure investment made. 

8.15 Capital funding can be secured through applications to Homes England using one of 

the regular funding programmes, CIL funds and prudential borrowing.  Support can 

be provided as grant or by loans repayable in line with delivery. 

8.16 It is recognised that the skills and time needed to present successful bids (for 

example to HE) can be daunting – a dedicated resource (potentially shared with 

South Somerset’s neighbours) would seem a justifiable and a proportionate 

investment.  

8.17 The impact of the amount and type of affordable housing on scheme viability is well 

understood but there will often be a trade off between the number of units achieved 

and the tenure type (especially around the priority given to social rented housing).  In 

arriving at a view on the preferred mix for individual schemes there is a range of 

factors to take into account, including the type of affordable stock available in the 

locality as well as the viability implications of different options.   

8.18 Housing associations operating locally can provide a more nuanced and up to date 

picture of local need than the headline figures of the SHMA and can work with the 

Council to help arrive at a rounded judgement about the requirements for individual 

schemes. 

Direct intervention 

8.19 Our recommendation on direct intervention, given the scale of local authority ambition 

but current gap in capacity is for the Council to identify a loose programme of joint 

venture opportunities and enter into one or more joint ventures with an organisation 

or organisations active in the local development market. This could be a Registered 

Provider or a private developer.   

8.20 In considering which options to take forward the Council needs to be clear about the 
governance and priorities for the JV, i.e. does the Council wish to maximise the 
income from any JV it enters, to become a housing provider again or simply to 
accelerate housing delivery? It is considered that in order to minimise risk there is a 
clear distinction made between these two issues as it has been found in some local 
authorities that if the vision is not clear then decisions are not commercially focussed 
leading to long delays on outcomes. JVs could be carried out on a ‘project by project’ 
basis with one or more partners depending on the projects promoted. For each JV, 
the Council will own a share of a company with the JV partner taking the risk of 
planning and sale with the Council providing finance as an investment with a return to 
each partner being provided on the basis of investment and risk taken on each 
scheme.  

8.21 If the Council is able to identify attractive land parcels already in its ownership, these 
would be an excellent place to start using JVs.  If no land is available, the Council 
can consider using its own money to buy a suitable site and/or approach landowners 
of sites slow to get to market to offer to buy a part of the land-holding.  

Page 106



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  63 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

8.22 For smaller sites, a JV arrangement could be that the Council provides the land (from 
existing assets or through prudential borrowing) and the JV partner takes forward the 
development, ‘gifting’ a number of homes back to the Council – which could pass 
these onto a suitable managing organisation. 

8.23 A larger JV could be set up that used the purchase power to buy larger sites, take 
them through the planning process, provide the infrastructure needed to provide 
serviced plots and then sell the serviced plots to other developers on the basis of a 
joined up masterplan and vision. This could be done either with an RP or a local 
developer. 

8.24 Therefore, if the Council’s ambition is to deliver social benefits as well as commercial 
return then we would recommend entering into JV(s) with one or more RP – provided 
that they (the RP) had the commercial team to support both organisations objectives. 

8.25 If, however, the ambition is more connected to delivering housing outcomes and a 
commercial return to the Council we would consider a phased approach to entering 
into a JV with a private sector organisation. 

8.26 The JV approach can include the option of SSDC purchasing existing privately 
owned stock but this activity will not accelerate the overall level of delivery.” 

8.27 Local authorities who have ambitions for purchasing stock, either for private rent or 
affordable housing need to ensure that they do not breach the cap for holding rented 
stock within the General Fund. If this cap is breached then there will be a requirement 
for the local authority to set up a Housing Revenue Account and resolve who is going 
to manage the units on a daily basis, either in house or through a JV partner. 

8.28 As a start, we recommend the Council considers entering a couple of relatively 
modest JVs with a trusted partner and establish suitable governance and 
accountability mechanisms.  To do this successfully – the Council will need to put 
aside a budget to provide the necessary officer skills – of the order of say, £50,000 to 
£100,000 (if the Council is to buy land – a capital fund will be needed)  

Priority locations for SSDC action 

8.29 Both the current and the draft new Local Plan identify the main settlements in the 

district as the most sustainable locations for new development, with housing delivery 

focussed in Yeovil and Chard.  Generally, these locations also have the largest 

individual sites and within these settlements these large sites should be the priority 

locations for intervention.  These settlements are also where specific development 

issues have been identified (infrastructure, land control, viability etc.), providing a 

clear set of constraints to be overcome.  By contrast, other locations in the district 

have fewer constraints and there is some evidence to suggest that development in 

these locations will generally proceed with less intervention required.  

Local Plan Review options 

8.30 The Local Plan review is an opportunity to set out a clear framework to assist in 

increasing speed of delivery across the district. In considering an appropriate policy 

response the following should be considered: 

• New allocations should only be included when there is a clear delivery strategy 

that can demonstrate how the site could come forward including infrastructure, 

affordable housing and land release. As part of the plan viability study, strategic 

sites should be reviewed individually to help inform the delivery strategy; 

Page 107



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  64 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

• Infrastructure needs should only be included within the plan where there is a key 

rationale and supporting evidence on costs, timescales and clarity on whether it 

is supporting new development or overcoming existing deficiencies; 

• Policies should be carefully assessed both in terms of what needs they are 

meeting and any cost implications they may have and the relative impacts on 

delivery. This is within a context of both location and type of need. For example 

whilst an assessment of housing need may suggest a particular requirement for 

a specific type of affordable housing, this needs to be considered within the 

context of whether it needs to be addressed through a mixed tenure scheme, 

direct delivery or an alternative approach. This potentially could vary across the 

district, so may require for example a policy that seeks 15% affordable rent 

tenure from mixed tenure schemes over 10 dwellings in Yeovil but 30% shared 

ownership tenure on sites over 10 in Chard. The viability evidence should assist 

in this process.  Also, to consider policies that allow a lower percentage of 

affordable housing at Day 1 but seeks reviews as development progresses;6061 

• For affordable housing, the Council can review the priority it gives to different 

tenures and the trade off between achieving a higher proportion of Affordable 

rent versus less social rent but at a lower rent for the occupier; 

• Policies that help to diversify the housing market should be evaluated.  This 

could include, for instance, a requirement to provide the opportunity for custom 

and self-build plots as a percentage of larger schemes; 

• Whilst there may be a temptation to include wide ranging policy on design, 

decarbonising, mitigating habitat loss etc, these will all need to be costed and 

considered in conjunction with emerging government policy, which may be 

proposing similar solutions and the wider impact on viability and potential to 

harm delivery; 

• Alongside Local Plan preparation SSDC should also consider preparation of a 

delivery SPD62, which includes further detail around investment priorities for 

S106 and CIL, affordable housing requirements, expectation from developers 

submitting viability evidence and the Council’s decision-making process 

regarding considering viability. 

Other actions 

8.31 The study has identified a range of other actions – mostly relating to process which, on 

their own, will not radically speed up delivery but as a package of measures, would 

make a useful contribution.  These measures are taken from Table 8.1 and 

summarised below. 

  

 
60 https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34560/Affordable+Housing+Practice+Note+2018/31012544-f558-ee5a-79fd-
0ee560191537 
 
61 https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/implementing-london-plan/planning-guidance/affordable-housing-and-
viability-supplementary-planning-guidance-spg 
62 https://www.runnymede.gov.uk/article/19094/Infrastructure-Delivery-Prioritisation-Supplementary-Planning-Document-SPD- 

Page 108

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34560/Affordable+Housing+Practice+Note+2018/31012544-f558-ee5a-79fd-0ee560191537
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34560/Affordable+Housing+Practice+Note+2018/31012544-f558-ee5a-79fd-0ee560191537
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/implementing-london-plan/planning-guidance/affordable-housing-and-viability-supplementary-planning-guidance-spg
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/implementing-london-plan/planning-guidance/affordable-housing-and-viability-supplementary-planning-guidance-spg
https://www.runnymede.gov.uk/article/19094/Infrastructure-Delivery-Prioritisation-Supplementary-Planning-Document-SPD-


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  65 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Table 8.4 Other Potential actions 

 Action Relevant 
organisations  

7 Council website to clearly signpost relevant planning 
application forms and other advice including a list of 
local Affordable Housing providers 

SSDC 

8 Reduce the % of affordable housing required early on 
development sites, but with a viability review to seek 
further AH later63 

SSDC/RP partners 

9 Develop and publish a model s106 agreement on the 
website 

SSDC 

10 Include viability reviews in s106 agreements if 
completion has not taken place by an agreed 
milestone 

SSDC 

11 Include provision in s106 agreements for RP's to be 
sold serviced land instead of completed units 

SSDC/RP partners 

12 Involve RPs in discussions about details of site 
specific affordable housing requirements  

SSDC/RP partners 

13 Encourage applicants to work with RP's to determine 
affordable housing requirements for each site 

SSDC 

14 Only approve non-allocated sites if applicant signs up 
to annual delivery in s106 agreement  

SSDC/Developers forum 

19 Publish a Housing Prospectus including signposting to 
relevant sources of funding 

SSDC/Developers forum 

22 Carry out research into whether developer completion 
returns are consistent with delivery in order to 
complete realistic assessment of ‘deliverable’ sites for 
inclusion in 5YLS. 

SSDC 

23 Take a more cautious approach to inclusion of small 
sites in 5YLS in areas where values are constrained 

SSDC 

24 Make use of PPAs for major developments, with 
appropriate charges for fast track service 

SSDC/Developers forum 

Milestones 

8.32 Setting milestones for the introduction of the actions put forward in this chapter, will 

depend to a large extent on the measures the Council wishes to take forward.  The 

first stage in preparing a delivery strategy will be to review this report and make a 

number of choices.  Key decisions for the Council will be: 

• To accept (or not) the recommendation to directly intervene in delivery through 

the use of JVs rather than set up a single development company and to start the 

process of seeking out JV opportunities; 

• To identify the scale of additional resources required to implement the various 

‘process’ recommendations and to support the programme of JVs; 

• How the authority reacts to the issues raised in this report about the decision-

making process; 

• How the Council chooses to work with neighbour authorities to resource its 

capabilities for viability testing and for ‘bid making’ to the key public funders (HE 

and the LEP); 

 
63 https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34560/Affordable+Housing+Practice+Note+2018/31012544-f558-ee5a-79fd-

0ee560191537 

Page 109

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34560/Affordable+Housing+Practice+Note+2018/31012544-f558-ee5a-79fd-0ee560191537
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34560/Affordable+Housing+Practice+Note+2018/31012544-f558-ee5a-79fd-0ee560191537


Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  66 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

• In terms of delivering affordable housing, balancing the perceived benefits for 

tenants of social rented housing with the potential to achieve greater numbers of 

Affordable Rent units. 

8.33 With these key decisions in mind, we set out some general milestones for the Council 

to consider: 

• Within 3 months – agree the portfolio of measures the Council wishes to adopt 

and finalise its delivery strategy; 

• Within 6 months – put in place the process measures that are agreed; 

• Within 6 months – identify objectives for any JVs, set up necessary governance 

and finance arrangements for taking forward 2 JVs a year (if suitable 

opportunities arise) and begin the process of identifying relevant opportunities to 

achieve a forward programme of JVs; 

• Within 12 months – put in place the additional resourcing required to deliver the 

strategy – both to support the process measures, to improve bidding and viability 

capacity and to support delivery of the programme of JVs; 

• Within 2 years – have the key measures of the delivery strategy in place; 

• Within 2 years (or other timetable depending on the Local Plan process) have all 

the necessary measures taken forward into the new Local Plan. 

8.34 Achieving the above will greatly increase the likelihood that the Council will have a 

sustained five year land supply over future years. How quickly this will be the case 

will depend on a number of externalities, including the potential impact on the 

housing market of the Covid-19 pandemic.  If the potential economic downturn 

follows as some forecasters are predicting, the importance of the Council taking a 

very active role in housing delivery, becomes even more necessary.  

  

Page 110



Accelerating delivery of housing in South Somerset 

 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  67 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Annex 1  Policy and strategy literature review 

Page 111



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  68 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

National legislation, guidance & Strategies 

Housing Act 
(2004) 

Key changes included replacing the Housing Fitness standard with the 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System; new requirements for 
Housing in Multiple Ownership; provision for the tenancy deposit 
scheme; and a requirement that local housing authorities adequately 
assess the accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers in their 
area. 

Localism Act 
(2011) 

The act added to the powers of local authorities for creating fully or partly 
owned housing companies, which enabled local authorities to build 
outside the restrictions imposed on the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA). 

Housing and 
Planning Act 
(2016) 

Key changes include the extension of the Right to Buy programme for 
Housing Association tenants; phasing out of life-time tenancies; 
promoting the delivery of Starter Homes; placed a duty on authorities to 
provide enough serviced plots to meet demand for Custom and Self build 
housing; the introduction of ‘permission in principle’ (PIP) aimed at 
providing developers more certainty. 
 
It, along with the Cities and Devolutions Act 2016 both set out 
arrangements for Combined Authorities, and gave greater powers for 
devolved decision making. 

Homelessness 
Reduction Act 
(2017) 

Key changes include duties for authorities to intervene earlier to prevent 
homelessness 

National 
Planning 
Policy 
Framework 
(NPPF) (2018 
and 2019) 

Amongst other things, the NPPF sets out the importance of housing 
delivery, with the requirement that plan makers should maintain a supply 
of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide five years’ worth of 
housing against their housing requirements. 

Homes 
England 
Strategic Plan 
(2018/19 to 
2022/23) 

This sets out its aim of accelerating the delivery of homes across the 
country.  In the next five years it aims to have invested £27 billion across 
its programmes.  Their objectives include ‘Unlocking land’; Homes 
England has a Land Assembly fund of £1.03 billion which it uses to 
acquire “challenging sites that the private sector cannot progress without 
public sector intervention” and sites that “are not progressing into 
production on a commercial basis” and assist in bringing these forward to 
the market.  In addition, Homes England have a Small Sites Fund 
available to public land owners or local authorities which provides grant 
funding to speed up getting the right infrastructure in place to support 
home building on stalled small sites.  Homes England also note the Local 
Authority Accelerated Construction programme which is designed to help 
to increase the speed of construction and build out rates, and encourage 
the use of modern methods of construction. 
It also includes ‘Unlocking investment’; the plan sets out a number of 
funds available to deliver houses including: 
£4.5 billion Home Building Fund which provides development and/or 
infrastructure finance to developers.  The approach is described as 
flexible, for instance, loans of £250,000 to £250 million are generally 
available (with smaller loans considered for innovative housing solutions 
and serviced plots for custom builders). 
Grant funding through the Shared Ownership and Affordable Homes 
Programme, which delivered 116,000 new affordable homes outside of 
London between April 2011 and March 2015.  It consists of £4.7 billion 

Page 112



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  69 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

of grant funding between 2016 and 2021, and open annually for bids, 
with the aim of increasing delivery of affordable units.   
£5.5 billion Housing Infrastructure Fund which provides grant funding to 
local authorities to bring forward land they could otherwise not develop.  
It’s split into two streams, the ‘Marginal Viability Funding’ available to all 
single and lower tier local authorities in England “to provide the final or 
missing piece of infrastructure funding to get additional sites allocated or 
existing sites unblocked quickly”  and the ‘Forward funding’ stream 
which is available to “the uppermost tier of local authorities in England – 
for a small number of strategic and high-impact infrastructure projects”.  

A third priority of the plan is to drive resilience. The plan recognises the 
falling role of SME’s in the UK housebuilding market.  It reaffirms 
commitment to provide finance to this sector to assist its development 
with the £4.5 billion Home Building Fund.  It also notes two partnerships 
with Barclays Bank (Housing Delivery Fund) and Lloyds (Housing Growth 
Partnership).  The Housing Delivery Fund with Barclays Bank is a £1 
billion fund that aims to provide loan funding, of between £5 million and 
£100 million, to support small and medium sized developers to speed up 
the delivery.  The Housing Growth Partnership, with Lloyds Bank, is an 
initiative of £100 million aimed at small housebuilders, typically with 
schemes ranging between £4 million to £35 million in Gross 
Development Value.  
The plan acknowledges current skill shortages, and an expectation that 
the industry will see a “20% to 25% decline in the workforce within a 
decade”.  The plan supports the uptake of modern methods of 
construction and the sets ambitions to align itself with Government 
Industrial Strategy and relevant departments in ensuring the future skills 
of the construction workforce.   
Finally, there are key measures for supporting local areas; which 
involves providing support to local authorities, local enterprise 
partnerships and other bodies to deliver plans and for delivering home 
ownership products; which involves continuing the Help to Buy Equity 
loans and investment in the Shared Ownership and Affordable Homes 
Programme 2016-21. 

Relevant research at the national level 

Elphicke-
House report 
(2015) 

They recommended that Councils should be using assets available to 
them, including borrowing capacity, to ensure that they are housing their 
populations by investing in appropriate housing provision.  It advocated 
Councils should act as ‘Housing Delivery Enablers’, and actively use 
their own assets and knowledge to unlock housing opportunities and 
deliver more homes 

Building More 
Homes (2016) 

Linked directly to the topic of building more homes, the papers 
recommendations include: 
Freeing local authorities from restrictions on borrowing to build, such as 
the HRA.   
Enabling councils to rapidly replace homes sold through Right to Buy 
Refocussing the Housing and Planning act to build a mix of different 
housing that meets need 
Develop routes for councils to directly deliver new homes of all tenures 
through innovative delivery vehicles, including joint delivery vehicles 
across areas. 
Assist authorities with certainty over funding 
Assist with land release through building capability, issue guidance. 

Page 113



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  70 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Work with developers to deliver a strategy for supporting the 
diversification of private housebuilding 

Small is 
Beautiful 
Delivering 
more homes 
through small 
sites (2016) 

In 2016 a research report prepared by the think-tank Local Government 
Information Unit (LGUI) and the trade association the Federation of 
Master builders (FMB) analysed the barriers to enabling small scale 
development.  It builds on consultation with local authorities and Small 
Medium Enterprise (SME) builders and recommends four key areas 
where improvement could lead to new ways of unlocking smaller sites for 
delivery.   
These include: Land - SME’s want more sites identified by local authority 
plan’s that are appropriate for SME builders and advocate greater 
promotion of small sites by authorities; Resources – Advocates 
establishing a pilot ‘Small sites expert task force’ to develop best practice 
and act as a source of expert advice on how to enable small scale 
development; Planning application process - Indicates councils have a 
responsibility to reduce complexity, particularly on issues like conditions 
and s106, and to help establish a best practice for developers so that 
poor quality and/or inadequate proposals are minimised; and 
Engagement – the report suggests there is insufficient dialogue between 
local authorities and small locally-based builders.  This can be improved 
through ongoing strategic communication such as developer forums, 
online portals or workshops for smaller builders. 
 

Housing White 
Paper (2017) 

It introduced aims to diversify the housebuilder market including support 
for SME’s and custom and self build including allowing £1 billion of the 
£3 billion Home Building Fund to be targeted at SME’s; encouraging 
institutional investors; supporting Housing Associations to build more; 
and supporting local authorities to come up with delivery models where 
the market is not providing enough homes.  The paper also launched the 
Housing Infrastructure Fund, which allows local authorities to bid for 
funds to unlock housing (discussed in further detail in a subsequent 
section). 
Other measures to speed up delivery including reducing the time allowed 
between planning permission and start of development from three to two 
years; allowing the Secretary of State to prohibit certain conditions to 
allow developers to build-out more quickly; and a commitment to 
encouraging modern methods of construction.   
Other key ambitions include encouragement for authorities to ensure 
Local Plans are in place; allowing authorities power to charge higher 
fees; measure to give more weight to brownfield development; and 
maintaining protection for the green belt. 

Letwin Review  
(2018) 

Review investigated the gap between housing completions and the 
amount of land allocated or permissioned in areas of high housing 
demand.  The conclusion of the review is that the broader the appeal of 
housing on large sites is to more of the separate sub-markets, the 
greater the sales and therefore delivery of housing.   
The review suggests that overall delivery constraints on large sites are 
limited by market absorption rates, and that in turn this limited the 
delivery of the affordable housing cross-subsidised by these market 
sales.  Furthermore, the absorption rates on large sites are constrained 
by the homogeneous products typically being constructed by the major 
house builders on the largest sites, as well as limited tenures.  The 
Letwin review suggested that the market had multiple tenure tiers 
(market and affordable) and that delivery of one tenure would not affect 

Page 114



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  71 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

the market for other tenures, and this also applied to specialist housing 
(older persons, custom and self-build, key worker) where this demand is 
also separate from other parts of the market. 
The review also reported that the choice of a newly built home is much 
influenced not only by location, size, price and tenure-type, but also by 
architecture, interior design, garden, setting and surrounding landscape 
or streetscape; and that more variety in these characteristics would 
create more, separate markets than can be created within the uniformity 
of many large sites. 

Sub-national legislation, guidance and strategies 

Heart of the 
South West 
LEP Strategic 
Economic 
Plan (2014) 

The Heart of the South West Local Economic Partnership (HotSW LEP) 
sets a strategic vision for the 16 years between 2014 and 2030 in its 
Strategic Economic Plan (SEP).  It recognises opportunities that have 
potential to transform the economy including Hinkley Point C, the 
Plymouth and Peninsula City Deal and key clusters in aerospace and 
advanced manufacturing; and data & environmental analysis (particularly 
the MET office at Exeter Science park).  
 
The SEP includes a commitment to help unlock housing growth in the 
LEP area.  This involves provision of a ‘kick start’ infrastructure 
programme to unlock and accelerate delivery of housing through a 
revolving loan fund, supplemented with infrastructure grants where 
necessary. 

Somerset 
Housing 
Strategy 
(2018) 

The strategy sets out the context for development in Somerset and again 
highlights that Somerset does not have enough homes of all tenures and 
that there is a growing affordability gap with a growing private rented 
sector that is getting more difficult to afford.  Hinkley Point C, where there 
are 5,600 workers on site at peak construction, is also causing an 
increase in demand for all forms of accommodation, one and two bed 
properties in particular, which is understood to have fuelled rents.  The 
strategy also suggests that there are delays in construction at key sites 
due to market financial changes, and a skills shortage within the 
construction sector. 

The strategy sets out five priorities linked to housing and the economy, 
which are relevant to housing delivery. 

• Priority 1: Maximise the number of affordable homes (all tenures).  By 
recognising affordable housing as a priority, provide leadership at the 
highest level to make this happen, ensuring authorities make use of 
all available funding streams from Central Government such as the 
Housing Infrastructure Fund and to deliver the necessary 
infrastructure to accelerate housing. 

• Priority 2: Provide more affordable homes to support rural economies 
and communities.  Advocates councils to promote land release for 
rural exception sites, increase the number of Community Land Trusts 
and improve the percentage of affordable housing delivery tied to 
Local Plan allocations.   

• Priority 3: Increase the supply of homes.  Suggests that councils 
ensure a five-year housing land supply to meet housing targets, 
maximise Hinkley Point C legacy benefits and work with One Public 
Estate and identify opportunities to reuse released land and buildings 
to meet housing needs. 

Page 115



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  72 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

• Priority 4: Upskill the local labour force.  Aligning activities with the 
Somerset Growth Plan and promote the establishment of a 
University, apprenticeships and a skills based academy for the 
construction sector, increasing rates of custom and self build, and 
introducing off site / modular construction. 

• Priority 5: Creating sustainable homes and places in Somerset.  
Achieved by ensuring sustainability is at the heart of decision making 
and providing more homes that are healthy and affordable to run, and 
integrating low carbon design and resilience to the predicted impacts 
of climate change. 

Local legislation, guidance and strategies 

South 
Somerset 
Local Plan 
(2006 -2028) 

The South Somerset Local Plan, adopted March 2015, contains a 
number of policies to guide the delivery of housing within the district.  
Key policies include: 

• Policy SS1: Settlement Strategy.  Indicates that Yeovil is the prime 
focus of development for South Somerset.  Followed by the Primary 
Market Towns of Chard, Crewkerne, Ilminster and Wincanton and the 
Local Market Towns of Ansford/Castle Cary, Langport/Huish Episcopi 
and Somerton.  Finally, settlements such as Bruton, Ilchester, 
Martock/Bower Hinton, Milborne Port, South Petherton, and Stoke 
Sub Hamdon are categorised as rural centres, where development is 
expected to be much more limited. 

• Policy SS4: District-wide housing provision.  Seeks 15,950 dwellings 
in the plan period April 2006 – March 2028 inclusive (725 per annum) 

• Policy SS5: Delivering New Housing Growth. Of the 15,950 
dwellings, 7,441 will be located within the Urban Framework of Yeovil 
and via two Sustainable Urban Extensions.  1,852 homes required 
within Chard, 961 in Crewkerne, 496 in Ilminster and 703 in 
Wincanton. Ansford/Castle Cary, Langport/Huish Episcopi and 
Somerton are expected to each provide 374 homes.    

• Policy HG2: The Use of Previously Developed Land (PDL) for New 
Housing Development.  Which seeks a minimum of 40% of new 
development should be on previously developed land 

• Policy YV2: Yeovil Sustainable Urban Extensions. Sets out details of 
two urban extensions (one south and one north-east).  Both for 
approx. 800 dwellings, and both to include 2.58 ha of land for 
economic development with provision of a primary school, health and 
neighbourhood centre. 

• Policy PMT1: Chard Strategic Growth Area & PMT2: Chard Phasing. 
Details land allocated to provide at least 2,716 dwellings, 13 ha of 
employment land, 2 primary schools, 4 neighbourhood centres, 
Highway infrastructure and improvements and sports / open space 
provision.  PMT2: Chard Phasing indicates that 1,220 of the dwellings 
are expected in the plan period.   

• Policy HG3: Provision of Affordable Housing and Policy and HG4: 
Provision of Affordable Housing – Sites of 1-5 Dwellings. Where it is 
viable to do so, the policy seeks 35% on sites of 6 dwellings or above 
(or 0.2ha and above) in all locations.  For schemes of 1 to 5 dwellings 
5% is sought in Yeovil, Primary Market areas and Local Market areas 
and 10% is sought elsewhere. 

 

Page 116



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  73 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

South 
Somerset 
Local Plan 
Review (2016 
-2036) 

The Council has started the process of reviewing its Local Plan and in 
June 2019, published its Preferred Options Consultation for a new Plan 
(Regulation 18), for 2016 to 2036.   The draft policies in the preferred 
options relevant are 

• A minimum of 14,322 dwellings (or c716 per annum)  

• Target for affordable housing of 206 per annum, seeking 29% 
affordable housing on sites of 10+ dwellings – slightly below the 
current requirement (of 35%) but still with a strong emphasis on 
affordable/social rented homes (80% with 20% as intermediate 
affordable) 

• A continuing concentration of new housing in the district’s main towns 
but to a slightly lesser extent than the current Plan (62% compared 
with 72%) and with Yeovil allocated around a third of the new homes 
as opposed to nearly a half in the current Plan 

• And a complementary increase in delivery in rural 
settlements/villages (27% in the emerging plan compared with 21% in 
the current Plan)  

• National Space Standards adopted but only for affordable housing 
 

Somerset 
Housing 
Market 
Assessment 
(2016) 

The Somerset Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) indicates that the 
objectively assessed housing need (OAN) per annum over the 2014-39 
period is between 547 to 607 units.  The net need in South Somerset for 
affordable units across the same period is 206 per annum, and suggests 
that around 10-15% of housing should be of an intermediate tenure with 
the remainder being social or affordable rented housing. 
 
It also suggests finds that over the 2014-39 period that there may be a 
need for 395 specialist units of accommodation for older people per 
annum.  This equates to about 17%-19% of all housing.  Additionally, the 
analysis highlights a potential need for an additional 186 registered care 
bedspaces across the same period.   
 

South 
Somerset 
Housing and 
Economic 
Land Supply 
(2018) 

The HELAA identified 133 housing sites in South Somerset that were 
suitable, available and achievable.  The 133 housing sites have potential 
to provide 9,271 dwellings.  By settlement area these are: 

• Yeovil: 18 sites, 3,396 dwellings (37% of total dwellings in South 
Somerset) 

• Primary Market Towns: 31 sites, 2,433 dwellings (26%) 

• Local Market Towns: 15 sites, 973 dwellings (11%) 

• Rural Centres: 17 sites, 855 dwellings (9%) 

• Rural Settlements: 52 sites, 1,614 dwellings (17%) 
 
Though the current Local Plan states a 725 per annum, in July 2018 the 
Government published guidance on a new Standardised Methodology for 
Assessing Housing Need, so the new calculation for SSDC is actually 
726 per annum.  This will now be used following the Review and 
Adoption of the new Local Plan.  The HELAA confirms that the yield is 
based on 30 dwellings per hectare as this broadly reflects the average 
net density across the district of 28 dwelling per hectare (as indicated in 
the Local Plan para 10.23). 

South 
Somerset 
‘Tackling the 
Challenges’ 

The plan sets out 6 priority projects for 2019/20, one of which being “to 
develop proposals to accelerate the delivery of key housing sites and 
associated infrastructure”.  The outcome of this is: to provide sufficient 
housing of all tenures available to those who need it; allow stalled sites to 

Page 117



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  74 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Council Plan 
(2019/20) 

be brought forward and improve connectivity with associated 
infrastructure.  The plan provides the following milestones for 2019/20: 

• Q1: To set up of a community of practice (expert working group), 
agree governance arrangements, scope and agree project objectives 
and expected outcomes and establish criteria for selecting sites 

• Q2: Review best practice to understand effective approaches and 
practices; and agree selected sites and associated infrastructure 
requirements 

• Q3: Scope options for accelerating delivery of selected sites 

• Q4: Share proposals for identified sites 

Page 118



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  75 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Annex 2 Proactive Local Authority Actions 
 

This Annex is set out as follows: 

 

• Creating better dialogue with the development industry 

• Helping to de-risk sites or improve cashflow 

• Requiring developers to provide more info on delivery timetables 

• Directly or indirectly involved in delivering housing 

 

A. Creating better dialogue with the development industry 

Denbighshire - Housing prospectus 

In 2016 Denbighshire released their ‘Housing Prospectus’; its purpose is to provide 

developers and investors a list of the development opportunities in the area.  The 2016 

prospectus contains 60 sites consisting of both sites allocated within the Denbighshire Local 

Development Plan or sites of 10+ units that have outline planning permission.    

Along with key site details, for instance, the area and potential capacity, the document 

provides other important details such as what would be sought through affordable 

housing/s106 and details of any constraints that would need to be considered such as 

contamination or details of habitats and biodiversity.  For each site, the prospectus sets out 

the main documents required to accompany the application (i.e. details of habitat surveys 

required, Tree assessments and so on). 

It is considered that compiling this data into one prospectus, and highlighting potential 

constraints and requirements at the outset, could help speed up delivery and provide further 

clarity and consistency through the application and development process. 

Birmingham City Council - SME Contractor Procurement 

Birmingham City Council plays a large and important role in the delivery of new homes in the 

City.  It set up the Birmingham Municipal Housing Trust (BMHT)64 in 2009, with the aim of 

helping develop authority-owned sites (often small, brownfield i.e. former garage sites).   

Though the initial programme was quite small (129 properties) it has grown to 872 in 

2016/17. 

In 2017 it set up a ‘Dynamic Purchasing System’ that packaged BMHT sites of 15 units or 

less into a procurement portal specifically aimed at SME builders (as opposed to volume 

builders that had been more prevalent).  After the Birmingham Council team assesses the 

viability of each of the sites, they are mapped and added to the portal. Sites are combined or 

divided into lots up to a maximum of 15 units per site, which is considered as important for 

very small sites, which otherwise would be costly to develop given the low unit numbers. 

The procurement system allows SME builders to join or re-join freely over a four-year period, 

with a key aim to promote dialogue with developers, where opportunities or challenges can 

be discussed easily.  

Ipswich 

Challenges to delivery include; very limited number of developable sites, many of which are 

brownfield and/or highly constrained; a high number of unbuilt permissions; and relatively 

low house prices. 

 
64 https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/housing-and-planning/innovation-council-housebuilding/innovation-council-housebuilding-8 

Page 119

https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/housing-and-planning/innovation-council-housebuilding/innovation-council-housebuilding-8


 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  76 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

To promote delivery the Council is seeking to: 

• Establish better working groups with the development industry, focussed on both 

improving the standards of applications and improving knowledge of site constraints.  

• Work with neighbouring authorities to explore development opportunities 

• Use CPO powers 

• Review of all Local Plan housing allocations with a view to increasing densities 

 

Adopting a more proactive approach where applications lapse, or are about to lapse, to 

understand the reasoning. Ipswich have been successful in working with developers and 

external advisors to obtain Housing Infrastructure Funding from Homes England to unlock 

the large-scale delivery of Ipswich Garden Suburb.65  

East Devon/Exeter/Teignbridge 

The Growth Point Delivery Team is hosted by East Devon District Council and supported 

by the other funding partners.  

The function of the Delivery Team is to be a dedicated group of specialists who help to 

coordinate the delivery of the strategic developments and providing a point of information 

for all projects; this includes facilitating meetings and enabling partnership working. 

Working with the local authority partners, the Delivery Team are running a studies 

programme to provide an evidence base which will help to inform development across the 

whole of Exeter and East Devon. 

The team report directly to the Exeter and Heart of Devon Growth Board, which 

comprises of key representatives from all the partner organisations and accountable 

Government bodies. The Board meets quarterly. 

All planning and development decisions are subject to local and regional planning policy 

and all growth projects will be subject to comprehensive testing and public consultation, 

by way of the Local Planning process to ensure that individual proposals are suitable and 

acceptable. 

B. Helping to de-risk sites or improve cashflow 

Leeds City Council - Acceleration Programme 

Leeds’s Housing Growth Team set up an ‘Acceleration Programme’ which was established 

to find ways of unlocking stalled sites. Working alongside the Planning team, it entails a 

systematic trawl through the SHLAA and, in 50 site batches at a time, contacting land 

owners or applicants to identify how sites can be brought forward.  

By contacting landowners and applicants directly the Council are able to gain an 

understanding as to the reason as to why the site has stalled, and offer bespoke support to 

remedy this.  Support provided to landowners and developers varies; but can include 

brokering finance discussions with Homes England or the LEP; to marrying up land owners 

with RPs or other SME developers; and for less experienced landowners it can be simply 

providing confidence and signposting.  

Brokering dialogue between developers and Homes England, through the Accelerated 

Construction programme (which provides recoverable funding for a programme of sites) and 

through the Housing Infrastructure Fund - Marginal Viability Fund has been cited as 

 
65 https://democracy.ipswich.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=17088&PlanId=174&RPID=0 

Page 120

https://democracy.ipswich.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=17088&PlanId=174&RPID=0


 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  77 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

particularly effective for stimulating delivery.  According to a committee paper in March 2018 

the ‘Acceleration Programme’ has supported 28 sites equating to almost 1,900 units. 

Oldham - Housing Fund & improving cashflow and certainty 

Oldham needs to build twice as many homes than its current rate.  It is understood to have a 

limited land supply and one that is made up of many unviable brownfield sites that the 

market are not bringing forward.  The Council, in their 2019 Housing Strategy66, are currently 

looking at measures such as establishing a Housing Fund where developers can take loans 

to assist viability.  The Council is also looking at ways it can help cashflow by deferring 

payments (for example deferring land payments until house sales take place) and providing 

more certainty to developers. 

Brighton Land Release Fund 

Brighton & Hove is benefiting from over £800k from the Ministry of Housing, Communities 

and Local Government (MHCLG) Land Release Fund (LRF), which is managed by the One 

Public Estate (OPE) programme, to support delivery of affordable housing and regeneration 

on council owned land 

The Land Release Fund is a government funded programme administered through the One 
Public Estate programme which provides Councils and their public sector partners access to 
£8.7 million of funding, as well as practical support and expertise, to help them develop and 
deliver ambitious property programmes to benefit their communities.67 

OPE provides councils with funding and access to practical support and expertise to deliver 
property-based projects with wider public sector partners, including central government 
departments. 

The joint initiative enables publicly-owned land and buildings to be used more efficiently and 
deliver real benefits to communities across the country, including new jobs and better 
services. 

C. Mechanisms for maintaining delivery timetables 

Central Bedfordshire Council – Delivery Clauses 

In January 2019 Central Bedfordshire Council published their ‘Housing Delivery Clause 
Technical Note’.  The note sets out the Council’s approach to securing the delivery of new 
homes on consented sites within the first five years, through the use of section 106 
agreements.68   It states that “the Council will seek a delivery timetable to be put forward by 
the site promoter which will then form part of the accompanying section 106 agreement”.  
This means that the Council works with site promoters and developers to arrive at a delivery 
statement which is appended to the S106 agreement. The statement sets out the number of 
completions to be achieved each year.  The delivery timetable is intended to be used as a 
material consideration in decision making.  

The Technical Note states that it applies to all deliverable housing development that are 

capable of delivery in the first 1 to 5 years of the rolling plan period, and states that the 

timetable should “be submitted as early in the process as possible at pre-application stage or 

 
66 Oldham BC (2019), ‘Housing strategy 2019’ 
67 https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/housing-planning-and-homelessness/one-public-estate 
68 https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/5.36%20Speeding%20up%20delivery_v03.1.pdf 

Page 121

https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/housing-planning-and-homelessness/one-public-estate
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/5.36%20Speeding%20up%20delivery_v03.1.pdf


 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  78 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

planning application stage” and by using “reasonable assumptions” factoring in such things 

as the presence of competing sites, the likely commencement, and any enabling works  

Great Yarmouth Borough Council – ‘step in’ rights  

The Council recognises that they have a significant number of sites with outline permission, 

but where there is little activity “to either sell the site to a developer or make a reserved 

matters application”69 and also for “sites with full consent which remain unstarted years after 

consent”70.  The Council is exploring ways to grant ‘step-in’ rights if a developer is not 

making timely steps to build out sites either to enable them to develop the site themselves; 

through a joint venture company or to parcel the site to other local developers. 

D.  Direct delivery 

Bolton Metropolitan Borough Council – City Analytics platform & Delivery 

Statements 

Bolton have a heavy reliance on brownfield land, which are small to medium sized and 

therefore have increased risk for developers.  They have over 100 mill sites that range from 

vacant to small-scale low value employment sites.   

The Council are developing a ‘City Analytics’ platform with Arcadis. Its aim is to potentially 

improve the data required on sites, including viability assessment, land values, and 

forecasted delivery rates.  This should also help the Council’s understanding of various 

‘risks’ on brownfield sites.  Through this work they have been able to identify 30 small sites 

which they are looking to develop through a portfolio approach with support requested from 

Homes England. 

The Council are also proposing requiring delivery statements from applicants including a 

history of the delivery rates for the developer and timescale for delivery.  The Council hope 

that this will lead to improved scrutiny of potential developers.   

Spelthorne Borough Council – use of conditions 

The Council set up a housing company, Knowle Green Estates (KGE) in 2016 with the 

ambitions of delivering more affordable housing and regenerating the town centres of the 

Borough.  KGE has a number of projects and is expected to deliver some 20% of the 

Borough’s assessed 5-year land supply requirement in the Local Plan. 

One action in their HDAP that demonstrates a ‘new’ approach is to “consider imposing a 

condition providing that development must begin within a shorter timescale than the relevant 

default period, where this would expedite the development without threatening its 

deliverability or viability”. 

Great Yarmouth Borough Council – ‘step in’ rights 

The HDAP cites a number of reasons for under delivery, including: low land-values and non-

viability; difficulty accessing finance; lack of competition amongst housebuilders; developer 

caution; and lengthy s106 negotiations. 

Great Yarmouth Borough Council note that they have a significant number of sites with 

outline permission, but where there is little activity “to either sell the site to a developer or 

make a reserved matters application”71 and also for “sites with full consent which remain 

 
69 GYBC (2019). ‘Housing Delivery Action Plan Great Yarmouth Borough Council August 2019’ 
70 IBID 
71 GYBC (2019). ‘Housing Delivery Action Plan Great Yarmouth Borough Council August 2019’ 

Page 122



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  79 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

unstarted years after consent”72.  The Council are exploring ways to grant ‘step-in’ rights if a 

developer is not making timely steps to build out sites either to enable them to develop the 

site themselves; through a joint venture company or to parcel the site to other local 

developers. 

E. Directly or indirectly involved in delivering homes 

Eastleigh Borough Council – JV and development company 

In a cabinet report of June 2019 the Council73 explained that, “…..the Council is a housing 
delivery enabler and taking responsibility for making development happen in the area, with 
an emphasis on actively using its own assets and capabilities to unlock housing 
opportunities.”  The Council has an established housing programme with the planned 
delivery of over 2000 dwellings across 10 sites with one strategic site at that 1200+ 
dwellings but a portfolio of smaller sites – ranging from c16 to 250 dwellings.  At the time of 
the report, 144 new homes to be held on behalf of the Council had been completed, 
delivered through a variety of mechanisms – through the Council’s own housing company or 
in individual projects working with its partners – providing affordable housing or PRS (using 
tenancy terms specified by the Council and managed by an RP).      

The on-going programme of delivery of new homes reflects an over-arching objective of the 

Council to maintain a pipeline of development sites and so the same Cabinet report 

referenced new sites to be brought into the programme – subject to committee agreement. 

The programme includes different mechanisms by which the Council engages in the 

development process.  These include financial investment by the Council to secure the type 

of affordable housing it requires, JV with a developer partner with the Council purchasing the 

site in return for a number of PRS units it then controls, a JV with a developer with the 

Council making a grant to the development in return for a number of PRS/affordable units.  

The Council has also made a significant step towards achieving its own development 

(through a development company) by purchasing a 317 ac site and then undertaking its 

master planning and delivery of services,  prior to prior to selling “‘fully serviced’ parcels to 

commercial & residential developers.”.    

South Cambridgeshire District Council - Ermine Street Housing Company  

To meet the challenge of delivering more affordable homes in the district, the Council 

invested £7m in setting up the local authority housing company ‘Ermine Street Housing’ in 

201374.  Ermine Street Housing is an independent company, though is wholly owned by the 

Council.  The portfolio originally included 160 homes purchased by the Council and rented at 

market rents with longer term tenancy rents, however in 2015 a decision was made to 

purchase 500 more properties. 75  The company now owns properties in neighbouring 

districts.   

This has been considered successful in not only helping the housing needs of the district but 

also in generating additional revenue streams for the Council.  In April 2017 the company 

had generated £100,000 of income for the Council, which has been invested back into 

Council services. 

 
72 IBID 
73 https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/5488/ed19a-update-15-housing-programme-update-appendix-1.pdf 
74 https://www.local.gov.uk/building-homes-together-south-cambridgeshire-district-council 
75 https://www.tcpa.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=9b61c3d5-5424-4826-abf8-f6cccacf7975  

Page 123

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/5488/ed19a-update-15-housing-programme-update-appendix-1.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/building-homes-together-south-cambridgeshire-district-council
https://www.tcpa.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=9b61c3d5-5424-4826-abf8-f6cccacf7975


 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  80 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Plymouth - Plan for Homes 

Plymouth City Council’s Plan for Homes 2016-202176 sets out a proactive and collaborative 
approach to delivering 5,000 in the city in 5 years.   

The plan uses local authority and Homes England resources to support various housing 
projects and is doing so without setting up a development company but has the advantage of 
significant land-holdings it can use to take the plan forward. The Council’s aims are to 
ensure existing sites are developed by reducing risks for developers, help lever in funds from 
Homes England and other investors, improve the affordability of new homes, and increase 
housing choices for different groups in the community.   

The 2016 plan set out a number of key interventions: 

• The creation of a Land Acquisition Fund of £30 million with Homes England.  This is 

used to buy up stalled and lapsed sites to stimulate delivery.     

• £3 million Housing infrastructure Fund to support housing delivery prioritising 

opportunities in the 3 Growth Areas set out tin the Plymouth Plan 

• Establish Homes for Plymouth, a new housing company to deliver more homes 

directly in Plymouth.  This includes pledging 10 new council sites and a £10 million 

loan facility to enable 500 new homes by 2021 

• A Plymouth Housing Prospectus listing all potential sites, including all those with 

planning permission, stalled and lapsed sites, along with their potential for housing 

and to attract private sector investment. 

• Support more flexible land and s106 payments aimed at improving developers 

cashflow and enabling the earliest possible start 

• Launch an Empty Homes initiative to bring back homes into use with a fund of £1 

million 

Nuneaton - Ongoing programme of new council housebuilding 

Nuneaton has a large need for affordable housing, with a requirement for over 500 per 

annum.  As of October 2018, the Council was the largest affordable housing provider with a 

stock of 5,800.  For comparison, housing associations have 2,400.   

In 2014 the Council set up a two year pilot to deliver small scale developments, which led to 

the completion of 47 properties77.  The pilot “provided essential learning for the Council for 

future projects in terms of understanding (i) the development process and (ii) the importance 

of necessary skills. An in-house development team now exists to lead on the Council 

housebuilding programme”.  The projects are funded through a number of sources including 

HRA headroom funding, Affordable housing rental schemes, Homes England grants and 

Right to Buy receipts. 

North Kesteven – Ambitious programme of council house building 

In 2012 the Council set up a pilot to deliver affordable homes, and by 2016 it had completed 

its 200th property78. The scheme focusses on sites not attractive to other public and private 

housing developers, for example infill sites on council estates.  It uses a number of funds 

namely HRA reserves, commuted sums through Section 106 agreements and Homes 

England (HCA) grants.79 

 
76 https://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/3426186/lahousing2019.pdf  

77 https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/housing-and-planning/innovation-council-housebuilding/innovation-council-housebuilding-14 
78 https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/housing-and-planning/innovation-council-housebuilding/innovation-council-housebuilding-12 
79 https://www.n-kesteven.gov.uk/residents/homes-and-property/information-about-housing-in-north-kesteven/building-new-
houses/ 

Page 124

https://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/3426186/lahousing2019.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/housing-and-planning/innovation-council-housebuilding/innovation-council-housebuilding-12
https://www.n-kesteven.gov.uk/residents/homes-and-property/information-about-housing-in-north-kesteven/building-new-houses/
https://www.n-kesteven.gov.uk/residents/homes-and-property/information-about-housing-in-north-kesteven/building-new-houses/


 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  81 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

The Council is now involved with the direct purchase of land for development, including 37 

acres of land at Sleaford in 201880, as the Council have built up an expertise to explore other 

approaches to deliver homes.  This, they believe, is quicker than going through the 

development process.   

Sunderland – Intervention to deliver the ‘right type’ of homes 

While housing values are considered to be weak within Sunderland, particularly compared to 

other areas in the North East, housing delivery rates have been relatively high.  The 

Sunderland Homes Ltd81, a council owned company set up in 2017, targeted the delivery of 

housing types that housebuilders were tending not to build.  Family homes, bungalows and 

smaller scale developments (of between 10 and 40 units) were being overlooked by the 

volume builders and often difficult for SME’s.  The company intends to reinvest the profits in 

future projects.  

Salford City Council – Derive Housing Company 

Salford City Council has a housing company, Derive which has been established so that 

Salford can improve its delivery of Affordable Housing. There is a recognition by the Council 

that the market through the planning system will not provide the range and type of housing 

needed and, in the locations, required. The Council is using the ways open to it to provide 

more housing directly and expects that these approaches will be increased as their capacity 

increases. The Council’s company was established in 2017 with the aim of delivering their 

first homes in 2019.  

The Council has 6,000 households registered on their waiting list for housing and they have 

no ability to provide social rent homes though grant. Therefore, the Council are required to 

provide social rent homes through cross subsidy. This involves the Council purchasing 

housing to add to its stock and also to utilise s106 agreements as a supplement to this. 

Harrogate – Building capacity 

Harrogate has a long-standing commitment to develop homes through the HRA and the 

Council has built up in-house capacity, including a design team and a viability assessment 

unit.  It currently has plans to develop up to 8 sites through this process but this will only 

release the potential for up to 26 Affordable Housing units. 

Cheltenham – ALMO Cheltenham Borough Homes 

Through its ALMO, Cheltenham Borough Homes (CBH), a private company limited by 

guarantee without share capital, registered with Homes England Cheltenham Borough 

Council (CBC) has an agreement that CBH will deliver the actions (such as new housing)  

Camden - Community Investment Programme (CIP) 

Camden Council reviews its land and property portfolio on estates identified for regeneration. 

It has set up Camden Living, a wholly council controlled company, so we can retain more of 

the new homes we’re building through the CIP and offer affordable rents to residents. This is 

a private company 10484863. It was established in 2016 and they have developed and let 

65 homes to date. The homes have been developed with the support of the Community 

Investment Programme. 

 
80 https://lincolnshirereporter.co.uk/2018/02/north-kesteven-district-council-buys-37-acres-land-private-developers/ 
81 https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/5.36%20Speeding%20up%20delivery_v03.1.pdf 

Page 125

https://lincolnshirereporter.co.uk/2018/02/north-kesteven-district-council-buys-37-acres-land-private-developers/
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/5.36%20Speeding%20up%20delivery_v03.1.pdf


 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  82 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Isle of Wight – PSP Facilitating 

The Council has established a Regeneration Directorate to help regenerate the Island’s 

economy and transform the financial position of the Council. Using Council assets and 

working in partnership with the private sector, the initial programme has identified sites 

which, if delivered to their full potential, could bring in increased council tax, business rates 

and new homes bonus, as well as create up to 12,000 new jobs over a 10 year period. 

The Council has entered into a strategic partnership with PSP Facilitating Ltd to bring 

forward Council owned stock. However, progress has been slow with no units being brought 

to the market in the first 30 months of establishment. 

The Isle of Wight Council has also carried out a review into whether there is a need to 

revoke planning permissions on stalled sites.82 

Derbyshire – Buy in expertise  

Derbyshire Development Limited is a company wholly owned by Derbyshire County Council. 

Its prime objective is around income generation. The company is small and will primarily buy 

in the expertise it needs from external consultants. It is their intention to work with district 

councils in the future and may be a model that could pool local authority resources to deliver 

a cost effective service. 

Watford Borough Council - Watford Housing Supply Joint Venture 

Watford Community Housing and Watford Borough Council have formed a joint venture 

called Hart Homes and are aiming to deliver more than 500 homes over six years.  Following 

a meeting with both the Council and Watford Community Homes a decision was made to 

pursue a joint venture, with a key focus on encouraging housing supply.  The process to 

establish Hart Homes took 12 months.  According to research by the LGA83 benefits of this 

method include “the ability to access funds, assets, skills and experience” and the biggest 

challenge “was early buy-in to the concepts of the JV and this was largely overcome by clear 

direction from Board and Council Members”.   

  

 
82 https://www.iow.gov.uk/Meetings/committees/cabinet/10-1-19/PAPER%20B%20-

%20Revocation%20of%20Planning%20Permissions.pdf 
83 LGA (2019) Watford Borough Council: housing supply joint venture accessed via https://www.local.gov.uk/watford-borough-
council-housing-supply-joint-venture  

Page 126

https://www.iow.gov.uk/Meetings/committees/cabinet/10-1-19/PAPER%20B%20-%20Revocation%20of%20Planning%20Permissions.pdf
https://www.iow.gov.uk/Meetings/committees/cabinet/10-1-19/PAPER%20B%20-%20Revocation%20of%20Planning%20Permissions.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/watford-borough-council-housing-supply-joint-venture
https://www.local.gov.uk/watford-borough-council-housing-supply-joint-venture


 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  83 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Annex 3  Council Housing Companies Research  

(undertaken by Inside Housing 2018)  

 

L
o

c
a
l 

a
u

th
o

ri
ty

 

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

c
o

m
p

a
n

ie
s
 

N
a
m

e
 o

f 

c
o

m
p

a
n

ie
s
 

D
a
te

 r
e
g

is
te

r 

In
v

e
s
tm

e
n

t 

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

s
 

A
ff

o
rd

a
b

le
 

Basildon 1 Sempra Homes Ltd 19-Dec-14 £10,600,000 21 16 

Bedford 1 Benedict Bedford Ltd 29-Dec-16 0 0 0 

Bexley 1 BexleyCo Ltd 28-Jun-17 £2,000,000 0 0 

Blackpool 1 Blackpool Housing Company 26-Jan-15 £1,600,000 51 0 

Bracknell Forest 1 Downshire Homes Ltd 29-Oct-15 £6,332,100 40 40 

Broxbourne 1 Badger BC Investments Ltd 08-Nov-13 £25,000 28 0 

Cambridge 1 Cambridge City Housing Company 15-Feb-16 £7,500,000 23 23 

Canterbury 1 
 

13-Feb-17 0 0 0 

Colchester 1 Colchester Amphora Homes Ltd 
01-Jun-17 

unspecified"start up 
costs" 

0 0 

County Durham 1 Chapter Homes Aug-15 £12,500,000 63 12 

Daventry 1 Daventry Estate Company Ltd 19-Nov-12 £1,000 0 0 

East Devon 1 East Devon Homes Oct-17 0 0 0 

East 
Hertfordshire 

1 Millstream Property Investments 
Ltd 

02-Feb-18 0 
0 0 

Eastbourne 2 Eastbourne Housing Investment 
Company Ltd; Aspiration Homes 

01-May-15 0 
67 0 

Eastleigh 2 Woodside Avenue Developments; 
Stoneham Park Developments 

6 Jul 17; 15 Jun 16  0 

Fareham 1 Aspect Building Communities 10-Dec-14 £5,000 0 0 

Forest Heath 1 Barley Homes Ltd 15-Mar-16 £140,622 0 0 

Great Yarmouth 1 Equinox Enterprises 28-Sep-17 0 0 0 

Greenwich 1 Meridian Home Start 23-Jun-16 0 0 0 

Guildford 2 Guildford Borough Council 
Holdings Ltd; North Downs 
Housing Ltd 

Apr-16 £2,400,000 
6 0 

Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

2 HFS Developments LLP; HFS 
Developments 2 Ltd 

27 Mar 14; 19 Jul 16 £101 
0 0 

Hastings 1 Hastings Housing Company 01-Sep-17 £15,000,000 0 0 

Hinckley and 
Bosworth 

1 Hinckley & Bosworth Development 
Ltd 

13-May-15 £15,000 
0 0 

Ipswich 1 Handford Homes Ltd 12-Jul-17 £10 0 0 

King's Lynn and 
West Norfolk 

1 West Norfolk Housing Co Ltd 
09-Sep-16 0 

0 0 

Lewes 2 Lewes Housing Investment Co 
Ltd; Aspiration Homes 

4 Jul 17 - 30 Jun 17 0 
0 0 

Luton 1 Foxhall Homes Ltd 16-Feb-17 £130,000 0 0 

Mansfield 1 Mansfield Homes Ltd 19-Aug-14 £46,000 23 0 

Merton 1 Merantun Development Ltd 09-Aug-17 £160,000 0 0 

North Tyneside 4 Various 11 Dec 12 - 1 Mar 
17 

£4 
18 18 

Oadby and 
Wigston 

1 Bushloe Developments Ltd 
21-Dec-16 £100,000 

0 0 

Peterborough 1 Medesham Homes 25-Nov-16 £100,000 0 0 

Reading 1 Homes for Reading Ltd 06-Apr-16 £151,000 7 0 

Page 127



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  84 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Richmondshire 1 Mercury Housing Co Ltd 09-Jan-15 £1 0 0 

Slough 2 Herschel Homes; James Elliman 
Homes 

06-Feb-17 £100,000 
53 42 

South Bucks 1 Consilio Property Ltd 15-Sep-17  no no 

South Holland 1 Welland Homes 22-Jun-15 £100 15 0 

South Kesteven 1 Gravitas Housing Ltd 30-Jan-17 £2,800,000 0 0 

South Norfolk 1 Big Sky Developments Ltd 14-Aug-13 £8,960,000 77 19 

South Tyneside 1 Centuarea Homes Ltd 30-Mar-17  0 0 

Southend-on-
Sea 

1 Southend Housing Ltd 
16-May-15 0 

0 0 

Southwark 1 Southwark Housing Company May-15 0 0 0 

Spelthorne 1 Knowle Green Estates Ltd 09-May-16 £1 0 0 

Stockport 1 Viaduct Partnerships Ltd 15-Aug-16 0 0 0 

Stoke-on-Trent 1 Fortior Homes Oct-16 £55,000,000 0 0 

Swindon 1 Swindon Housing Company Jun-17 1,500,000 0 0 

Test Valley 1 Valley Housing Ltd 30-Apr-16 £10,000 6 3 

Three Rivers 1 Three Rivers Homes Ltd 24-Mar-17 £510,000 0 0 

Wakefield 1 Bridge Homes (Yorkshire) Jul-14 3,000,000 30 9 

Wealden 1 Sussex Weald Homes Ltd 15-Dec-16 £100,000 0 0 

 

Source: Inside Housing (2018) accessed via 

https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/councils-set-up-58-housing-companies-since-

2012-54634 

Page 128

https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/councils-set-up-58-housing-companies-since-2012-54634
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/news/councils-set-up-58-housing-companies-since-2012-54634


 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  85 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Annex 4 Consultation Issues 

Interviewee 
Organisation 

Interviewee Comment Study Implications 

 Area specific  

Developer Lack of clarity and planning for Chard Eastern 
Road has slowed down delivery in Chard for 
years. Chard seen as well placed to deliver 
housing growth. 

Case for established need for 
Chard road (or not) and 
alignment plus funding 
strategy. 

Housebuilder Lack of clarity for Eastern Road has meant that 
there have been missed opportunities to deliver 
sections from consented development. 

Case for established need for 
Chard road (or not) and 
alignment plus funding 
strategy. 

Other Crewkerne development also linked to eastern 
access road.  Suffers the same lack of planning 
as Chard although less housing is dependent on 
the road. 

Case for established need for 
Crewkerne road (or not) and 
alignment plus funding 
strategy. 

Developer Yeovil town centre development and regeneration 
plans delayed.  Lacking delivery strategy, and 
insufficient LPA action. 

Case for further planning of 
scheme with delivery and 
funding strategy. 

Developer Suggestion that there is a strategic power supply 
issue for Yeovil which will delay development. 

Issue to be addressed 
through LPA infrastructure 
delivery planning? 

 Planning Process  

Developer Strategic planning needs to start identifying sites 
for the next Development Plan and the one after 
that in order to increase acceptability of 
development. 

 

Developer 
Housebuilder 
Other 

Local interests on area planning committees 
perceived to be destructive.   

Committee system slowing 
decision making 

Housebuilder 
Other 

Committee members lack appropriate planning 
skills and will make non planning related 
decisions – often against officer and consultee 
recommendations.  Some suggestion of lack of 
respect for planning officers. 
Member decision making has resulted in 
undefended/lost appeals. 

Case for more explicit briefing 
and training for committee 
members. 
May require overt role of 
senior council staff in support 
for planning officers. 

Housebuilder 
Other 

Area committees know that in many cases the 
Regulation committee will sort out the poor 
decisions taken locally.  But this adds delay and 
uncertainty. There is some suggestion that the 
Regulation committee decisions are also losing 
quality. 

Implication that area 
committee members seek to 
prioritise local political 
support.  If correct, suggests 
area-based planning decision 
system may be flawed. 
Case for more explicit briefing 
and training for committee 
members. 

Housebuilder 
Developer 

Committee operation flawed by substitutions, loss 
of faith on impartiality in the system.  
Management of objector verbal representations is 
poor, with repetitious points made with little 
management. 

Case for committee operation 
guidelines to be reviewed? 

Housebuilder Renegotiation on planning applications and in 
particular s106 is a long-winded process going 
through all the two-tier committees again, In some 
instances applicants have elected to slow 
development rather than take the time to resolve 
the issue. 

Committee system slowing 
decision making. 

Page 129



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  86 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Interviewee 
Organisation 

Interviewee Comment Study Implications 

Housebuilder 
Other 

Planning officers are under resourced. Results in 
cases where role becomes post boxes for 
statutory consultees without having the time or 
support for taking individual judgements on the 
planning balance.  Redundancy reviews are 
considered to exacerbate this situation.  Lack of 
resource also has higher risk of delays.  Contrasts 
were drawn with experience elsewhere, where 
officers have the time to ‘police’ the process more 
effectively. 

Planning officer numbers and 
spread of experience could be 
increased.  Need to apply 
existing resource more 
efficiently through 
development/delivery team 
approach, rather than area 
based. 

Housebuilder Officer time taken to resource two-tier committee 
structure is onerous – 5-6 committee 
appearances per month?  Exacerbates resource 
issue. 
Compared to other locations where there are two 
tier systems, but the lower tier only handles 
smaller scheme applications. 

Review of two-tier system 
may be warranted to balance 
local responsiveness with 
effective planning process. 

Housebuilder Standardised s106 template would be useful.  
One consultee offered to contribute time to assist. 

Consider developing 
standardised s106 template. 

Housebuilder Heads of terms need to be run alongside the 
application in order to avoid the delay.  Generally, 
applicants would be willing to pay for this. 
Other locations charge for a speedier process and 
effective PPAs, which are considered to be good 
value for money in reducing delays and 
uncertainty. 

Suggestion that paying for 
faster process could be 
attractive for applicants. 
Linked to delivery team 
approach. 

Housebuilder PPAs not always a silver bullet.  But applicants 
would like to have a speedier and more certain 
system, with milestones and meetings timetabled 
in.  Some of the time delays result from slow 
responses from statutory consultees.  Considers 
that where statutory consultees have issues, they 
should attend scheduled meetings. 

Speeding up third party 
consultees will require 
establishing ‘rules of 
engagement’ within their 
statutory obligations.  May 
benefit SSDC as well as 
applicants. 

Housebuilder Reluctance to take LPA to appeal on non-
determination as prefer to negotiate. 

 

Other LDOs may speed delivery on allocated sites. LDO process (with associated 
design guides etc.) to be 
considered. 

Housebuilder Lack of in-house legal expertise is a weakness Role for LPA/pan-LPA 
resource? 

 Open for business  

Other Perceived lack of clarity around priorities for CIL 
funding. 

 

Housebuilder Happy to continue development in South 
Somerset. 

 

Developer 
Housebuilder 

The availability of third-party funding (grant or 
loan) is able to reduce peak borrowing and risk.  
Can also avoid stalled delivery as development 
hits thresholds for infrastructure provision. 
Requires work in advance of opportunities (which 
often have short term window) in order to take 
advantage, which in turn requires early dialogue 
and council resources. 

Funding bids can help secure 
continued delivery.  Requires 
resources. 

Housebuilder Council communicating available sites could be 
useful although many housebuilders prefer their 
involvement to start pre outline consent. 

May have some positive 
benefits – for landowner-led 
application sites? 

Page 130



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  87 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Interviewee 
Organisation 

Interviewee Comment Study Implications 

Housebuilder Clear communication about the extent of planning 
obligations on sites will provide clarity to 
developers/housebuilders as well as managing 
landowner expectations. Would need to include 
county as well as district obligations. 

May need to make 
requirements clear on website 
as well as in discussion with 
landowners.  May require 
work with SCC to capture full 
range of requirements as well 
as other consultees for 
strategic sites (part of IDP 
process?) 

 Viability  

Developer LPA process of assessing site viability concerns is 
flawed and has led to viability issues stalling 
delivery on some major sites with significant 
infrastructure costs. 
Viability discussions can also cause significant 
delays in delivery. 
 

Suggests need for in-house or 
framework viability expertise. 
 
May be useful to formally set 
out viability process 
requirements (SPD?) in 
tandem with updated area 
wide viability. 

Housebuilder No objection in principle in providing infrastructure 
(e.g. transport, education) so long as viability 
impact recognised, and appropriate trade-offs 
made. Recognises Council’s role in trying to 
maximise affordable housing provision but 
negotiations can delay delivery. 

 

Housebuilder 
Other 

Lower values in parts of South Somerset can 
make development more ‘fragile’ in viability terms 
but not necessarily a problem so long as land 
prices flex to accommodate this.  Problems can 
arise when landowners are unrealistic, particularly 
when infrastructure or planning obligation costs 
are high.  Different housebuilders have various 
profit thresholds which means their ability to pay 
for land will vary. 

Role for clear expression of 
planning requirements, 
especially when landowners 
bring forward sites for outline 
consent without housebuilder 
partners. 

 Attitude to delivery  

Developer 
Housebuilder 

In principle desire to deliver at fastest rate 
possible.  Housebuilders expressed interest in 
further sites in South Somerset. 
National volume housebuilders report delivery of 
80-90 dwellings per annum in Yeovil. 
However, site specific issues (e.g. contamination) 
can slow delivery in some cases. 

Suggests that there is no 
intrinsic problem with the 
house buying market in 
Yeovil. 

Housebuilder LPA insistence on a particular market dwelling 
mix can disconnect with housebuilders’ business 
model and reduce returns.  Renegotiation delay 
causes delivery to stall. 

 

Developer In some cases, developer capacity can slow 
process, especially if there are additional 
complications in getting sites consented. 

May require LPA intervention 
if site delivery is important to 
Local Plan/5YHLS 

 Landownership  

Housebuilder 
Developer 

Development landownership is concentrated in a 
limited number of organisations.  Splitting 
ownership will increase delivery, partly by 
increasing the pool of local/regional housebuilders 
able to take on smaller sites. 

Splitting larger sites may be 
part of negotiations with site 
owners but requires officers to 
have the resource to enable 
knowledge and relationship 
building – delivery team 
approach may help. 

Page 131



 

Three Dragons and Bespoke Property Consultants  88 
Draft Report – V3 – June 2020 

Interviewee 
Organisation 

Interviewee Comment Study Implications 

Housebuilder 
Other 

Some landowners are seeking outline consents to 
increase the value of their portfolio rather than 
planning to deliver dwellings in the short term. 
Some landowners will promise policy compliance 
in order to get consents but maintain unrealistic 
land price expectations. 

Clarity about planning 
obligation requirements an 
important part of process.  
May be a case for time limited 
consents. 

 SSDC Intervention  

Other SSDC not currently staffed to undertake 
interventions in the housing market (staff numbers 
and expertise).  Staffing up would require 
significant expenditure on salaries (potentially at 
CEO levels) as well as investment capital. 

Needs development of 
business case for any 
proposals for SSDC 
intervention in housing 
delivery, to include appraisal 
of options for different types 
of intervention. 

Other Even where councils have made an effort to 
intervene, this has often been a relatively small 
proportion of supply so may not be the most cost-
effective way to guarantee a step change in 
delivery. 

Needs development of 
business case for any 
proposals for SSDC 
intervention in housing 
delivery, to include appraisal 
of options for different types 
of intervention. 

Housebuilder Council led investment to deliver infrastructure 
serving sites will reduce risk and speed up 
delivery. 

Business case for Council 
borrowing for infrastructure 
provision (rolling repayable 
fund?) and generation of 
infrastructure funding bids. 

 

Page 132



Electric Vehicle (EV) Charger Network project
Executive Portfolio Holder: Cllr Sarah Dyke, Environment
Director: Clare Pestell, Income Generation and Commercial Services
Lead Officers: James Divall, Income Opportunities Development Manager

Vicki Dawson, Lead Specialist: Environmental Health
Contact Details: James.divall@southsomerset.gov.uk 

Vicki.dawson@southsomerset.gov.uk 

Purpose of the Report

1. This report sets out the business case and rational for SSDC to set up an Electric Vehicle (EV) 
Charger Network across South Somerset. It outlines the relevant project background information, 
benefits and business case needed to set up this network proposal.  Following industry 
investigations, advice and the research of best practise, the report outlines the proposed approach 
to establish the first phase of an EV charger network for South Somerset.  

2. If the business case is approved, the project will be taken forward and implemented in early August 
2020 in partnership with DELETTI – Devon Low-carbon Energy & Transport Technology Innovator 
a partnership of Devon County Council, East Devon District Council (EDDC), North Devon District 
Council, South Hams District Council, Teignbridge District Council and West Devon Borough Council 
and is scheduled to be complete by December 2021

3. This report and business case seeks the approval of this Council to set up an EV Charger Network 
through the DELETTI model. This supports the aim to become carbon neutral by 2030 in the formal 
recognition by SSDC of a Climate and ecological Emergency (May 2019). It takes forward one of 
the actions set out in the Environment Strategy to meet this aim. The report also seeks approval of 
the funds needed for the EV Charger Network set up costs. Approval is sought to utilise these funds 
through delegated authority to the Environment Community of Practice and to named senior officers, 
with Portfolio Holder input and oversight, to pursue the implementation of the EV Charger network.

Forward Plan 

4. This report appeared on the District Executive Forward Plan with an anticipated Committee date of 
July 2020.

Public Interest

5. This report is of interest to the public as it seeks to approve the principle for the delivery of a Council 
led EV Charger Network for South Somerset. This requires the investment of public funds to create 
and implement the EV Charger network project and infrastructure. 

6. The proposal forms part of the council’s plan 2020 - 2024 and Environment Community of Practise 
work stream focus and area of priority as highlighted in quarter 1 and 4 of priority project 8. 

7. This proposal also forms part of the council’s Commercial Strategy 2017-2021 which seeks to 
generate additional and new income (identified in its medium term financial plan – this forms part of 
the financial strategy) through a profit share scheme. This revenue is required to enable existing 
Council services to continue to operate and grow for the benefit of the public that the council serves. 
Generating profits and service cost recovery will enable the Council to become more sustainable 
and resilient for the future. 

Page 133

Agenda Item 8

mailto:James.divall@southsomerset.gov.uk
mailto:Vicki.dawson@southsomerset.gov.uk


8. This District Executive report is the Councils business case outlining the rational for setting up a EV 
Charger Network for South Somerset. It also provides the objectives of the programme, the 
investment and other resources required to achieve these objectives, risks the programme may face, 
the significance of these risks and expected financial and environmental results of the programme, 
together with any other relevant outcomes that the programme is expected to achieve. 

Recommendations

9. That the District Executive:

a) approve the establishment of an Electric Vehicle (EV) Charger Network (a minimum of 17 new 
EV Charger locations) for South Somerset in the manner outlined in this report with delegated 
authority to the Director for Commercial Services and Income Generation, and the Environment 
Community of Practise Lead Officers with the relevant Portfolio Holders to proceed with the 
implementation as proposed within the business plan. 

b) approve a budget of £250,000 from useable capital receipts for the purpose of investment into 
an EV Charger network for South Somerset. 

c) note the estimated revenue income of £23,000 per annum will be added to the medium term 
financial plan for 2021/22 onwards. 

Background

10. In May 2019 South Somerset District Council formally recognised a climate emergency and 
ecological emergency. This action sparked an increased priority in a range of green initiatives led 
by the Councils Environmental Community of Practice (CoP). One such project was the development 
of Electrical Vehicle Charging points across South Somerset. This project had already started in 
2019 with a successful £90k grant application from Highway England to create three EV charger 
hubs along the A303 Corridor. These locations are Wincanton, Ilchester and Ilminster. This project 
also established an EV charger pilot for South Somerset to engage with industry suppliers and gain 
the knowledge and market information needed in order to establish a larger network supply across 
the District. 

11. The report ‘Plugging the gap: An Assessment of Future Demand of Britain’s Electric Vehicle Public 
Charging Network’ sets out to meet future growth of EVs in Great Britain to 2030. Future scenarios 
for EV uptake are in line with scenarios developed by the Committee on Climate Change (CCC) in 
its 2015 advice to Government on the fifth Carbon Budget. Through this business case we align our 
work with this report and explore the impact of a number of important factors on the optimal type of 
EV charging infrastructure likely to be required to 2030 such as: 

 Increase battery range 
 The number and pattern of trips taken using Electric vehicles
 The availability of different types of chargers and their associated charging speed and times

A window of opportunity: EV Charger network for South Somerset

12. SSDC has the opportunity to partner the DELETTI (Devon Low Carbon Energy & Transport 
Technology Innovator) project to deliver EV Charging infrastructure across the SSDC car park 
estates and to integrate it with renewable energy power supply, meeting action in our Environment 
Strategy delivery plan. This opportunity was selected as the preferred option following assessment 
of other potential routes to access the EV market and deliver the network.   

Page 134

https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Plugging-the-gap-Assessment-of-future-demand-for-Britains-EV-public-charging-network.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Plugging-the-gap-Assessment-of-future-demand-for-Britains-EV-public-charging-network.pdf


13. The project will establish site identification (appendix B) and a feasibility study gauging its suitability, 
accessibility, location assessment in terms of crime, security and access to public amenities. These 
locations on SSDC public estate will be modelled on the following categories of use and purpose: 

 ‘True destination’ parking based charging – public (Tourism / leisure / Shopping)
 Work place charging 
 Long distance ‘en route’ charging 

14. It will also align and complement other potential future uses that our partnership work with Somerset 
County Council and neighbouring Districts will identify through a new County wide EV Strategy 
including: 

 Private on-street home charging
 The potential future use of SSDC specialist fleet charging 
 Electrical bike provision
 Potential EV taxi provision (if need is identified) 

15. To date, SSDC has completed extensive research into procuring a district wide EV Charging 
infrastructure network and building on the learning gained from the 3 Rapid Charging hubs installed 
at SSDC car parks with Highways England funding. SSDC has explored various options (e.g. Direct 
Tender, EPSO 636 Framework and the Central Southern Regional Framework for Electric Vehicle 
Charging Infrastructure for EV Charging network installers) and assessed these approaches against 
various criteria including speed of delivery, procurement risk, and investment cost.  Critically 
DELETTI will give us the opportunity to specify renewable energy supply, and the electrical 
connection will be retained by SSDC.  Additionally, SSDC will have significant input into the service 
provision and ensuring it provides a good customer experience.  Crucially a number of providers 
during early market engagement signposted DELETTI as a model where the customer had “got it 
right”

16. The benefit of the DELETTI project is:

 It has had an independent assessment by Cenex comparing the DELETTI model to the main 
suppliers of ‘zero cost’ charge points (BP Chargemaster, JoJu, Instavolt, Podpoint) and 
concluded none of them match the DELETTI approach which retains ownership of the cabling, 
concessions contract with supplier and renewable energy power supply, potentially with direct 
solar canopy provision.

 Devon County Council (DCC) will provide at no cost to partners:
o Project management of development and works
o Procurement
o Concessions Agreement and Lease and associated legal support

17. Following research with the supply chain DELETTI have determined that an average contribution of 
£10,000 per charge point (2x22kW fast chargers per location) is required to achieve the DELETTI 
specification. Although equipment costs are broadly the same per site enabling works (cost of grid 
connection, cable between grid and charge point, any grid reinforcement) does vary. EV Charging 
points and battery energy is not included within the Invitation to Tender (ITT) but as the installer is 
responsible for connection costs they may suggest direct renewable power supply or battery storage. 

18. The programme procurement approach is to go out to tender with a phase 1 list of sites which the 
supplier has to deliver (List highlighted in Appendix B).

Page 135



19. Phase 2 could include other suitable SSDC parking locations defined from the learning of phase 1 
installations.

20. The full business plan for EV Charger Network for South Somerset, setting out detailed proposals 
for implementation, is attached in Appendix A.

Financial Implications

21. The initial set up costs will primarily consist of a ‘one-off’ investment into the project management, 
procurement and infrastructure costs. South Somerset District Council will be asked to pay £10,000 
per location (not unit) with the preferred selected Private Sector Partner (PSP) covering the cost of 
connections and any bay signage. 

22. The capital grant for this project will be a value of £250,000 to be funded from useable capital 
receipts.

23. DELETTI ‘go live’ for procurement and the Invitation to Tender (ITT) is the 24th July 2020 with all 
partner funding needing to be in place prior to ITT launch. 

24. DELETTI and South Somerset are not setting a maximum or minimum charger per kW hr but will 
work with the selected installer to make sure that these fees and chargers are attractive and as 
acceptable as possible for our customers. High prices of course may result in less users establishing 
the appropriate industry tariff will be import to all stakeholders. 

25. The programme will establish a profit share approach to this infrastructure programme with South 
Somerset receiving predictions highlighted within the business plan. The tender document will 
specify the percentage return as part of the ITT. 

26. The profit share will be a revenue receipt, estimated to be a minimum of £23,000 per annum.  This 
income will be added as an income budget to the medium term financial plan from 2021/22 onwards. 

Risk Matrix 

The risk matrix shows risk relating to the Corporate Plan headings. 

Risk Profile before officer recommendations Risk Profile after officer recommendations

F R

CpP CP
CY

Likelihood

F 

CY
R CP
CpP

Likelihood

Key

Categories Colours (for further detail please refer to Risk management 
strategy)

R = Reputation Red = High impact and high probability

Im
pact

Im
pact

Page 136



CpP = Corporate Plan Priorities
CP = Community Priorities
CY = Capacity
F = Financial

Orange = Major impact and major probability
Yellow = Moderate impact and moderate probability
Green = Minor impact and minor probability
Blue = Insignificant impact and insignificant 

probability

27. The reputational risk could and should be seen as a positive as the Council will be demonstrating its 
desire to respond to the climate emergency and the actions within the Environment Strategy. This 
will support and aid local council taxpayers, businesses, commuters, tourists as well as the wider 
community and economy. 

28. Overall it is considered that the risk associated with implementing the EV Charger infrastructure is 
low. That the initial proposed installation activities and resulting impact on the Council will be 
beneficial; and at this stage essential for supporting our community and economy.

Council Plan Implications 

29. The project meets the objectives of a number of key themes and actions of the Council Plan 2016-
2021. These include: 

Environment:
 Implement the Environment Strategy action plan

Economy: 
 Support improvements to road and rail
 Enhance visitor experience and income from tourism

Healthy self-reliant communities: 

 Embedded social value into all processes and activities to ensure we maximise the support we 
give to our communities 

Carbon Emissions and Climate Change Implications 

30. Installing EV Charging infrastructure, with the aim to support a faster switch to Electric Vehicles, will 
help to reduce the carbon emissions from transport in the district. Currently emissions from transport 
has the highest impact on our district’s carbon footprint. The most recent national data available 
from 2017 indicates that South Somerset has contributed the most to CO2 emissions in Somerset, 
with 917 kt’s produced, where 41% (376 kt’s) of these emissions were produced from the transport 
sector.

31. Installing EV Charging at SSDC estates can also support the transition to electric vehicles for the 
council’s own fleet, which will help to reduce the carbon emissions from SSDC activities. In 
2018/2019 the annual carbon emissions from SSDC fleet was 405.27 tons of CO2 This was the 
second highest contributor to our carbon emissions next to our gas consumption for space heating 
and hot water.

Equality and Diversity Implications

32. An Equality Impact Relevance Check Form has been completed in respect of this project which has 
shown that there will not be any negative impacts for people from the Protected Characteristics. A 
full Equality Impact Assessment is therefore not required. A copy of the Equality Impact Relevance 
Check Form is attached as Appendix 3 to this report.

Page 137



Privacy Impact Assessment

33. At this time there are no material implications on personal privacy

Background Papers

 SSDC Corporate Plan
 SSDC Environment Strategy 

Appendix: 

Appendix 1: SSDC Electric Vehicle Charger Network Business Plan 

Appendix 2: EV Charger Locations

Appendix 3: Equality impact relevance check form – EV Charger Network

Page 138



EV Charging Infrastructure Business Plan: For the period from June 
2020 – Dec 2025/2030

Executive Portfolio Holder: Cllr Sarah Dyke, Environment
Director: Clare Pestell, Commercial Services and Income Generation
Service Manager: James Divall, Income Opportunities Development Manager 

Vicki Dawson (Environment CoP lead)
Contact Details: James.divall@southsomerset.gov.uk and 

vicki.dawson@southsomerset.gov.uk 

Section 1: Business Plan Executive Summary

1.1 Introduction and Service Background

The UK is legally bound by the Climate Change Act to reduce its emissions by a least 80% 
below 1990 levels by 2050. Ultra-low emission vehicles (ULEVs) will be key to delivery of 
emission reductions. ULEVs are vehicles with zero or near-zero tailpipe emissions which make 
use of electricity from an increasingly decarbonised power sector. The ability to charge these 
vehicles, via charging points, is a major factor in the potential uptake of EV’s. 

A survey of public attitudes towards electrical vehicles by the department for transport (DfT) 
in 2016 identified recharging as the most important factor deterring people from buying an 
electrical car or van. 45% of driving licence holders surveyed reported charging as a deterring 
factor. These licence holders listed concerns about the availability of charging points, including 
lack of charging points in their area and lack of knowledge of where charging points are. 

In May 2019 South Somerset District Council acknowledged a Climate Emergency. This action 
sparked an increased priority in a range of green initiatives led by the council’s Environment 
Community of Practice (CoP) working group. One such project was the development of 
Electrical Vehicle Charging points across South Somerset. This project had already started 
with the 2019 successful £90k grant application from Highway England to create three EV 
charger hubs along the A303 Corridor. The locations are Wincanton, Ilchester and Ilminster. 
This project also established an EV charger pilot for South Somerset to engage with industry 
suppliers and learn important information in order to establish a larger network supply across 
the District. 

The report ‘Plugging The Gap: An Assessment of Future Demand of Britain’s Electric Vehicle 
Public Charging Network’ sets out to meet future growth of EV’s in Great Britain to 2030. 
Future scenarios for EV uptake are in line with those developed by the Committee on Climate 
Change (CCC) in its 2015 advice to Government on the fifth Carbon Budget. Through this 
business case we align our work and explore the impact on a number of important factors on 
the optimal type of EV charging infrastructure likely to be required to 2030 such as: 

 Increased battery range 
 The number and pattern of trips taken using EVs
 The availability of different types of chargers and their associated charging speed and 

times

A moment of opportunity? 

Pollution and greenhouse gas emission have fallen across continents, as countries try to 

Page 139

mailto:James.divall@southsomerset.gov.uk
mailto:vicki.dawson@southsomerset.gov.uk
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Plugging-the-gap-Assessment-of-future-demand-for-Britains-EV-public-charging-network.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Plugging-the-gap-Assessment-of-future-demand-for-Britains-EV-public-charging-network.pdf


contain the spread of the new Coronavirus. It is all aimed at controlling the spread of Covid-
19 and reducing the death toll. However, this change has also led to some unexpected 
consequences. As industries, transport networks and business have closed down, it has 
brought a sudden drop in carbon emissions. Compared with this time last year, levels of 
pollution in New York, China, Italy and the UK have all reduced by large percentages due to 
the measures put in place to reduce the virus spread. 

So why a need to act? 

 In South Somerset, 42% of our carbon emissions emanate from transport, most from 
private vehicle use.

 The Government have in place legislation to stop the sale of new Diesel and Petrol cars 
by 2040, likely to be brought forward to 2035 at the latest.  

 To support the transition to electric vehicles, public charging infrastructure is needed in 
South Somerset, especially in public car parks. Currently South Somerset has installed 3 
Rapid chargers in SSDC car parks near the A303. Somerton, Langport and Milborne Port 
councils in South Somerset have also installed EV charging in their carparks.

 There is a demand for EV charging. A recent Somerset community survey highlighted that 
more people would switch to the EV if there were more charging facilities.

 Support for workers, residents and visitors driving EVs across SSDC is needed to continue 
improving access to EV Charging, which will increase a faster switch to electric transport, 
support green tourism and simulate other green transport opportunities. Further reducing 
air pollution and greenhouse gasses.

An Electronic Vehicle Charger Network for South Somerset

To date, SSDC has conducted extensive research into procuring a district wide EV Charging 
infrastructure network and the learning from the 3 Rapid Charging hubs installed at SSDC car 
parks. We have explored the options of going with the EPSO 636 Framework and the Central 
Southern Regional Framework for Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure for EV Charging 
network installers. 

However, they would not give us the opportunity to specify renewable energy supply and the 
electrical connection would not be retained by SSDC, nor would SSDC have any input into the 
service provision and ensure the customer experience is good. There is also the risk that as 
the Frameworks are not open to full market EV Charging providers, SSDC wouldn’t 
necessarily get the best provider for the requirements and potentially receive negative 
feedback from other network providers/installers that are unable to tender as they are
not on the procurement framework list.

1.2 Mission Statement, Aims, and Objectives

The following mission statement, aims and objectives restate our founding principles for this 
area and provide a basis for measuring achievement. The service manager / lead specialist 
will report to the council Senior Leadership Team annually on progress in relation to our stated 
objectives. 

1.2.1 Mission Statement

Page 140

https://www.standard.co.uk/news/uk/pollution-falling-uk-coronavirus-lockdown-a4396051.html


Enable South Somerset residents, businesses and visitors to convert to low emission vehicles to help 
reduce transport related emissions and to promote more sustainable forms of transport. This is to be 
achieved by installing a network of charging points that caters for their respective needs and 
encourages further uptake of low emission vehicles, without impacting any other pavement users or 
sustainable modes of transport’

1.2.2. Aims 

The proposed EV Charging infrastructure programme aims to: 

 Provide an innovative, efficient and effective Council that will install, develop and operate 
a network of EV chargers for South Somerset visitors and residents. 

 Create a clear, achievable strategic delivery plan for an EV Charging network in SSDC car 
parks, enabling South Somerset District Council to help meet the objectives of its 
Environment Strategy and climate change action plan. 

 Improved resident and customer perceptions, exceeding their expectations in terms of the 
availability, accessibility and value of the EV Charger network 

 Support and input to the creation of environmental community value and infrastructure: i.e. 
exploit opportunities to integrate green energy solutions etc. alongside the core project 
deliverables 

 Deploy an outreach programme to educate and advise wider community around EV/Green 
transport and energy solutions. 

 Work with partners, installers and EV operators to maximise awareness and usage, 
through marketing and media to promote the use of electrical vehicles and make our 
District a cleaner, healthier and more environmentally friendly place to live. 

 Ensure that the procurement maximises the effectiveness of the £250,000 South Somerset 
District Council funding available to:

o Reduce carbon emissions from transport in South Somerset 
o Maximise the number of EV charging point locations
o Maximise use of EV charging points
o Stimulate growth in low carbon transportation 

SSDC will ensure that all current and future work streams including the proposed partnership 
work with DELETTI compliments the cross county work on an EV Strategy for Somerset. 

1.2.3. Objectives

The key objectives of the role are aligned with meeting the SSDC Vision and Commercial 
Strategy.  This includes 5 key headlines:

 Provision: Deliver an electrical vehicle charging network that meets the demands of 
residents, businesses and visitors in the context of wider transport aims.  To ensure that 
a cohesive approach is taken to network development aligning, supporting and integrating 

Page 141



with other green infrastructure developments (large and small) and partners. e.g. 
Highways England, Private enterprises, Parish Town Councils. 

 Environment: Carbon focussed objective: Clear and tangible carbon reduction being 
achieved through uptake of EVs by creating an accessible charging network.

 Growth: Ensure the charging network has capacity for further expansion: the 
network installed needs to be easily expandable in the future, when electric vehicle uptake 
increases and there is more demand for suitable infrastructure. 

 Commercial: Maximise value for installer & South Somerset District Council: To put 
in place a commercially viable partnership with a long-term perspective to achieve a 
financial return from the operation. South Somerset District Council will make sure that all 
available funding and revenue including government grants and partnerships with private 
companies providing profit shares are taken into consideration.

 Measurement: Number of installations across SSDC car parks and estate. Number of 
users will give an average quantity of CO2 and NO2 saved.

1.3. Vision and Values: Transformation and Commercial Approach to Business 
Planning

While the mission statement says what we do, the vision sets out our aspirations for the future, 
and the council’s direction of travel. 

1.3.1. Council Vision: 
 To ensure SSDC stay on top of emerging technologies and charging options as they 

develop. This will help ensure that the infrastructure remains fit for purpose and continues 
to meet the needs and demands of customers.

 Review potential and options for expanding the Phase 1 network.

 By workshop, consider future development looking at other potential uses including:
o SSDC specialist fleet charging 
o Electrical bike provision
o Potential EV taxi and bus provision (if need is identified) 
o Public charging across further SSDC locations
o Work with authority and partners to develop charging facilities for alternative modes 

of transport
o Work with other Somerset authorities to develop a county wide EV charging 

network based on the same principals; and encourage SCC to install on-street EV 
charging for residents that are without off street parking for EV charging.

1.3.2. Values: 
With the SSDC Vision and Commercial Strategy in mind, the service has established a 
business plan that is more agile and adaptive to the modern working environment, establishing 
tools, resources and work streams needed to support SSDC Managers and enhance business 
and service delivery. 

The service is committed to the new Council Vision, Commercial Strategy and South Somerset 
District Council’s Attitude and Approaches Framework. 

Page 142



Section 2: Core Business Plan Content

2.1. Business Opportunities 
SSDC has the opportunity to partner the DELETTI (Devon Low Carbon Energy & Transport 
Technology Innovator) project to deliver EV Charging and renewable energy infrastructure 
across the SSDC car park estates and to integrate it with renewable energy power supply, in 
accordance with our Environment Strategy delivery plan.

DELETTI is a European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) part-funded programme that 
aims to continue Devon’s low carbon transport and energy transformation, through the 
expansion of Electric Vehicle Charge Points (EVCPs), solar carports and developing new, 
local energy models.

This procurement aims to deliver the EVCPs associated with the project at a required minimum 
of 25 locations (Across the whole project). Predominately in public car parks across Devon; 
and with SSDC District Executive agreement, South Somerset car parks too (South Somerset 
aims to deliver a minimum of 17 sites with aspirations for 25. This is potentially between 34 to 
150 new EV charging points).  

The proposed locations will be public car parks where the grid connection is viable and linking 
renewable energy with EV charging via Solar Carports.  DCC will procure a Private Sector 
Partner (PSP) to design, build, operate and maintain charge points through a concessions 
arrangement.  

The PSP will be provided with £10,000 per location as an incentive and contribution towards 
the costs. This provides great value for money against our investment as the initial work SSDC 
had completed to date with the Highways England funded programme has seen an average 
of £35,000 for each rapid charger covering the costs of groundworks, equipment, installation 
and commissioning. 

SSDC would then work with DCC on an option to non-exclusively use the chosen PSP for 
future electric vehicle charging point projects, if additional funding becomes available in future.

The benefit of the DELETTI project is: an independent assessment by Cenex (UK’s first 
Centre of Excellence for Low Carbon and Fuel Cell technologies) comparing the Deletti model 
to the main suppliers of ‘zero cost’ charge points (BP Chargemaster, JoJu, Instavolt, Podpoint) 
concluded none of them match the DELETTI approach. This retains ownership of the cabling, 
concessions contract with supplier and renewable energy power supply, potentially with direct 
solar canopy provision.

 Devon County Council (DCC) will provide at no cost to partners:
o Project management of development and works
o Procurement
o Concessions Agreement, Lease and associated legal support

Delivery model

DCC will procure a PSP to design, build, operate and maintain charge points through a 
concessions arrangement.  The PSP will be provided with £10,000 per location contribution 

Page 143

https://www.cenex.co.uk/


towards costs.  The PSP will be granted a 10-year lease for the EV Charge Points locations, 
with an option to renew.  

Under the terms of the lease, ownership of the equipment from the grid connection (to the 
Distribution Network or indirectly to the Distribution Network via a point specified by the client) 
to the EVCPs including cabling and conduits, will revert to the landowner upon expiry of the 
lease and/or concessions agreement.

The supplier will be responsible for all installation works and costs, including any fees payable 
to Western Power Distribution (WPD)/Scottish and Southern Electricity Networks (SSEN) and 
appropriate parking bay marking and signing.   The exception being the Phase 1A sites that 
will arrange for the grid connection, and will install ducting to a NAL socket and concrete base, 
to allow for the EVCPs to be installed.

The EVCPs must be supplied with Renewable Energy (as defined by Ofgem), with a minimum 
requirement for a Green Energy Tariff, with all of the supply of energy to the charge points 
matched by renewable energy by a licenced supplier.  DCC will require Annual Fuel Mix 
Disclosure, reporting if a Green Energy Tariff will be used1, with high percentages of renewable 
energy (solar, wind, hydro, biogas, energy from waste, biomass). This data will be available 
to SSDC via the partnership agreement. 

Suppliers are encouraged to deliver “sleeved” renewable energy, particularly from local sites 
to further improve the low carbon credentials of the charge points. 

Locations

This procurement must deliver EVCPs at a minimum of 25 locations in total across Devon and 
South Somerset.  The site list for SSDC is included in Appendix 5.  The price element of this 
procurement will be awarded on a “price per site” basis, with the best scoring price being the 
tender that can deliver the most sites for the £250,000 (South Somerset) funding available.

Sites have been split into phases:

1 See: https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/rego/energy-suppliers/fuel-mix-
disclosure 

Page 144

https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/rego/energy-suppliers/fuel-mix-disclosure
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/rego/energy-suppliers/fuel-mix-disclosure


Phase 1: These sites must be delivered through the procurement process.  These sites are 
in existing car parks in Devon and all connection and installation works must be arranged by 
the supplier.

Phase 1A: These sites must also be delivered through the procurement process.  These sites 
are at new development car parks in Devon.  The new developments will arrange for the grid 
connection, and will install ducting to a NAL socket and concrete base, to allow a EVCP to be 
installed.  The supplier must arrange all other works.

Phase 1B: These sites must be delivered through the procurement process.  These sites are 
in existing car parks in South Somerset and all connection and installation works must be 
arranged by the supplier.

Phase 2: These are sites we would like to deliver through the procurement if funding allows.  
Suppliers should confirm how many of the Phase 2 sites they will be able to deliver with the 
funds available.  All connection and installation works must be arranged by the supplier.

The proposed locations for both South Somerset and Devon are highlighted in appendix 5.

Site Information, charge points quantity and specifications

A site information pack containing relevant site details will be completed in preparation for 
tender. A detailed account of site information, charge point quantities per location, EV charger 
specifications and payment options can be found in appendix 7. 

2.1.1. Business services improvements

To meet the SSDC Commercial Strategy and to improve the District Council’s profile and client 
offer; some new initiatives and resources are needed.  These will be included within the new 
business plan and established under the Service Manager’s/ Lead Specialists role to be used 
across the local authority: 

 Installing EV charging at SSDC locations is part of the strategy to carbon neutrality by 
2030, and support the transition to electrified transport – current legislation to ban all new 
fossil fuelled vehicles is 2040 but likely to be revised to 2035 at the latest. 

 Installing EV charging at SSDC locations will enable the council to switch its fleet to EVs 
reducing running costs and help with the council’s ambition to be net carbon zero by 2030 
(the SSDC carbon calculations for 2017/18 shows fuel purchases for the SSDC fleet is a 
large proportion of the council’s carbon footprint.)

 Supporting opportunities for electric community transport to emerge across the district.
 Help to reduce air pollution.
 Support greener tourism by promoting to EV drivers the charging network across Devon 

into South Somerset including at/near our open spaces.
 Support our planning policy to encourage low carbon transport.
 Benefit businesses where the EV charging will be located as drivers will be spending 

money while they wait for their EV to charge 1-3 hours.

We need to promote the use of our South Somerset District Council Design principles to 
encourage us to take action in our day to day work to improve our services for customers. See 
examples found in appendix 2. 

Page 145



2.1.2. Timescale of the plan

Month Action

17/07/2020
District Executive Committee: Funding confirmed (£10,000 per 
location) for launch of DELETTI invitation to tender.

24/07/2020 Release of invitation to tender
14/08/2020 Deadline for clarification questions
04/09/2020 Return of Invitation to tender
09/10/2020 Award recommendation
02/11/2020 End of standstill and award of contract
30/11/2020 Contract commencement
11/02/2022 EV Charge Point delivery complete across Devon & South 

Somerset (Due to covid-19 crisis, extensions are possible but not 
guaranteed and would need to be agreed by project partners and 
for Devon only; the ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government

A detailed project programme should be included in submissions.  In accordance with the 
Concessions Agreement, the PSP will need to show progress against this programme 
throughout 2021.

The wider DELETTI project includes an “Exit Strategy” including communications and 
promotional activities relating to the EVCPs and other elements of the project that will take 
place until September 2022.

2.2. Measureable Outcomes: 2018 to 2021

Measurable outcomes are aligned with our key objectives of the service (section 1.2.3) and 
are meet the SSDC Commercial Strategy and wider Council Vision. 

Additionally, improvements needed for our Environment Community of Practice (CoP), which 
will align with our Council Plan themes and objectives are highlighted below: 

2.2.1 Measureable outcomes as per the key performance measure indicator plan (KPIs):  

• facilitating the growth of electric vehicles for both personal and operational use
• reducing the level of particulates in the district

2.2.2 Income generation or service yield targets

 Shared income/profit split with EV Charging service provider. Projected to be £1,000 per 
location per year, over the ten years. Allowing for a share of advertising income which 
would increase income substantially (see DELETTI doc).

2.2.3 Outcomes achieved to date this year (2019-20)

 Identification of SSDC car parks for EV Charging. 3 rapid chargers have been installed in 
Wincanton, Ilminster and Ilchester. The next phase is to install a wider network of EV 
chargers supplied by renewable generated electricity. DELETTI project partnership will 
enable joining EV charging network with neighbouring county and continue a unified 
network from the A303 and tourism routes.

Page 146



2.3 Financial forecast 

A successful year will be measured from a number of factors, from our financial yield 
improvements to income generation in accordance with Commercial Strategy objective of an 
annual improvement in yield of 5% per annum as well as the Environmental impact that this 
project will provide.  

It’s important to note that the South Somerset District Council investment would be on top of 
the Devon secured programme budget of £1.3m including a secured £817,712 from the 
European Regional Development Fund.

The tables below shown in appendix 3 highlights the indicative income and expenditure 
forecast as well as the cash flow forecast. 

2.4. Marketing Plan 

The marketing plan identifies EV Charger Network specific area of potential business 
development opportunity: 

 Installing a network with Devon to increase green tourism to South Somerset.

 Promotion of EV charging to support more people to switch to EVs and charge while using 
SSDC car parks.

 Enable staff cars and SSDC fleet to charge at SSDC locations, reducing reliance on fossil 
fuelled vehicle, reduce SSDC fuel costs and carbon footprint.

 Solar installation may enable income generation via EV charging or local business use. 
This also meets the priority outcome of the environment strategy:  We will reduce our 
reliance on fossil fuels by;

o switching to renewable sources of energy
o raising expectations of developers
o investigating in additional green energy investments

2.4.1. Key selling points of this service and approach are: 

 The DELETTI programme will deliver carbon savings of a minimum of 309 tonnes per year 
through the generation of renewable energy and reducing the use of fossil fuels.

 DELETTI aims to deliver charge points in as many publicly accessible sites in Devon and 
South Somerset as possible, for the least cost and restrictions to landowners; but the 
maximum benefit for citizens. A detailed table of aspects and benefits of the partnership 
can be found in appendix 3.

2.5. Risk Analysis 

Inevitably, there are some risks associated with implementing this business plan. The main 
ones are: 

 Not meeting the time scales for funding to go forward with the DELETTI project. DELETTI 
has ERDF funding for 60%, land owners/councils need to provide 40% of the funding which 
equates to £10,000 per installation.

Page 147



 Not having enough viable locations to be included in the DELETTI project. They require a 
minimum of 25 sites across all partners to make the project financially viable.

 Installer for the tender is unable to complete the installations within time frame or goes into 
liquidation during the lease.

 Financial risk if not enough EV drivers use the charging stations then the profit split would 
not happen.

 
 Risk to not partnering the DELETTI project:

o having to go out to tender costing SSDC time and money and not meeting our plan to 
install EV Charging in 2020/2021, not achieving the same installations as Devon to link 
in with a wider charging network and attract tourists. 

o A delay would reduce the number of people switching to EVs and impacting on carbon 
reduction and air pollution

2.6 Environmental impact and assessment

This element of the plan is intended to provide a basic overview of how you can create a strong 
business plan that highlights not only the economic potential of the project but also the 
environmental and social benefits it will create. Innovative business ideas have the power not 
just to generate income, but solve critical environmental problems and transform the 
communities that we serve as well. 

The assessment tool in Appendix 5, highlights and rationalises how the project will preserve 
or enhance the environment, and how it will support the wider community. 

Page 148



Section 3. Conclusion: 

This plan seeks to identify the steps that will be taken to ensure the future success of the EV 
Charger Network service for the benefit of the Council and its residents. 

 This is a moment of opportunity joining with the Devon wide DELETTI EV charging project 
linking in with green tourism from our neighbouring county.

 DCC will lead on the project and support the ongoing staffing, saving SSDC staffing time 
and costs.

 This is an opportunity to be a part of an innovative EV charging and renewable energy 
supply project which is supported by Cenex - the Low Carbon and Fuel Cells Centre of 
Excellence; (an independent non-profit research and consultancy that helps private and 
public sector organisations devise Ultra Low Emission Vehicle strategies).

 This project supports our strategy to install EV charging in SSDC car parks and low 
emission transport and travel in the district.

 To share our experience with other local authorities who look to SSDC for leading the way.

 Opportunities to add renewable energy generation (and potentially battery storage) if the 
network can support this; linking to income generation from energy supply as well as 
shared profit from EV charging.

 This project would complement the county wide EV charging network. 

The proposed programme meets a number of key corporate objectives including:

Corporate plan 2020- 2024: Priority project 8: desired outcomes:

 To be in the forefront of the transition for electric vehicles and supporting the development 
of charging points. 

Key milestones:

 Qtr 1-2: Tender to go out for network of EV charge points across the District
 Qtr 4: Work to begin on EV charge point network beginning in Devon into South Somerset

South Somerset District Council would benefit from entering into a partnership with DELETTI 
and Devon County Council to establish a EV charging network programme for South Somerset 
viable sites, which will be supplied by renewable energy.

Page 149



Appendices: 

Appendix 1: Business service improvements

Design Principles How we will meet them? 
Focus on the customer 
experience

Provide EV charging in key SSDC car parks. The lease to 
the EV charging provider ensures they respond to customer 
issues quickly and efficiently to ensure an excellent user 
experience.

Fewest number of steps for 
the customer

Specification requires EV charging to be contactless card 
payable not membership required. Charging infrastructure 
will be serviced by the installer with lease agreement to 
include quick and satisfactory repair times for good 
customer experience.  

Keep customers informed Promoted on SSDC car park listing, EV charging network 
maps. 

Digital by default EV Charging will be smart and digital enabled.
Resolve issues first time As in the lease requirements for the EV charging network 

provider.
Collect less & tell us once
Use our skills & expertise 
effectively

Sharing knowledge with the DELETTI project partners and 
our skills and knowledge to enhance the project and support 
shared learning to others.

Efficient working DELETTI enables shored and efficient project plan and 
deployment.

Use technology to help 
ensure compliance

Engaging with leaders in the EV charging infrastructure and 
DELETTI being a Cenex approved project

Real time measures to 
improve
Support customers to do 
more
Proactively prevent and 
shape demand

Learning for the data of users will enable us to plan and 
expand the EV charging network on SSDC estates and 
encourage other businesses to install EV Charging.

Page 150



Appendix 2: Key selling points of the DELETTI EV Charger network programme

Aspect Benefit
Charge points owned and operated by a 
supplier which is managed by a concession’s 
agreement and lease

 No cost to the landowner
 Landowner has ability to remove if 

performance not acceptable
Maximum lease length of 10 years  Gives landowners flexibility to respond to 

future changes
Minimum of dual 22kW charge points
with load management providing AC
and DC charging

 Ensure as wide a range of historic, current 
and future EVs can use the charge points 
as possible

 AC makes up 70% of the current market 
but new models are all going to include 
DC charging capability

 Impact on electricity network minimised, 
reducing negative impact on future charge 
points expansion or renewables

High levels of interoperability with payment 
possible using Contactless technology

 Ensure take up of services by not having 
requirement for membership

Electricity supplied from renewable
sources through a ‘sleeving
arrangement’

 Ensures zero carbon travel and supports 
councils net zero targets

 Sleeving is a more robust form of low 
carbon energy compared to ‘green tariff’s 
which risks claims of green washing.

Landowner access to charge point
data

 Support development of council policy and 
future works

Buy-out and termination clauses for
sites

 Enables landowner to sell land
 Minimises financial impact to cost of 

removal and installation at new site
No exclusivity over the car park for the supplier  Enables landowner to install further 

charge points and respond to 
technological developments

Cable connecting the charge point to
electricity network is owned by the landowner

 Reduces the costs and risks associated 
with changing supplier

Landowner receives share of gross
revenue (charging revenue and any
supplemental income)

 Increases attractiveness of opportunity 
ensuring best service

 Income prediction over the ten years 
(appendix 3) but allows for share of 
advertising income which would increase 
income substantially

Landowner has option to keep
parking enforcement

 No loss of pay and display income

Best practice or better response
times

 Ensures good levels of service for EV 
users

 Growing number of reports of public 
charge points not being available and 
landowners having difficulty getting 
problems resolved

Ongoing management of concessions 
agreement in partnership with DCC

 Reduces ongoing cost for landowner

Page 151



Appendix 3: Finances

Indicative income and expenditure forecast

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23   2023/24 2024/25 2025/26
£ £ £ £ £ £

INVESTMENT REQUIRED 250,000      

TOTAL INCOME (ESTIMATED) 23,000 23,000 23,000 23,000 23,000
Cumulative Retained 
Earnings 23,000 46,000 69,000 92,000 115,000

Appendix 4: Business Plan Green Assessment

Products Yes No Comments
1. Can you use locally sourced 

materials to produce or support 
it?

Unlikely as all EV chargers are made 
using components from outside the 
UK. Charging provider will be UK 
based.

2. Can you use sustainable or 
recycled goods to produce / run 
it?

Y They will be recyclable under WEEE. 
EV chargers enable sustainable 
emission free transport in the 
community and reduce the number of 
polluting vehicles on the road.

3. How can you minimise the 
waste and harm to the 
environment during the 
production of the product?

Will request details in the tender to 
include environmental credentials of 
the EV Charging manufactured 
products e.g. ISO 14001

Service Yes No Comments
1. Will your service reduce 

greenhouse gas emissions?
Y Increasing EV Charging will support 

the transition to electric vehicles, 
reducing use of combustion vehicles 
which will reduce pollution and 
greenhouse gases.

2. Will it provide opportunities for 
green-job training?

Y Could create opportunities for more 
local EV charging providers, green 
jobs around electric transport and 
green travel.

3. Will it provide consumers / 
customers with an opportunity 
to reduce their own 
environmental impact?

Y Enables customers/visitors/community 
to switch to electric transport to 
reduce their environmental impact.

Internal operations Yes No Comments
1. How will you minimise waste 

generated by your business?
2. How will you reduce 

greenhouse gas emissions 
associated with your business 
activities? 

Y Enables people to switch to an EV by 
providing a charging network across 
the district.

3. How will you conserve natural 
resources as part of your 
operations?

Page 152



4. How will you conserve energy? Y Electric transport uses less energy 
and produces no tailpipe emissions. 
The power will be supplied by 
renewable energy,

5. How will you create a green 
supply chain?

6. How will you educate 
employees about the green 
initiatives?

Y Events around the charging 
infrastructure and EV driving. 
Promotion of the charging network, 
encourage electric car share schemes 
across the district.

7. How will you monitor and report 
progress on your green 
initiatives?

Y Usage will be monitored and regularly 
reported.

Local Community and Economy Yes No Comments
1. How will your business affect 

local businesses and the wider 
community?

Y Enable EV drivers to visit the 
locations, encourage greener travel, 
reduce emissions, encourage greener 
tourism, be put on EV charging maps

2. Will your business stimulate 
economic growth for your 
community as a whole?

Y Will attract new customers and visitors 
in EVs and they will spend money in 
the locations of the charging stations 
while they wait for the vehicle to 
charge.

3. What will the project provide to 
the wider community in terms 
of community benefit?

Y Provide accessible EV charging for 
the community and visitors/ customers 
which will reduce air pollution, 
encourage quicker transition to 
electric transport, support electric car 
share opportunities.

Page 153



Appendix 5: Devon and South Somerset proposed DELETTI EV Charger network 
locations

Devon:

South Somerset proposed locations (17) of EV Charging points (min 34 units)

1. Yeovil Country Park & Ninesprings Café, Yeovil, Somerset, BA20 1QZ
2. Huish Car Park, Yeovil, Somerset, BA20 1AQ
3. Prigg Lane Car Park, Prigg Lane, South Petherton, TA13 5BX
4. Car Park, Carrington Way, Wincanton, Somerset, BA9 9JS
5. Lidl Car Park South Street Crewkerne
6. SSDC Council Offices, Brympton Way, Yeovil, Somerset, BA20 2HT
7. Peters Way Car Park, Yeovil, Somerset, BA20 1UN
8. YEOVIL RECREATION GROUND CAR PARK, Yeovil, Somerset, BA21 4AW
9. Westlands Entertainment Complex Car Park, Yeovil, Somerset, BA21 4AW
10. Stars Lane Car Park, Yeovil, Somerset, BA20 1NR
11. Milbrook Gardens Car Park, Castle Cary, Somerset, BA7 7EE
12. Town Hall Car Park, Milborne Port, Sherborne, Dorset, DT9 5DG
13. South Street Market Car Park, Yeovil, Somerset, BA20 1QH
14. Bath Street, Chard, TA20 2ET
15. Moorlands Park, North Street, Martock TA12 6DH
16. Orchard Vale, Wharf Lane, Ilminster TA19 0EF
17. Ham Hill Road, Stoke Sub Hamdon, TA14 6RL

Further investigations are being conducted into sites at: 

1. Chard Reservoir, Touches Lane, Chard, TA20 1HU
2. Yeovil Innovations Centre. Copse Road. Yeovil. BA22 8RN

Page 154



3. Millers Garage, 22A East Street, Crewkerne, TA18 7AG
4. Ham Hill Country Park, Stoke Sub Hamdon, TA14 6RW

The sites confirmation is still dependent on DNO investigations and site assessment in 
partnership with DELETTI and the PSP. Some sites are more attractive to PSP’s than others, 
and discussion will be ongoing through the contract to ensure we achieve a balance between 
the community need and the operators need for income. It is a dynamic that we also need to 
consider including the legalities (access) and physical viability of the sites.   

Appendix 6: OLEV minimum technical specifications 

1.0 GENERAL
References to standards of regulations are to the current edition of such standards or 
regulations at the time of the installation.
In cases of apparent inconsistency in installation requirements, the IET Wiring Regulations 
(BS 7671) shall take precedence.

2.0 INSTALLATION
This specification is for the charging equipment only and not the final installation. However, 
it is required that the final installation will be in accordance with the IET Wiring Regulations 
(BS 7671); the recommendations of the IET Code of Practice for Electric Vehicle Charging 
Equipment Installations (as amended); Electricity Safety, Quality and Continuity 
Regulations and all other applicable standards.
Installations on the public highway shall use a contractor registered through the Highways 
and Electrical Registration Scheme (HERS).
Charging Equipment shall be installed in accordance with BS EN 61851.
The electrical supply of the final installation should allow the charging equipment to operate 
at full rated capacity. Where local supply constraints prevent operation at full rated 
capacity, the charging equipment shall be classified according to actual output capacity.
The design of the charging equipment shall permit compliance with the requirements of BS 
8300:2009+A1:2010.

3.0 CHARGING EQUIPMENT – COMMON REQUIREMENTS
Charging equipment shall be CE marked in accordance with EC Directive 768/2008/EC.
Details of any precautions necessary to ensure safe operation with Active Implantable 
Medical Devices shall be provided and must also be clearly displayed on the charging 
equipment.
Charging equipment shall be compliant with:

 BS EN 61851 Part 1
 Electromagnetic Compatibility Regulations 2006
 Electrical Equipment Safety Regulations 1994

BS EN 62196 Mode 1 or Mode 2 charging shall not be compliant with this specification.
Charging equipment shall utilise socket outlets (BS EN 61851:1 Case A2 or B2 connection) 
or tethered cables (BS EN 61851:1 Case C connection).
Where multiple outlets are provided the charging equipment shall be classified according to 
the output power delivered at each outlet with all outlets operating simultaneously.
For AC charging equipment:

 AC charging equipment output power shall be measured or calculated at a nominal 
supply voltage of 230Vac single-phase or 400Vac three-phase.

 AC charging equipment shall be compliant with BS EN 61851 Part 22
 AC charging equipment shall use BS EN 62196 Mode 3 charging.

Page 155



 AC charging equipment socket outlets (where used) shall be BS EN 62196 Type 2.

For DC charging equipment:

 DC charging equipment shall be compliant with BS EN 61851 Part 23
 DC charging equipment shall use BS EN 62196 Mode 4 charging

For charging equipment with embedded generation capability (V2X):

 Charging equipment with embedded generation capability of up to and including 
16A per phase shall be compliant with ENA Engineering Recommendation G83.

 Charging equipment with embedded generation capability greater than 16A per 
phase shall be compliant with ENA Engineering Recommendation G59.

3.1 CHARGING OUTLETS
The following outlet configurations are permitted, noting the requirements in 1.7.2 above for 
High levels of interoperability.

 Fast AC (22kW-to 23kW)
 Semi-Rapid AC (23kW to 43kW)
 Rapid AC (43kW to 44kW)
 Fast DC (22kW)
 Semi-Rapid DC (22kW to 50kW)
 Rapid DC (50kW to 62.5kW)
 Ultra-Rapid DC (62.5kW to 400kW)

4.0 LOCATION – GENERAL
Where installed in an outdoor location, the charging equipment shall meet the minimum IP 
ratings set out in BS EN 61851:1.

4.1 LOCATION – PUBLIC (UNRESTRICTED ACCESS)
AC charging equipment shall be fitted with a BS EN 62196 Type 2 socket outlet.
DC charging equipment shall provide vehicle connectors compatible with both the 
CHAdeMO and Combined Charging System 'Combo 2' (EN 62196-3) standards.
Rapid charging equipment shall be supplied with both AC and DC outlets.
Where supplied integral to DC charging equipment, fast or semi-rapid three-phase AC 
outlets (22kW or greater) shall be permitted.

5.0 USER INTERFACE - GENERAL
Charging equipment status shall be indicated using lights, LEDs or display.

5.1 USER INTERFACE – PUBLIC (UNRESTRICTED ACCESS)
Charging equipment shall be fitted with a payment/access control (as appropriate) 
mechanism.
Charging equipment shall display instructions for payment/access (as appropriate) and 
equipment operation. Details of approach shall be provided.
Charging equipment shall allow use on an ad hoc basis without entering into an ongoing 
contract or membership scheme with the operator concerned as required by the Alternative 
Fuel Infrastructure Regulations. Details of operation shall be provided.

6.0 DATA REQUIREMENTS
Data communications to allow remote data collection shall be provided.
Each outlet shall provide measurement of energy supplied, to be output to both display 
(where fitted) and data acquisition system. Where a MID approved meter is not used details 
of metering and accuracy shall be provided.

Page 156



Appendix 7: Site Information, charge points quantity and specifications

Site Information

A site information pack containing relevant site details will be completed in preparation for 
tender. This includes:

1. Site reference

2. Address & postcode

3. Site layout image/drawing

4. Preferred and excluded locations within the site for EVCPs – these locations are based 
on feedback from the landowner.  The supplier should consider which locations within 
each site will offer the most attractive location within the car park, considering EV user 
needs and grid connection and cabling costs.  EVCPs must not be located in the 
“excluded” locations identified.

5. Name of landowner – all sites are within District authority ownership. Any exception to 
this needs to be noted and checked that the lease is in place with the right to install 
EVCPs.  Land registry information will be reviewed and we understand there are no 
restrictions that would prevent delivery of EVCPs at these sites.

6. WPD Summary. WPD have provided point of connection (POC) positions and the likely 
reinforcement costs required to connect the EV charging units to the network.  Each 
site has been assessed for both a 22kW dual charger (32A per phase) unit and a 50kW 
rapid charger (approximately 75A per phase). Please note that the 22kW 
reinforcement costs are based on a single 22kW outlet only, in contrast to the 
minimum specification, which is for 2x22KW outlets at each location. 

WPD cannot guarantee that the 50kW chargers’ POC or reinforcement costs are the 
same for all chargers of this size. Different makes and models cause varying degrees 
of disturbance to the network based upon their individual harmonic emissions. WPD 
selected a model which requires a fault level of 3.0MVA on the low voltage network.  
The WPD cost estimates include reinforcement costs only. These cost estimates will 
need to be confirmed by the supplier as connection costs vary depending on the 
type of ECVP equipment used.

7. Stats plans, showing the locations of known utilities in the vicinity.  Suppliers should 
make their own arrangements to identify utilities and confirm the information in 
the stats plans.

8. Car park type - for example, public long stay, public short stay, Park & Ride

9. Car park information, including number of spaces, approximate parking tariffs (if 
applicable), opening hours, maximum stay, average length of stay, and ticket sales 
data where available.

10. Security measures identifying if lighting and/or CCTV is present.

11. Minimum and maximum number of EV parking bays to be delivered (see below). 

Page 157



For the SSDC office locations e.g. Brympton Way, SSDC may be able to apply for the Work 
Place Charging grant for up to 75% of the cost capped at £350 per socket.

Number of charge points at each site

The procurement must deliver two outlets able to serve two parking bays simultaneously at 
each site.  Parking bays should be signed and marked as EV charging only by the PSP.  Two 
outlets/bays (either a single dual charge point, or two single charge points) have been chosen 
for most sites because they are located within extremely well utilised car parks, and provision 
of additional dedicated EV bays is likely to lead to a reduction in parking revenue.   

There are a small number of sites where more EVCPs and associated EV parking bays would 
be desirable.

A site information pack including details of the minimum and maximum number of EVCP 
outlets/bays that should be delivered at each site will be developed in partnership with 
DELETTI. 

Suppliers should confirm how many charge point outlets they will deliver at each site.  
Providing additional charge point outlets over and above the minimum for each site will not 
contribute to the overall tender score.  However, suppliers may wish to consider installing more 
than the minimum number to maximise future revenues and add to the resilience of the site.

To help future proof the sites and allow for future expansion, suppliers should provide:

 Passive provision of ducting at a minimum of six additional outlets at each site
 A 69kva connection to the DNO where this does not significantly increase grid 

connection/reinforcement costs

Charge point specification

Manufacturers/suppliers of the proposed charging equipment shall demonstrate compliance 
with this specification.  

DELETTI requirements for EVCPs:

 Capable of delivering 22kW per outlet (point of connection for a vehicle) to serve two 
parking bays simultaneously (e.g. a dual 22kW charge point with two outlets, or two 22kW 
charge points with a single outlet) with the ability to load manage across several EVCPs 
to allow greater flexibility in future (for example, if additional EVCPs were added to the site 
at a later date without further increasing the electric supply).

 High levels of interoperability 
o The charge point can be used with a large range of electric vehicle models 

including providing AC charging capability
o Capability for ad-hoc ‘Pay as You Go’ payment (e.g. contactless payment), with 

membership or subscription not enabling access to reduced rates

 The PSP should provide the option for the EVCP to display the South Somerset District 
Council landowner logo, however the preference is to not include these at present.

Page 158

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/workplace-charging-scheme-guidance-for-applicants-installers-and-manufacturers/workplace-charging-scheme-guidance-for-applicants-chargepoint-installers-and-manufacturers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/workplace-charging-scheme-guidance-for-applicants-installers-and-manufacturers/workplace-charging-scheme-guidance-for-applicants-chargepoint-installers-and-manufacturers


 Contact numbers must be clearly displayed on the EV unit for contacting the provider in 
the event of any self-service problems or to report any faults with the EV unit.

 The design of the charging equipment shall comply with the Disability Discrimination Act 
(DDA) 1995 guidelines and any other relevant legislation

Charging points must comply with relevant sections of the OLEV minimum technical 
specification: on-street residential technical specifications (unrestricted) – as set out in 
Appendix 62 

The Concessions Agreement and Lease include additional requirements and should be 
reviewed and accepted in full.  Additional data and performance monitoring requirements as 
set out in the Concessions Agreement include:

a) the availability of each Charge Point and Charging Stations;
b) the utilisation of each Charge Point and Charging Stations generally and frequency 

including day of week and time of day for utilisation; 
c) dwell times for vehicles at each Charge Point;
d) plug in duration/charge time duration for EVs for each User's charging session in respect 

of each Charge Point;
e) whether the Charge Points used are rapid, fast or slow charging;
f) energy supplied during each incident of use;
g) type and make of EV using the Charge Point; 
h) periods during which any of the relevant Charge Points were experiencing Faults and/or 

were unable to provide User Charging Services; and
i) such other information as DCC may reasonably require. 

As part of the contract the Tenderer must ensure that both they and any sub-contractors meet 
current Data Protection Legislation 2018, as well as committing to meeting the General Data 
Protection Regulations (GDPR) and any other future legislative changes when introduced 
during the term of the Contract.

Pay as You Go
The back office and software solution must allow for users to make payments on a pay as you 
go basis without having to commit or register to a membership scheme.  The awarded supplier 
may offer a registration/loyalty scheme but a pay as you go option must be available alongside 
this.  Registration/loyalty schemes should not enable access to reduced rates.

Subcontractors
We understand that some Tenderers may have a requirement to work with third party suppliers 
to deliver the entire solution.  In these situations, the Tenderer making the tender submission 
will take responsibility for the work, delivery and performance of any sub-contractors used on 
the Contract.  By submitting a response, the awarded supplier agrees that they will be the only 
point of call for the Council for the delivery of this Contract and will manage and communicate 
to its sub-contractors the standard level of performance required, from the contract.  The 
awarded supplier will also monitor its sub-contractors to ensure they maintain the standards, 
working practices and principles set within this specification.  Failure to do so will be identified 
as a breach of contract.

2https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/87
2637/onstreet-chargepoint-residential-scheme-guidance.pdf 

Page 159

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/872637/onstreet-chargepoint-residential-scheme-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/872637/onstreet-chargepoint-residential-scheme-guidance.pdf


Glossary: 

SSDC South Somerset District Council
DCC Devon County Council
PSP Private Sector Partner
DELETTI Devon Low Carbon Energy & Transport Technology Innovator
Sleeved In a sleeved PPA, an intermediary utility company handles the transfer 

of money and energy to and from a renewable energy (RE) project on 
behalf of the buyer. The utility takes the energy directly from the RE 
project and “sleeves” it to the buyer at its point of intake, for a fee

ERDF European Regional Development Fund
ULEV Ultra-low emission vehicles
EV Electric Vehicles
CoP Community of Practise
EVCP Electric Vehicle Charging Points
WPD Western Power Distribution
SSEN Scottish and Southern Electricity Networks

Page 160



19th March 2019

Equality Impact Relevance Check 
Form 
The Public Sector Equality Duty requires us to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations with protected groups. This tool will identify the equalities 
relevance of a proposal, and establish whether a full Equality Impact Assessment will be required. 

What is the proposal?
Name of the proposal SSDC Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging Network  
Type of proposal (new or changed Strategy, 
policy, project, service or budget):

Project and budget for installation

Brief description of the proposal: A regional project working with Devon CC to install an 
EV network for SSDC 

Name of lead officer: James Divall 

You should consider whether the proposal has the potential to negatively impact on citizens or staff 
in the following ways:

 Access to or participation in a service,
 Levels of representation in our workforce, or
 Reducing quality of life (i.e. health, education, standard of living) 

A negative impact is any change that could be considered detrimental. If a negative impact is 
imposed on any citizens or staff with protected characteristics, the Council has a legal duty to 
undertake a full Equality Impact Assessment.

Could your proposal negatively impact citizens with protected characteristics? (This 
includes service users and the wider community)

NO

Could your proposal negatively impact staff with protected characteristics? (i.e. 
reduction in posts, changes to working hours or locations, changes in pay)

NO

Is a full Equality Impact Assessment required?                  NO

If Yes, Please provide a brief description of where there may be negative impacts, and for whom. Then 
complete a full Equality Impact assessment Form
N/a

If No, Please set out your justification for why not.
A full EIA isn’t required as the installation of EV chargers will not impact negatively on anyone from 
the Protected Characteristics.  Rather, the project will deliver positive impacts by enabling an 
increased take up of EV's. All new EV bays will be designed and built to national equality standards - 
green bays - with appropriate disabled access and signage. Installation can take place without 
compromising existing disabled infrastructure such as parking arrangements. 
Service Director / Manager sign-off and date Clare Pestell 10/06/2020
Equalities Officer sign-off and date Dave Crisfield 10 June 2020

Page 161



Addendum to the Statement of Community Involvement in respect of 
Consulting on Neighbourhood Plans

Executive Portfolio Holder: Val Keitch, Strategy and Housing
Strategic Director: Kirsty Larkins, Director, Strategy and Commissioning
Service Manager: Peter Paddon, Lead Specialist – Strategic Planning
Lead Officer: Jo Wilkins, Specialist – Strategic Planning
Contact Details: jo.wilkins@SouthSomerset.Gov.Uk or 01935 462588

Purpose of the Report

1 To approve an Addendum to the 2018 Revised Statement of Community Involvement 
(SCI) in order to comply with recently issued Government Guidance on consulting on 
Neighbourhood Plans during the current restrictions on movements as a result of Covid-
19. The current SCI can be found here:
https://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/media/1934/statement-of-community-involvement-
final-september-2018.pdf

Forward Plan 

2 This report appeared on the District Executive Forward Plan with an anticipated 
Committee date of July 2020. 

Public Interest

3 A Neighbourhood Plan represents the views of Parish Councils and other stakeholders on 
the preferred approach to future development in a settlement. It is the subject of 
Independent Examination by a qualified person; it then proceeds to a Referendum by the 
local electorate, which if more than 50% are in favour of a Plan, it is made’ (or adopted). 
Once the making of the Plan is confirmed by the District Council, it becomes part of the 
Statutory Development Plan with equal status to the Local Plan and will be used in the 
determination of planning applications. 

4 Regulations linked to the Coronavirus Act 2020 mean that no elections or referendums 
can take place until 6 May 2021. In the meantime, Planning Practice Guidance1 states that 
neighbourhood plans awaiting referendums can be given “significant weight” in decision-
making.

Recommendations

5 That the District Executive: 

a.   agrees to the proposed Addendum to the Council’s Statement of Community 
Involvement.

1 Coronavirus (COVID-19): planning update - GOV.UK

Page 162

Agenda Item 9

mailto:jo.wilkins@southsomerset.gov.uk
https://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/media/1934/statement-of-community-involvement-final-september-2018.pdf
https://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/media/1934/statement-of-community-involvement-final-september-2018.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/395/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-planning-update


b. delegates responsibility to the Lead Specialist - Strategic Planning in consultation with 
the Director of Strategy and Commissioning and the Portfolio Holder for Strategy and 
Housing to make further technical amendments to the Statement of Community 
Involvement to meet any requirements arising from changes in Government Legislation 
or Guidance.

Background

6 Neighbourhood planning aims to help local communities play a direct role in planning the 
areas in which they live and work. The plan can show how the community wants land to 
be used and developed in its area. The current SCI includes the measures the Council will 
take in consulting on a Submission Neighbourhood Plan (paragraph 2.31 of the SCI). 
These include:
 Publication on SSDC’s website www.southsomerset.gov.uk; 
 Request that the town/parish council display the notice with details of how to comment 

on the parish notice board/parish website / magazine and at local venues they consider 
will raise awareness of the proposal locally; 

 SSDC to send email / letter to adjoining parishes and ward members; 
 SSDC to send email / letter to relevant parish and ward member/s; 
 Advertise in the local press; and 
 Any ‘consultation body’ that is referred to in the consultation statement submitted by 

the town and parish council in accordance with Regulation 15 will be notified via email 
/ letter that the plan proposal has been received. 

The new temporary Addendum to the Statement of Community 
Involvement

7 The Government has recently issued Planning Practice Guidance related to the Covid-19 
pandemic, which encourages local authorities to review their SCI in response to 
restrictions on movements which may make it more difficult for some people to access 
hard copies of Submission Neighbourhood Plan documents. As a result, the following 
paragraphs are proposed to be appended to the current SCI approved in September 2018: 

8 The full Addendum is attached as an appendix to this report. 

8. Objective - To encourage the delivery

2.31a - Since the introduction of restrictions on movements as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
the inspection of hard copies of Submission Documents has not been possible. The Government’s 
revised Planning Practice Guidance makes clear that, even during the current restrictions, 
authorities should make any temporary amendments that are necessary to allow plan-making to 
progress; and that they continue to promote effective community engagement by means which 
are reasonably practicable. 

2.31b - In response, SSDC will continue to carry out the steps in paragraph 2.31 but will liaise 
with the Parish or Town Council to agree how best hard copies of the documents can be made 
available where normal options such as a library or local shop are not available due to the Covid-
19 pandemic. SSDC will also encourage Parish and Town Councils to use their local knowledge 
to disseminate information about the Submission Documentation and consultation (especially if 
they know someone who may not have access to the Internet) through informal networks or 
interest groups and social media, or using the telephone where this is feasible. Individuals will 
also be allowed to nominate an advocate to share views on their behalf. 

Page 163



  Financial Implications

9 Under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations, 15% of Community Infrastructure 
Levy receipts are generally passed directly to those parish and town councils (in England) 
where development has taken place. In England, communities that draw up a 
neighbourhood plan and secure the consent of local people in a referendum, will benefit 
from 25% of the levy revenues arising from the development that takes place in their area.

10 The Council is able to claim a grant of up to £20,000 from the Department for Housing 
Communities and Local Government towards the costs of progressing the Neighbourhood 
Plan once the date of a neighbourhood plan Referendum has been set.

11 There is no SSDC funding involved in the recommendations specifically referred to in this 
report.

Risk Matrix
 

Risk Profile before officer recommendations Risk Profile after officer recommendations

R, 
CP

CpP

F CY
Likelihood

CpP, 
CP

R, F CY
Likelihood

Key
Categories Colours (for further detail please refer to Risk 

management strategy)
R = Reputation
CpP = Corporate Plan Priorities
CP = Community Priorities
CY = Capacity
F = Financial

Red = High impact and high probability
Orange = Major impact and major probability
Yellow = Moderate impact and moderate 

probability
Green = Minor impact and minor probability
Blue = Insignificant impact and insignificant 

probability

Council Plan Implications 
 
12 The District Council’s values include supporting people and communities, enabling them 

to help themselves. The Council Plan states that it will focus on supporting communities 
to develop local, parish and neighbourhood plans.

Carbon Emissions and Climate Change Implications 

13 The SCI does not directly address carbon emissions or climate change and no such issues 
arise.

Im
pact

Im
pact

Page 164



Equality and Diversity Implications

14 No significant changes to a Service, Policy or Strategy are proposed, directly and, 
therefore, it is not necessary to undertake an Equality Impact Assessment.

Privacy Impact Assessment

15 It is not necessary to process personal data so, therefore, a Data Protection Impact 
Assessment (DPIA) is not needed. 

Background Papers

Appendix 1 – SCI Addendum July 2020

Page 165



Statement of Community Involvement

Addendum July 2020 
Neighbourhood Plan Regulation 16 Submission Consultation

The District Council’s current Statement of Community Involvement states at paragraph 2.31 
that:

2.31 Once the town /parish council has submitted its plan to the District Council in 
accordance with the Regulation 15, the District Council will publicise the plan for 
consultation for a period of not less than 6 weeks (Regulation 16). The following 
methods will be used: 

 Publication on SSDC’s website www.southsomerset.gov.uk; 
 Request that the town/parish council display the notice with details of how to 

comment on the parish notice board/parish website / magazine and at local venues 
they consider will raise awareness of the proposal locally; 

 SSDC to send email / letter to adjoining parishes and ward members; 
 SSDC to send email / letter to relevant parish and ward member/s; 
 Advertise in the local press; and 
 Any ‘consultation body’ that is referred to in the consultation statement submitted by 

the town and parish council in accordance with Regulation 15 will be notified via email 
/ letter that the plan proposal has been received. 

However, since the publication of revised Planning Practice Guidance1 by the Government, 
the following paragraphs should be appended to the Statement until further notice.

2.31a - Since the introduction of restrictions on movements as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic, the inspection of hard copies of Submission Documents has not been possible. 
The Government’s revised Planning Practice Guidance makes clear that, even during the 
current restrictions, authorities should make any temporary amendments that are necessary 
to allow plan-making to progress; and that they continue to promote effective community 
engagement by means which are reasonably practicable. 

2.31b - In response, SSDC will continue to carry out the steps in paragraph 2.31 but will 
liaise with the Parish or Town Council to agree how best hard copies of the documents can 
be made available where normal options such as a library or local shop are not available due 
to the Covid-19 pandemic. SSDC will also encourage Parish and Town Councils to use their 
local knowledge to disseminate information about the Submission Documentation and 
consultation (especially if they know someone who may not have access to the Internet) 
through informal networks or interest groups and social media, or using the telephone where 
this is feasible. Individuals will also be allowed to nominate an advocate to share views on 
their behalf. 

1 Plan-making - GOV.UK (13 May 2020)
Page 166

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making


District Executive Forward Plan 

Executive Portfolio Holder: Val Keitch, Leader, Housing and Strategy
Strategic Director: Kirsty Larkins, Strategy and Commissioning
Lead Officer: Angela Cox, Democratic Services Specialist
Contact Details: angela.cox@southsomerset.gov.uk or (01935) 462148

Purpose of the Report

1. This report informs Members of the current Executive Forward Plan, provides information 
on Portfolio Holder decisions and on consultation documents received by the Council that 
have been logged on the consultation database. 

Public Interest
2. The District Executive Forward Plan lists the reports due to be discussed and decisions 

due to be made by the Committee within the next few months.  The Consultation Database 
is a list of topics which the Council’s view is currently being consulted upon by various 
outside organisations.

Recommendations
3. That District Executive is asked to:

a) approve the updated Executive Forward Plan for publication as attached at Appendix 
A

b) note the contents of the Consultation Database as shown at Appendix B.

Executive Forward Plan 

4. The latest Forward Plan is attached at Appendix A.  The timings given for reports to come 
forward are indicative only, and occasionally may be re scheduled and new items added 
as new circumstances arise.

Consultation Database 

5. The Council has agreed a protocol for processing consultation documents received by the 
Council. This requires consultation documents received to be logged and the current 
consultation documents are attached at Appendix B. 

Background Papers

6. None.

Page 167

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A - SSDC Executive Forward Plan

Date of 
Decision Decision Portfolio Service Director Contact Committee(s)

16 July 
2020

16 July 
2020

The Future of Local 
Government in 
Somerset – Somerset 
County Council 
Business Case

Portfolio Holder - 
Strategy & Housing

Chief Executive Alex Parmley, 
Chief Executive

Special
District Executive

South Somerset 
District Council

August 
2020

Queen Camel 
Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum

Portfolio Holder - 
Protecting Core 
Services

Director Strategy and 
Commissioning

Anna-Maria Lenz, 
Specialist (Strategic 
Planning)

District Executive

August 
2020

August 
2020

Amendments to the 
Budget, Financial 
Strategy and Council 
Plan

Portfolio Holder - 
Economic 
Development including 
Commercial Strategy

Director Strategy and 
Commissioning

Jo Nacey, 
Section 151 Officer District Executive

South Somerset 
District Council

August 
2020

Capital & Revenue 
Budget monitoring 
reports for Quarter 1

Portfolio Holder - 
Finance, Legal & 
Democratic Services

Director Support Services Jo Nacey, 
Section 151 Officer District Executive

August 
2020

Capital & Revenue 
Budget out-turn reports 
2019/20

Portfolio Holder - 
Finance, Legal & 
Democratic Services

Director Support Services Jo Nacey, 
Section 151 Officer District Executive

August 
2020

Covid 19 Update 
Report - financial and 
service impact

Portfolio Holder - 
Finance, Legal & 
Democratic Services

Director Strategy and 
Commissioning

Jo Nacey, 
Section 151 Officer District Executive

P
age 168



Date of 
Decision Decision Portfolio Service Director Contact Committee(s)

August 
2020

August 
2020

SSDC Annual 
Achievements Report 
2019/20

Portfolio Holder - 
Strategy & Housing

Director Strategy and 
Commissioning

Cath Temple, 
Specialist (Performance) District Executive

South Somerset 
District Council

August 
2020

Planning appeal 
decisions – 
Government 
submission

Portfolio Holder - 
Protecting Core 
Services

Director Service Delivery Simon Fox, 
Lead Specialist 
(Development 
Management)

District Executive

August 
2020

Remote Meeting 
Protocol for SSDC

Portfolio Holder - 
Finance, Legal & 
Democratic Services

Director Strategy and 
Commissioning

Angela Cox, 
Specialist (Democratic 
Services)

District Executive

Septembe
r 2020

Transformation Update Portfolio Holder - 
Strategy & Housing

Director Strategy and 
Commissioning

Toffer Beattie, 
Lead Specialist (Digital 
Change)

District Executive

Septembe
r 2020

Investment Asset 
quarterly update report

Portfolio Holder - 
Economic 
Development including 
Commercial Strategy

Director Commercial 
Services & Income 
Generation

Robert Orrett, 
Commercial Property. 
Land & Development 
Manager

District Executive

Septembe
r 2020

Quarterly Corporate 
Performance Report

Portfolio Holder - 
Strategy & Housing

Director Strategy and 
Commissioning

Cath Temple, 
Specialist (Performance) District Executive

Septembe
r 2020

South Somerset 
Families Programme - 
quarterly update

Portfolio Holder - 
Health & Well-Being

Director Service Delivery Netta Meadows, 
Director (Service Delivery) District Executive

P
age 169



Date of 
Decision Decision Portfolio Service Director Contact Committee(s)

October 
2020

Covid 19 Update 
Report - financial and 
service impact

Portfolio Holder - 
Finance, Legal & 
Democratic Services

Director Strategy and 
Commissioning

Jo Nacey, 
Section 151 Officer District Executive

November 
2020

Capital & Revenue 
Budget monitoring 
reports for Quarter 2

Portfolio Holder - 
Finance, Legal & 
Democratic Services

Director Support Services Jo Nacey, 
Section 151 Officer District Executive

December 
2020

Recycle More - 
information on the 
extended recycling 
programme

Portfolio Holder - 
Environment

Director Commercial 
Services & Income 
Generation

Chris Cooper, 
Environment Services 
Manager

District Executive

December 
2020

Transformation Update Portfolio Holder - 
Strategy & Housing

Director Strategy and 
Commissioning

Toffer Beattie, 
Lead Specialist (Digital 
Change)

District Executive

December 
2020

Covid 19 Update 
Report - financial and 
service impact

Portfolio Holder - 
Finance, Legal & 
Democratic Services

Director Strategy and 
Commissioning

Jo Nacey, 
Section 151 Officer District Executive

December 
2020

Quarterly Corporate 
Performance Report

Portfolio Holder - 
Strategy & Housing

Director Strategy and 
Commissioning

Cath Temple, 
Specialist (Performance) District Executive

December 
2020

Investment Asset 
quarterly update report

Portfolio Holder - 
Economic 
Development including 
Commercial Strategy

Director Commercial 
Services & Income 
Generation

Robert Orrett, 
Commercial Property. 
Land & Development 
Manager

District Executive

P
age 170



Date of 
Decision Decision Portfolio Service Director Contact Committee(s)

December 
2020

South Somerset 
Families Programme - 
quarterly update

Portfolio Holder - 
Health & Well-Being

Director Service Delivery Netta Meadows, 
Director (Service Delivery) District Executive

TBC Leisure Contracts Portfolio Holder - 
Health & Well-Being

Director Service Delivery Lynda Pincombe, 
Specialist - Strategic 
Planning

District Executive

TBC Dualling of A303 from 
Sparkford to Ilchester

Portfolio Holder - 
Protecting Core 
Services

Director Strategy and 
Commissioning

Lynda Pincombe, 
Specialist - Strategic 
Planning

District Executive

TBC Allowenshay mains 
water connection

Portfolio Holder - 
Health & Well-Being

Director Support Services Tim Cook, 
Locality Team Manager District Executive

P
age 171



APPENDIX B - Current Consultations – July 2020

Purpose of Document Portfolio Director Response to 
be agreed by Contact Deadline for 

response

Public Works Loan Board: Future lending terms 
consultation

The government is seeking views from local authorities and 
other stakeholders on the lending terms of the Public Works 
Loan Board. 
Local authorities invest billions of pounds of capital every year 
in their communities. The government supports this activity in 
part by offering low cost loans through the Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB). However, in recent years a minority of councils 
have used this cheap finance to buy very significant amounts 
of commercial property for rental income, which reduces the 
availability of PWLB finance for core local authority activities.
To address this the government is consulting on revising the 
terms of PWLB lending to ensure that local authorities continue 
to invest in housing, infrastructure, and public services. To 
further enable high-quality investment by local authorities, the 
government is cutting the interest rates for investment in social 
housing by one percentage point and making available an 
extra £1.15 billion of discounted loans for local infrastructure 
projects.
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-works-
loan-board-future-lending-terms-
consultation?utm_source=d1baf2eb-ba1c-477c-87c1-
7cb912b05ddb&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-
notifications&utm_content=daily

Finance and 
Legal Services

Director – 
Support Services

Officers in 
consultation 
with Portfolio 
Holder

Jo Nacey,
Section 151 
Officer

The deadline 
has been 
extended 
from 04 June 
to 31 July

Code of conduct consultation 2020

The Local Government Association (LGA) is providing this 
Model Member Code of Conduct as part of its work on 

Finance and 
Legal Services

Director – 
Strategy and 
Commissioning

Standards 
Committee

Richard 
Ward, 
Monitoring 
Officer

17 August 
2020

P
age 172

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-works-loan-board-future-lending-terms-consultation?utm_source=d1baf2eb-ba1c-477c-87c1-7cb912b05ddb&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications&utm_content=daily
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-works-loan-board-future-lending-terms-consultation?utm_source=d1baf2eb-ba1c-477c-87c1-7cb912b05ddb&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications&utm_content=daily
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-works-loan-board-future-lending-terms-consultation?utm_source=d1baf2eb-ba1c-477c-87c1-7cb912b05ddb&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications&utm_content=daily
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-works-loan-board-future-lending-terms-consultation?utm_source=d1baf2eb-ba1c-477c-87c1-7cb912b05ddb&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications&utm_content=daily
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-works-loan-board-future-lending-terms-consultation?utm_source=d1baf2eb-ba1c-477c-87c1-7cb912b05ddb&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications&utm_content=daily


Purpose of Document Portfolio Director Response to 
be agreed by Contact Deadline for 

response

supporting the sector to continue to aspire to high standards of 
leadership and performance.
The LGA has committed to reviewing the current model 
member code of conduct, as recommended by the Committee 
on Standards in Public Life’s report into Local Government 
Ethical Standards. The LGA held an event on Civility in 
Public Life with a range of stakeholders at the end of last year 
and three consultation workshops at the beginning of this year. 
Our consultants have also examined examples of good 
practice, both in local government and other professions. The 
LGA consultation draft model member code of conduct is 
the result of this initial work. It is the intention to create 
additional guidance, working examples and explanatory text. 
We very much welcome comment on the consultation draft. 
We would particularly like to know if it stands up to the new 
ways of working that have been introduced and gives enough 
of a steer on social media and online activity.

https://www.local.gov.uk/code-conduct-consultation-2020

P
age 173

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report
https://www.local.gov.uk/civility-public-life-16-december-2019
https://www.local.gov.uk/civility-public-life-16-december-2019
https://www.local.gov.uk/local-government-association-model-member-code-conduct
https://www.local.gov.uk/code-conduct-consultation-2020


Date of Next Meeting 

Members are asked to note that a Special meeting of the District Executive will take place on 
Thursday, 16th July 2020 as a virtual meeting via Zoom meeting software commencing at 9.30 
a.m.  This will be to discuss the SSDC response to the Somerset County Council Business Case 
for their proposed future of Local Government in Somerset. 

The next scheduled meeting of the District Executive will take place on Thursday, 6th August 
2020 as a virtual meeting via Zoom meeting software commencing at 9.30 a.m. 

Page 174

Agenda Item 11


	Agenda
	6 SSDC Covid-19 Recovery Strategy
	6 SSDC COVID 19 SUMMARY DOC Appx 1 FINAL
	6 SSDC COVID 19 Recovery Strategy DOC FINAL
	6 SSDC COVID-19 Equality impact relevance check form- Recovery strategy

	7 SSDC Priority Project - Accelerating Housing Delivery Report
	7 SSDC Accelerating Housing Delivery Final Report Client v4 062420

	8 Electric Vehicle (EV) Charger Network project
	8 Electric Vehicle Charger Network Business Plan FINAL
	8 Electric Vehicle Equality impact relevance check form Jul20

	9 Addendum to the Statement of Community Involvement in respect of Consulting on Neighbourhood Plans
	9 2020 SCI Update Neighbourhood Planning addendum Revised

	10 District Executive Forward Plan
	10 Forward Plan Appendix A
	10 Forward Plan Appendix B Current Consultations

	11 Date of Next Meeting

